
 
 

 
TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, MAINE 

 
Board of Selectmen Agenda 

September 14, 2023, @ 5:00 PM  
VILLAGE FIRE STATION 

32 North Street 
 

 
This is an in-person meeting, but the public may join in Zoom webinar format 

Join by computer or mobile device and click on: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84060389699  

or go to ZOOM and enter the webinar ID: 840 6038 9699 
By phone 1(929) 205 6099 US 

 

1. Call to Order. 

2. 5:00 PM - Executive Session per MRSA 1, §405-6E to consult with the Town 
attorney regarding contemplated litigation.   

3. Estimated 6:00 PM - Approve August 24, 2023, selectmen meeting minutes. 

4. Public Forum (This is an opportunity for anyone who wants to address the Board of 
Selectmen with any issue that is not on the agenda.) 

5. Authorize the warrant and easement for the November ballot. 
 

6. Accept a $500,000.00 anonymous donation to the Town Hall construction project.  
 

7. Certification of the referendum questions for the November town meeting warrant. 
 

8. Set a public hearing for October 12, 2023, for the November election.  

9. Consideration of RSU 21 School Board applications. 

10. Authorization to contract with website vendor. 
 
11. Award bid for solid waste and recycling collection contract. 

 
12. Award bid for Pier Road construction. 

 

   

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84060389699
https://zoom.us/join


13. Award Pier Road Construction Administration Support contract to Woodard & 
Curran.  

 
14. Authorization of Ocean Ave Preliminary Design contact. 

15. Update on the communication towers (from Police and Fire Departments) 
 

16. Authorization of Public Safety Study contract.  

17. Consider Right of Way Agreement with Tax Map 34, Block 1, Lot 13, owned by 
Margaret and Clifton Mix. 
 

18. Presentation of digital tablet options for the BOS members. 

19. Accept a $500.00 donation from Jean Perkins to the general nurses’ account.   

20. Other Business.   

21. Approve the September 14, 2023, Treasurer’s Warrant. 

22. Adjournment.  



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



Town of Kennebunkport 
Board of Selectmen Meeting 

August 24, 2023 
6:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Selectmen attending:  Mike Weston, Sheila Matthews-Bull, Allen Daggett, Jon Dykstra, 
Marybeth Gilbert. 

1. Call to Order.

Chairman Weston called the meeting to order at 6:02 PM.

2. Approve the August 10, 2023, selectmen meeting minutes.

Motion by Selectman Matthews-Bull, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to approve the
August 10, 2023, Selectmen meeting minutes. Chairman Weston requested that the
spelling of Mr. Lamb’s first name be corrected from Alan to Allyn. Voted: 5-0. Motion
passed.

3. Public Forum (This is an opportunity for anyone who wants to address the Board
of Selectmen with any issue that is not on the agenda.)

Nina Perlmutter had two concerns:

• She said there are too many landscaping vehicles parking on streets, blocking traffic
and resulting in dangerous & unsafe traffic conditions.

• She claimed that an increased amount of watercraft on the Kennebunk River
upstream of the Dock Square bridge presents a safety concern because many of
the kayakers & paddle boarders do not wear life jackets and because of speeding
power boats. She also claimed that the wake caused by power boats is causing
rapid erosion of the riverbank.

She asked that the Town do something more to address both concerns. Chairman 
Weston thanked her for her comments. 

Town Clerk Tracey O’Roak reminded everyone of two upcoming deadlines: 

• Nominations for the Boston Post Cane Award are due by Friday, September 1st. The
award goes each year to the oldest Town resident who has lived here full-time for at

Item 3



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 2 of 8 

least 20 years. Two nominations have been received so far. The oldest candidate is 
98 years old. 

• Those interested in filling the vacant RSU 21 Director’s seat should submit their
application at Town Hall by 4:30 pm on September 1st. The Board of Selectmen will
choose one of the applicants to fill the seat in the Selectman’s meeting on
September 14th. Applications are available on the Town website, or paper copies are
available at the Town Hall.

4. Consider the renewal of a liquor license submitted by Musette LLC, located at 2
Pier Rd.

Chairman Weston asked if the Board had received answers to the missing questions.
They responded yes and that they were satisfied with those answers.

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Matthews-Bull, to approve the
renewal of a liquor license submitted by Musette LLC, located at 2 Pier Rd. Voted: 5-0.
Motion passed.

5. Consideration of new Town Hall construction on Village Parcel.

Chairman Weston reviewed the presentation. He said concerns came up at the last
Select Board meeting that the Town was not doing enough to communicate with the
public about the process. The first slide of the presentation showed the public meetings
and processes that have taken place from March 2019 up to the present. He also
reviewed the Visioning Process that took place in 2019 & 2020.

The current Town Hall is 3,723 square feet. The new Town Hall is proposed to be 12,661
square feet. Meeting space will be required in the new Town Hall because the existing
meeting space in the North Street Fire Station is planned to be converted to quarters
for per diem firemen.

The projected cost for the new Town Hall is approximately $8.8 million. This amount
includes $1.1 million for contingency costs. Cost reduction options - including the sale
of 6 Elm Street, use of reserves, fundraising, and additional property sales - bring down
the amount that would need to be bonded to $5.8 million. For a 20-year bond, the
increase to the mil rate for an $8.8 million bond would be $0.17; for a $7.0 million bond
would be $0.14; and for a $5.8 million bond would be $0.11. Chairman Weston also
mentioned debt retirements that will occur in FY26 – FY29, totaling $481,837.83.

Town Manager Laurie Smith described the Capital Improvement Plan. She showed the
plan that was developed in January 2023. The plan attempted to anticipate possible
future expenditures so that we could prioritize and settle on our needs. The
improvements are funded from a variety of sources. She described the projects that are
in line for capital improvements from now through FY28. She stressed that this is a plan,
not a budget, and it’s a living document that changes each year as required. We have
a number of CIP funding sources, including trust funds, grants, bonds, reserves, and



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 3 of 8 

annual budgets. The bonds totaling $16.9 million include, in addition to the Town Hall, 
other potential bond projects such as Fire Department renovations, resiliency at the 
head of the harbor and Ocean Avenue, and wastewater pump stations. 

Currently, utility costs at 6 Elm Street are $17,050 annually. The cost for the new Town 
Hall – because it is much larger – is estimated to be $36,147. We are also looking into 
solar panels for the roof or the area surrounding the building to determine the cost and 
return on investment of this option. 

The proposed public information timeframe before the November election is: 

Sept 14 - Select Board authorizes ballot questions 
Sept 28 - Public hearing & presentation on ballot questions 
Oct 5 and/or Oct 10 - Open house at 6 Elm Street to tour current Town Hall 
Oct 12 - Public hearing & presentation on ballot questions 
Nov 7 - Vote on town ballot questions 

Chairman Weston informed everyone that if the referendum is passed by the voters in 
November, the proposed new Town Hall construction timeframe is: 

Oct. 23-May 24 – permitting and building design 
Jun. 24-Jul 24 – bidding the project (design/bid/build/procurement) 
Aug. 24-Dec 25 – project construction 

Selectman Gilbert described the cost reduction options for the new Town Hall 
construction. They include the sale of the 6 Elm St. property ($1 million), use of reserves 
($800,000), fundraising (e.g., memory wall in the new facility, $500,000), and additional 
property sales ($700,000). A committee will be formed to implement these options, 
assuming the new Town Hall project is approved by the voters. Volunteers for this 
committee should contact Selectmen Gilbert. 

Kevin McDonald stated he feels there should be more communication about placing this 
project on the November ballot. 

Melinda Anderson inquired via Zoom about faux windows on the new Town Hall building 
plan. 

6. Consideration of Cape Porpoise Pier funding gap and updated cost estimate.

Barney Baker of BEI Consultants, the Engineer for the Cape Porpoise Pier Project,
provided a brief overview of the project, talked about the funding shortfall; explained
how they’re addressing the shortfall, and discussed the next steps.

Mr. Baker explained that the project was started in 2018. Realizing that it was a
significant cost for the Town, Mike Claus obtained an EDA grant for the project, and a
feasibility study was done. They scaled up the costs of the recently completed
Government Wharf project for this project. But the arrival of COVID brought with it a



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 4 of 8 

marked increase in construction materials and labor costs. The project had to go 
through an extensive Army Corps of Engineers and Maine DEP review. The east end 
of the pier was replaced in the early 1990s and is in pretty good condition. The bait shed 
was built in the 1970s. It and the pier directly in front of it are in poor condition, and the 
substructure is failing, necessitating emergency repairs in 2020. The floats on the west 
side and the utilities are also substandard and in need of replacement. 

The entire pier is in a flood zone, so all new construction must consider flooding and 
requires special considerations. Improvements will be made in structural integrity, flood 
resiliency, ADA compliance, and operational improvements. The design for the pier and 
shed includes moving the Harbormaster’s office to a second floor above the flood zone 
and breakaway walls on the first floor of the shed in case of extreme flooding. 

The projected increase between the initial ($2.4 million) and updated ($4.5 million) cost 
estimates is not due to a change in the project design but rather to several factors: 
increased cost of materials (e.g., the cost of pilings has doubled), increased cost of 
labor, and wide variation in the bids obtained from the few contractors who do this type 
of construction. To reduce the overall cost of the project, a base construction plan was 
developed, along with adding alternate items that could be included in later project(s): 
south gangway and floats, solar panels for the bait shed roof, and a new hoist. The cost 
estimate for the project without the additional items is $4.1 million. Current available 
funding is $3.4 million. In order to complete the project, we face a funding gap of 
$706,752. 

Laurie Smith stated that if the additional funding is approved, we would like to put the 
project out to bid with a deadline of the last week of February 2024 so that the budget 
can be discussed in March. Mr. Baker added that this time frame would be good to get 
the project on the contractor’s schedule for the following season (November 2024) and 
to allow the contractor to obtain materials for the construction. 

Selectman Gilbert inquired about the impact on the commercial fishermen if the add 
alternate items were delayed. Mr. Baker responded that these are additional to the 
configuration of the current facility. She also inquired if there is ongoing damage to the 
pier now that might require supplemental funding to remediate if the project is pushed 
back a year. Laurie Smith responded that minor damage (e.g., sinkholes in the parking 
lot broken pilings) occurs quite regularly. Mr. Baker added that significant damage could 
occur if there were a major storm – but that cannot be predicted. Aside from the storm 
threat, there is no imminent danger to the pier. 

Melinda Anderson, via Zoom, asked if the sewer pump out station was still included in 
the project plan. Selectman Dykstra responded there is no sewer pump out station in 
the plan. 



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 5 of 8 

7. Consideration of an easement agreement between the Town of Kennebunkport
and Green Marine Corporation.

Laurie Smith explained the sale of the Mooney’s property to the Town for the Langsford
Rd. Boat Ramp was completed in July. When the Town surveyed the property, it was
discovered that the marine railway at the side of Green Marine was actually part of the
property the Town had purchased. Town staff research discovered no additional deeds
but evidence of Green Marine installing, operating, and maintaining the rails for
decades. Discussions with John Green and his attorneys resulted in an agreement that
the best option for both parties is to request authorization that the Town grant an
easement to John Green, allowing him to continue to operate and maintain the railway
as he has done for decades, and securing the Town’s rights to the property.

Selectman Dykstra praised John Green’s running of the boat ramp for several decades
as a service to the harbor and voiced his full support for granting the easement. The
other Selectmen agreed. John Green said that though he could make a case for adverse
possession, he didn’t want to go that route. He supports the granting of an easement
as well.

8. Consideration of gift of Cape Porpoise Fire Station to the Town of
Kennebunkport.

Fire Chief Everett recalled that the Atlantic Volunteer Engine Company (AVEC)
approached him in July with the proposal that they sell the Cape Porpoise Fire Station
to the Town for the nominal fee of $1. To this point, the Town has been leasing the
station from AVEC, paying them $22,000 per year for its use. If the Town purchases the
station, we will no longer have this leasing cost. Currently, Kennebunkport Emergency
Medical Services (KEMS) pays for the majority of the utilities at the station, and that
arrangement is expected to continue. AVEC has spent considerable effort and money
maintaining and upgrading the facility. While the Town would take on the maintenance
costs going forward, no longer leasing the building would result in a net decrease in
Town expenditure for the station. Joe Frank, President of AVEC, added that the sale of
the station has been considered for a while but that the group came to the unanimous
decision that it was appropriate to sell the facility to the Town.

9. Potential November Ballot Questions.

Town Clerk Tracey O’Roak informed the Board that the draft of the warrant before them
of the November ballot has all the items that have been discussed in previous Board of
Selectmen meetings and tonight. Maine Title 30A of State statute requires that the
Selectmen must sign the warrant at least 45 days prior to an election. This means that
it must be signed at the next meeting on September 14th. She is seeking guidance as
to which items the Selectmen want included. Then, she will finalize the draft, send it for
legal review, and have it ready for the next meeting.



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 6 of 8 

1) Comprehensive Plan updates.

Motion by Selectman Dykstra, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to accept
Question 1, to see if the Town will vote to authorize the approval of the
Kennebunkport 2030 Comprehensive Plan. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

2) Street Opening Permit updates.

Motion by Selectman Dykstra, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to accept
Question 2, to see if the Town will vote to authorize the amendment to the street
opening ordinance. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

3) Town Hall bond for new construction.

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept
Question 3, to see if the Town will vote to authorize a twenty-year bond in an
amount not to exceed $8 million for the construction of a new Town Hall. Voted:
5-0. Motion passed.

4) Request for additional funding for Cape Porpoise Pier.

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept
Question 4, to see if the Town will vote to authorize the Board of Selectmen or its
agent to transfer an amount not to exceed $710,000 from the Town’s capital
reserve fund balance for the Cape Porpoise Pier project. Voted: 5-0.
Motion passed.

5) Authorize the Selectboard to enter into an easement agreement with Green
Marine.

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept
Question 5, to see if the Town will vote to authorize an easement agreement with
Green Marine as discussed in this meeting and to be approved by the Selectmen
in the September 14th meeting. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

6) Acceptance of ownership of Cape Porpoise Fire Station

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept
Question 6, to see if the Town will vote to authorize the acceptance of the Cape
Porpoise Fire Station. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

10. Cape Porpoise Pier Parking Ordinance Amendment.

Laurie Smith explained that earlier this year the Board changed the traffic ordinance
and pier parking rules to allow only one permit per pier member. Since that time,
Harbormaster Frank Orr has received feedback from the pier members on the change.
The pier committee members say it’s a problem to have only one parking place available



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 7 of 8 

for boats with two or more crew members. They propose that two permits be issued to 
boats with two or more crew. They can stack their parking at the top of the hill near the 
flagpole in two rows, with vehicles for the same boat parking each other. Single crew 
boats would park their single vehicle near the parking attendant hut and the bait shed. 
This arrangement would provide more overall parking without impeding others. 

The Pier Committee requested three permits in certain cases, and there was some 
discussion between Frank Orr and the Board about that. Frank feels that the request for 
two permits for boats with crew is appropriate. The Board agreed that they would allow 
two season-long permits per boat and leave it to Frank’s discretion to allow a short-term 
pass for a third vehicle in certain circumstances. 

Melinda Anderson asked how many parking spaces are currently available in the lot and 
said she is concerned about equitable allocation of parking spaces between fishermen 
and the general public. Chairman Weston said they didn’t have the number of parking 
spaces at hand but would get that figure for the next Selectmen’s meeting. 

Though a vote was not needed at this time, Laurie Smith confirmed that the Board 
agreed to move forward with a public hearing on the topic at a later date. 

11. Board of Selectmen liaison appointments to committees.

Selectman Gilbert volunteered to be the Select Board liaison to the Growth Planning
Committee and the Southern Maine Planning and Development Commission.

Motion by Selectman Dykstra, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to accept the slate of
committee appointments as amended. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

12. Consider two appointments for the Zoning Board of Appeals with a term expiring
in June of 2026 from Kate Bauer-Burke and Allan Evelyn.

Motion by Selectman Daggett, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept two
appointments for the Zoning Board of Appeals with a term expiring in June of 2026 from
Kate Bauer-Burke and Allan Evelyn. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

13. Consider appointing Mark Messer for an alternate position on the Board of
Assessment Review with a term expiring in June 2026.

Motion by Selectman Matthews-Bull, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to accept Mark
Messer for an alternate position on the Board of Assessment Review with a term
expiring in June 2026. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

14. Accept donations to the general nurses’ account:
a. $50.00 donation from an anonymous donor
b. $50.00 donation from the Health Council in honor of Marty Forbes
c. $50.00 donation from an anonymous donor



August 24, 2023, BOS Meeting Minutes 

Page 8 of 8 

Motion by Selectman Matthews-Bull, seconded by Selectman Dykstra, to accept a 
$50.00 donation from an anonymous donor, $50.00 donation from the Health Council 
in honor of Marty Forbes, and $50.00 donation from an anonymous donor. Voted: 5-0. 
Motion passed. 

15. Other Business.

None of the Selectmen had other business. Laurie Smith reminded all that there are still
vacancies on various Town committees – two on the Administrative Code Committee,
one alternate on the Board of Assessment Review, one on the Government Wharf
Committee, one on the Kennebunk River Committee, one seat, and two alternates on
the Growth Planning Committee, and three on the Recreation Committee. Anyone
interested in serving on these Committees should contact Town Clerk Tracey O’Roak
or fill out a volunteer application form, which can be found under the Forms link at the
bottom of the main Town web page.

Laurie Smith thanked the Support Services Department for their efforts to update the
current website as they prepare for a new website. She noted that there is now a
Projects button on the main web page at https://www.kennebunkportme.gov that takes
you to a page with information about ongoing Town projects.

16. Approve the August 24, 2023, Treasurer’s Warrant.

Motion by Selectman Matthews-Bull, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to approve the
August 24, 2023, Treasurer’s Warrant. Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

17. Adjournment.

Motion by Selectman Matthews-Bull, seconded by Selectman Daggett, to adjourn.
Voted: 5-0. Motion passed.

Meeting adjourned at 8:00 PM.

Submitted by,  
Dave Powell, 
Technology Specialist 

https://www.kennebunkportme.gov/


 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



KENNEBUNKPORT TOWN CLERK 

To: Laurie Smith, Town Manager 
Board of Selectmen 

Fr: Tracey O’Roak, Town Clerk 

Re: Warrant and Certification of Ordinance for November Ballot 

Dt: September 6, 2023 

Attached for your approval, please find the updated warrant for the November special 
town meeting. It has been reviewed and approved by the town attorney. 

Also attached are the certifications of the Comprehensive Plan update and the Street 
Opening Ordinance. 

Item 5



1 
 

TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT 
 

WARRANT 
SPECIAL TOWN MEETING 

NOVEMBER 7, 2023 
 
 
 
State of Maine          County of York, SS 
 
To: Rebecca Nolette, Constable of the Town of Kennebunkport, in the County of York, State of 
Maine. 
 
GREETINGS: 
 
You are hereby required in the name of the State of Maine to notify and warn the voters of the 
Town of Kennebunkport in said County of the Special Town Meeting described in this warrant.  
 
To the voters of Kennebunkport: You are hereby notified that a Special Town Meeting of this 
municipality will be held at the Village Fire Station, 32 North Street on Tuesday, November 7, 
2023, at 8:00 a.m. for the purpose of acting on Articles numbered 1 and 1a as set out below.  The 
polls for voting on Article 1 shall be opened immediately after the election of the Moderator at 
8:00 a.m. on November 7, 2023, and shall close at 8:00 p.m.  While the polls are open, the Registrar 
of Voters will hold office hours to accept the registration of any person eligible to vote, to accept 
new enrollments, and to make any necessary corrections or changes to any names or addresses on 
the voting list. 
 
ARTICLE 1a.  To choose a Moderator to preside at said meeting. 
 
ARTICLE 1.  To vote on the following referendum questions:  
 
 
 

QUESTION 1 
ACCEPTANCE OF THE KENNEBUNKPORT 2030 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

 
Shall the “2023 Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan for the Town of Kennebunkport, Maine 
regarding Chapter 7, Natural Resources and Appendix A, Goals, Policies & Strategies” as 
submitted by the Town of Kennebunkport’s Growth Planning Committee be adopted? (A true 
copy of which is on file in the Town Clerk’s Office and is incorporated by reference.) 

[Note of Explanation: This amendment would amend Chapter 7 and Appendix A regarding the 
Natural Resources Chapter and the Goals, Policies, and Strategies Appendix of the 
Comprehensive Plan adopted by the Town in 1996 and amended in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 
2010, 2011 & 2022.] 

  



2 
 

QUESTION 2 
AMENDMENT TO THE STREET OPENING ORDINANCE 

 
Shall an ordinance entitled “November 7, 2023, Amendment to the Street Opening Ordinance” be 
enacted? (A true copy of which is on file in the Town Clerk’s Office and is incorporated by 
reference.) 
 
[Note of Explanation: This is an amendment to Chapter 147, article II – street openings.  The 
amendments clarify the requirements for repairs to pavement after opening and increase the dollar 
value of the bond to more accurately reflect current costs. The approval for street openings is being 
transferred from the Board of Selectmen to the Public Works Director, unless the street is under a 
5-year moratorium, and then the authority for an opening falls within the scope of the Board of 
Selectmen.] 
 

QUESTION 3 
CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW TOWN HALL 

 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Board of Selectmen to: 
 

(i) to construct and equip a new Town Hall at North Street (Map 012-005-021) (the 
“Project”) with a Project cost not to exceed $8,800,000;   

(ii) to sell the following Town-owned properties at such prices and on such terms as 
the Board of Selectmen deem to be in the best interest of the Town and expend 
the net sale proceeds on the Project: 
a) the current Town Hall property at 6 Elm Street (Map 011-008-001); and 
b) 49 Beachwood Avenue (Map 013-003-013); 

(iii) to expend up to $800,000 from the Town Capital Reserve Fund for the Project; 
and 

(iv) to issue general obligation bonds or notes in the name of the Town of 
Kennebunkport in a principal amount not to exceed $8,000,000 (for a term not to 
exceed approximately 20 years), which bonds or notes may be made callable, to 
fund the balance of Project costs that are not covered by the sale of the above-
listed properties, the Capital Reserve funds, and fundraising for the Project. 

 
[Note of Explanation: The question authorizes the Board of Selectmen to issue bonds up to 
$8,000,000 for construction of a new Town Hall.  It also authorizes the use of $800,000 in reserve 
funds and the authority to sell three properties to reduce the bond. The goal is to reduce the need 
to bond to $6,300,000 by fundraising and the sale of property.   For example: 
 

Town Hall Construction Cost  $   8,800,000  
Sale of 6 Elm Street  $  (1,000,000) 
Sale of 49 Beachwood  $   (  200,000) 
Use of Reserves  $   (  800,000) 
Fundraising  $    ( 500,000) 
Bonds needed for project  $    6,300,000  

 
Selectmen recommend adoption of this article– Voted 4-1. 

Budget Board recommends adoption of this article – Voted 8-2. 



3 
 

QUESTION 4 
SALE OF SCHOOL STREET PROPERTY 

 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Board of Selectmen to sell the Town-owned 
property on School Street (8 acre parcel adjacent to Parson Field) (Map 009-009-050) at such 
price and on such terms as the Board of Selectmen deem to be in the best interest of the Town 
and expend the net sale proceeds to further reduce the amount of bonds or notes issued for the 
Project described in Question 3.  If Question 3 is not approved, the Town would not sell the 
property.  

Selectmen recommend adoption of this article– Voted 4-1. 
Budget Board recommends adoption of this article – Voted 8-2. 

 
 

QUESTION 5 
CAPE PORPOISE PIER FUNDING 

 
To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Board of Selectmen, or its agent, to transfer an amount 
not to exceed $710,000 from the Town’s capital reserve fund balance account to the Pier Capital 
Reserve Account for the purpose of repair and reconstruction of the Cape Porpoise Pier. 
 
[Note of Explanation: This transfer will cover a budget gap in the Cape Porpoise Pier project due 
to increased material and labor costs. This transfer will not increase property taxes.] 
 

Selectmen recommend adoption of this article– Voted 5-0. 
Budget Board recommends adoption of this article – Voted 10-0. 

 
 

QUESTION 6 
EASEMENT AGREEMENT WITH GREEN MARINE CORPORATION 

 
Shall the Town vote to authorize the Select Board to enter into an Easement Agreement with 
Green Marine Corporation regarding the Corporation’s use of a marine railway, and related 
anchor and attached towline used in connection therewith, owned by Green Marine Corporation 
and located on property owned by the Town situated on Langsford Road (Tax Map 29, Lot 1-3) 
and described in a Deed from Harold Otis Mooney and Louise Jane Mooney to the Town dated 
July 18, 2023, and recorded in the York County Registry of Deeds in Book 19278, Page 785, on 
such terms and conditions as shall be in the best interest of the Town? (A true copy of the 
Easement Agreement is on file in the Town Clerk’s Office and is incorporated by reference.) 
 
[Note of Explanation: A recent land survey of the new boat launch on Langsford Road has   
indicated Town ownership of the land where the marine railway is located. Green Marine 
Corporation has used the marine railway in the regular course of business. This easement will 
allow Green Marine Corporation to continue to use the marine railway.] 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

QUESTION 7 
ACCEPTANCE OF CAPE PORPOISE FIRE STATION 

 
Shall the Town vote to authorize the Select Board to accept ownership of the Cape Porpoise Fire 
Station for $1.00? 
 
[Note of Explanation: The Cape Porpoise Fire station currently belongs to the Atlantic Engine Fire 
Company.  The Town pays a lease amount to each fire company annually to store Town equipment 
in the stations.  The Atlantic Fire Company has come forward and asked the Town if they would 
accept the Cape Porpoise station for $1.00.  The Town would then be responsible for utilities and 
maintenance but would no longer need a lease for the building.] 
 
 
HEREOF FAIL NOT TO MAKE DUE SERVICE of this Warrant and a return of your doing 
thereon, at a time and place of said meeting. 
 
 
GIVEN UNDER OUR HANDS this 14th day of September 2023, Kennebunkport, Maine. 
 
 
 
_________________________ ____________________________ 
      D. Michael Weston               Allen A. Daggett  
 
 
 
__________________________ ____________________________ 
    Sheila W. Matthews-Bull                     Jon Dykstra 
 
  
 
    ____________________________ 
      Marybeth Gilbert 
 

 
A majority of the Selectmen of the Town of Kennebunkport, Maine 

 
 
 
A true attested copy of the warrant attest: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Tracey O’Roak, Town Clerk 
 
 



1 
 

EASEMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 This Easement Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of the _______ day of 
__________________, 2023, by and between GREEN MARINE CORPORATION, a Maine 
corporation with a place of business in Kennebunkport, York County, Maine (“Green”) and the 
INHABITANTS OF THE TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, a municipal corporation located in 
the Town of Kennebunkport, York County, Maine (the “Town”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

 WHEREAS, the Town owns certain property situated on Langsford Road in the Town of 
Kennebunkport, York County, Maine described in a Deed to the Town from Harold Otis Mooney 
and Louise Jane Mooney dated July 18, 2023 and recorded in the York County Registry of 
Deeds in Book 19278, Page 785 (the “Town Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Green owns certain property adjacent to the Town Property described in a 
Deed to Green dated March 28, 1997 and recorded in the York County Registry of Deeds in 
Book 8216, Page 271 (the “Green Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, at the time of the acquisition of the Town Property, it was determined that a 
facility owned and used by Green consisting of steel marine rails and related boat rack thereon 
(collectively referred to herein as the “Marine Railway”) was located almost entirely on the 
Town Property; and 
 

WHEREAS, the parties have agreed to certain reciprocal rights and easements, as 
described herein, for the benefit of the Town Property and the Green Property, subject to the 
terms and conditions set forth herein. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency 
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

 
1) Grant of Easement Over Town Property. The Town hereby grants to Green an 

exclusive easement (the “Town Property Easement”) over that portion of the Town Property as 
reasonably necessary for the purposes of continuing to use the Marine Railway, as well as an 
existing towline staked on the Town Property, which towline is attached to an anchor and used in 
connection with the Marine Railway (collectively, the “Improvements”), being generally shown 
on the sketch attached hereto as Exhibit A, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. Green acknowledges that use of the Improvements shall be at Green’s sole risk and 
without representations or warranties from the Town, express or implied. Green, for itself and its 
owners, employees, agents, successors and assigns, hereby releases and forever discharges the 
Town from any and all rights, claims and demands at law or in equity, whether past, present or 
future, and whether known or unknown at the time of this Agreement, arising out of or relating 
to the use of the Town Property and the Improvements or the exercise of any rights hereunder. 
 

2) Terms and Conditions. Green’s rights under the Town Property Easement shall be 
subject to all matters of record and the following terms and conditions: 



2 
 

 
a. Green shall have the right to use, maintain and repair the Improvements for the 
hauling, launching, maintenance, repair and storage of boats, in the same manner as 
the Improvements are currently being used, and for no other purposes. The 
Improvements shall remain in their present location and condition, subject to normal 
wear and tear, and shall not be expanded or altered in any material way.  

 
b. Green shall be responsible for all maintenance and repair of the Improvements, at 
its sole cost and expense, and all work shall be performed in a safe, workmanlike 
manner. 

 
c. In no event shall Green exercise its rights hereunder in a manner that may disturb 
the use and quiet enjoyment of the Town Property by the Town or the public for its 
purposes, which may include, without limitation, use as a public boat launch. The 
Town reserves the right to enter, inspect, maintain, use, and enjoy the Town Property 
for all purposes as are not inconsistent with, and shall not materially interfere with, 
the use thereof by Green for the purposes set forth herein.  

 
d. Green’s use and maintenance of the Improvements shall at all times be in full 
compliance with all applicable laws, regulations, ordinances, rules, permits and 
approvals now or hereafter affecting the Town Property and the Green Property. 
Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to waive the applicability of 
any requirements under any applicable laws, ordinances or rules. 

 
3) Release. Green hereby releases to the Town any and all rights or interests Green 

may have in and to the Town Property or the Improvements, derived from any source whatsoever 
including, without limitation, any rights or claims related to adverse possession, prescription, or 
reformation, it being the intent that Green’s only rights in and to the Town Property and the 
Improvements shall be those expressly set forth in this Agreement. 
 

4) Indemnification. Green hereby covenants and agrees, at its sole cost and expense, 
to indemnify, protect, defend and save harmless the Town, and its employees, agents, and 
contractors (hereafter “Indemnitees”), from and against any and all damages, losses, liabilities, 
obligations, penalties, claims, litigation, demands, defenses, judgments, suits, actions, 
proceedings, costs, disbursements and/or expenses (including, without limitation, reasonable 
attorneys’, paralegals’ and consultants’ fees, expenses and disbursements) of any kind or nature 
whatsoever by whomever asserted which may at any time be imposed upon, incurred by, or 
asserted or awarded against any Indemnitee relating to or arising out of the use of the Town 
Property by Green or its employees, agents, and contractors or others claiming under or through 
Green. 
 

5) No Waiver. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall in any way alter or lessen 
the Town’s immunity from lawsuit as set forth in the Maine Tort Claims Act, 14 M.R.S.A. § 
8101 et seq., as the same may be amended from time to time, and the Town is not waiving any 
defense, immunity or limitation of liability which may be available to it, its officers, agents or 



3 
 

employees, including but not limited to, those set forth in the Maine Tort Claims Act, other 
Maine statutory law, judicial precedent, or common law. 
 

6) Termination. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Town 
Property Easement shall terminate automatically upon: (a) Green, its successors or assigns, 
ceasing to use the Improvements for one (1) consecutive year; (b) the Town recording written 
evidence of such nonuse and termination in the York County Registry of Deeds; and (c) the 
Town mailing a copy of such written evidence to the owner of the Green property as shown by 
the tax records of the Town, provided however, that Green, its successors or assigns, shall have 
three (3) months from the date of mailing of such written evidence to contest the termination of 
the Town Property Easement by filing a notice of such contest in said Registry.  Nothing herein 
shall be construed as preventing the Town and Green, its successors or assigns, from agreeing on 
the termination of the Town Property Easement by written agreement to be jointly signed and 
recorded in said Registry.  Upon termination of this Easement Agreement, the Improvements 
shall be deemed abandoned and shall automatically become the property of the Town.   
 

7) Beneficial & Burdening Appurtenance. The Town Property Easement is intended 
to be an appurtenance that benefits the Green Property and burdens the Town Property.  Nothing 
herein shall be construed as establishing an easement in gross with respect to the Town Property 
Easement. 

 
8) Grant of Easement Over Green Property. Green hereby grants to the Town an 

exclusive easement in gross (the “Green Property Easement”) to enter upon the Green Property 
as reasonably necessary so as to use of that portion of the Marine Railway located on the Green 
Property, provided, however, that such easement shall not be exercised by the Town unless and 
until the Town Property Easement has been terminated and notice of the Town’s intention to 
exercise such easement rights has been included with the written evidence of nonuse described in 
Paragraph 6 above.  Failure to include such notice of the Town’s intention to exercise its 
easements rights shall be deemed a waiver of such rights by the Town.  The Green Property 
Easement shall be personal to the Town and shall terminate automatically at such time as the 
Town no longer owns the Town Property. 
 

9) Authority. Each of the Parties represents and warrants that it has the legal power, 
right and authority to enter into this Agreement. 
 

10) Miscellaneous. Except as otherwise expressly permitted hereunder, no provision 
of this Agreement may be modified, amended or added to except by an agreement in writing 
executed by the parties and recorded in the York County Registry of Deeds. This Agreement 
shall be governed by Maine law without regard to its principles of conflicts of law. This 
Agreement, including the exhibits referred to herein, constitutes the entire agreement of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all other agreements between the 
parties, whether written or oral. Any provision or part of this Agreement held to be void or 
unenforceable by a court shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to 
be valid and binding upon the parties. 
 



4 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Easement Agreement to be 
executed by their respective representatives, thereunto duly authorized, as of the date and year 
first above written. 
 

[Signature Pages Follow] 



5 
 

       INHABITANTS OF THE TOWN OF  
       KENNEBUNKPORT 
 
 
______________________________  By:______________________________ 
Witness            D. Michael Weston, Board Member  
             and Chair 
 
 
______________________________  By:______________________________ 
Witness            Allen Daggett, Board Member and 

      Vice Chair 
 
 
______________________________  By:______________________________ 
Witness            Sheila Matthews-Bull, Board Member 
 
 
______________________________  By:______________________________ 
Witness            Jon Dean Dykstra, Board Member 
 
 
______________________________  By:______________________________ 
Witness            Mary Beth Gilbert, Board Member 
 
 



6 
 

STATE OF MAINE 
COUNTY OF YORK, ss.      _______________, 2023 
 
 Personally appeared the above named Michael Weston, Board Member and Chair of the 
Board of Selectmen of the Inhabitants of the Town of Kennebunkport, and acknowledged the 
foregoing instrument to be his free act and deed in his said capacity and the free act and deed of 
the Inhabitants of the Town of Kennebunkport. 
 
       Before me, 
 
 
       _________________________________ 
       Notary Public/Maine Attorney at Law 
 
 
       _________________________________ 

 Print Name 
 
 
       My commission expires: ____________ 



7 
 

GREEN MARINE CORPORATION 
 
 
_________________________________  By:________________________________ 
Witness            Printed name:  
             Title:  
 
 
STATE OF MAINE 
COUNTY OF YORK, ss.      _______________, 2023 
 
 Personally appeared the above named ____________________, ____________________ 
of Green Marine Corporation and acknowledged the foregoing instrument to be his/her free act 
and deed in his/her said capacity and the free act and deed of Green Marine Corporation. 
 
       Before me, 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Notary Public/Maine Attorney at Law 
 
       __________________________________ 

 Print Name 
 
 
       My commission expires: ______________ 
 



EXHIBIT A 

[Sketch showing location of the Improvements] 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



Item 6



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



CERTIFICATION OF  
PROPOSED ORDINANCE REVISION 

TO:  Tracey O’Roak, the Town Clerk of the Town of Kennebunkport.  In the name of the State of 
Maine, we hereby certify that the Ordinance entitled: 

"2023 Update to the Comprehensive Plan for the Town of Kennebunkport, Maine" 

A copy of the 2023 update to the Comprehensive Plan proposed for approval at the Special Town 
Meeting of the Town of Kennebunkport to be held on November 7, 2023, is on file at Town Hall, 
Graves Memorial Library, and on the Town’s website: www.kennebunkportme.gov.  

Dated this 14th day of September 2023, at Kennebunkport, Maine. 

    ____________________________       __________________________ 
    Jon D. Dykstra       Sheila A. Matthews-Bull 

    ________________________________       ______________________________ 
     Marybeth Gilbert       Allen A. Daggett 

____________________________ 
D. Michael Weston

A majority of the Board of Selectmen of the Town of Kennebunkport 

Item 7

http://www.kennebunkportme.gov/


KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A |1 

Goals, Policies & Strategies 
KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2030 

Volume 2 Appendix A 
May June 20232 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A |2 

Introduction
The table of Goals, Policies, and Strategies that follows summarizes the action steps that are intended to guide implementation of the 
plan. This table will help the next generation of community leaders and officials understand the desire of the townspeople as they balance 
the events of the future, budgets, and tax rates. It is a road map for all to use and shall be referenced and utilized frequently as the routine 
tasks of local government are undertaken.  

Although the table presented here has segmented parts corresponding to each Comprehensive Plan chapter, the strategies are as 
interconnected as the subjects of the chapters. Housing, natural resources, or the local economy may seem distinct and sometimes even 
counter to each other, however, these elements are inexorably linked and their reciprocal influence over each other blends true distinction. 
Similarly, the challenges brought by a changing climate cannot be separated out into a section of its own. Instead, adaptation and 
consideration of climate change has been addressed in each section because its effects will challenge the community in innumerable ways.  

This plan aims to work collaboratively with residents, business owners, and regional partners on the challenges of sea-level rise, 
transportation, housing, and others that we share in southern Maine. Through adaptation we will strive to preserve Kennebunkport’s 
historic integrity, protect natural resources, and strengthen the town’s unique small-town character while improving economic vitality. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 3 

Responsible Parties List 

Entity Acronym 
Assessing Department   AD 
Beach Advisory Committee   BAC 
Board of Selectmen   BoS 
Budget Board   BB 
Cemetery Committee    KCC 
Cape Porpoise Archaeological Alliance   CPAA 
Chamber of Commerce   CoC 
Code Enforcement Officer   CEO 
Conservation Commission    CC 
Emergency Management   EM 
Finance Department    FD 
Growth Planning Committee    GPC 
Harbormasters   HM 
Kennebunkport Heritage Housing Trust   KHHT 
Kennebunk River Committee    KRC 
Kennebunkport Business Association   KBA 
Kennebunkport Emergency Medical Services   KEMS  
Kennebunkport Conservation Trust    KCT 
Kennebunkport Consolidated School   KCS 

Entity Acronym 
Kennebunkport Historical Society KHS 
Library Trustees and Staff  L 
Parks and Recreation Department PRD 
Planning Board PB 
Planning Department  PD 
Police Department  PoD 
Public Health Department  PH 
Public Safety Committee PSC 
Public Works Department  PW 
Recreation Committee RC 
RSU 21  RSU 
Shade Tree Committee  STC 
Shellfish Conservation Committee SCC 
Solid Waste Committee SWC 
Town Clerk  TC 
Town Manager  TM 
US Coast Guard CG 
US Fish & Wildlife Service  FWS 

Timeframes: Short term = 0-3 years; Medium term = 3-5 years; Long term = 5+ years 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 4 

Chapter 3: Historic Resources Responsible 
Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL PROMOTE AND PRESERVE LOCAL HISTORY AND HERITAGE. 
2 Policy Promote awareness of the Town’s history. 

3 Strategy Prioritize Planning Board applicants who have knowledge of architectural 
history, historic preservation, and archaeology. 

BoS Ongoing 

4  Strategy 
Continue to teach local history at the Kennebunkport Consolidated School. 
Coordinate efforts between local historians, residents, parents, friends, and 
teachers at the Consolidated School. 

RSU 21 & KCS Ongoing 

5  Strategy 
Undertake a detailed, town wide survey of Kennebunkport’s historic structures. 
Identify historic sites and areas. Identify historic buildings that are threatened by 
sea level rise and extreme weather events. 

KHS 
Medium 

Term 

6  Strategy 
Promote awareness of historic structures and districts that are listed in the 
National Register of Historic Places and the Historic American Building Survey. KHS Ongoing 

7  Strategy 
Update the historic building plaque program to include structures and sites  
dating to the mid-20th century. 

KHS Short Term 

8  Strategy Develop audio recordings of self-guided walking tours of Kennebunkport’s 
historically and architecturally significant sites. Erect interpretive signs. 

KHS Medium 
Term 

9 GOAL RECOVER DATA FROM PREHISTORIC AND HISTORIC ARCHAEOLOGICAL 
SITES. 

10 Policy 
Protect and preserve prehistoric and historic sites until such time as data 
can be recovered by professional archaeologists. 

11 Strategy Develop an ordinance to protect archaeological sites. PD & CPAA Medium 
Term 

12 Strategy 
Educate property owners and developers on the importance of archaeological 
remains and seek their cooperation to ensure that prehistoric and historic sites 
are left in an undisturbed state. 

PD & CPAA Ongoing 

13 Strategy 
Support the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust in its efforts to preserve the 
sites of historic European fishing settlements and Native American use of the 
Cape Porpoise area. 

PB & KCT Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 5 

14 Policy 
Efforts to recover data from archaeological sites in coastal areas should be 
accelerated due to the increasing intensity of extreme weather events. 

15 Strategy Support the rapid response efforts of the Cape Porpoise Archaeological 
Alliance and accelerate efforts to recover data from offshore shipwrecks. 

PB & CPAA Ongoing 

16 GOAL PROTECT AND PRESERVE HISTORIC STRUCTURES AND DISTRICTS. 

17 Policy Preserve historic and architecturally significant structures and areas. 

18 Strategy Educate property owners on tax incentives for the restoration and preservation 
of income producing property. 

PD Ongoing 

19 Strategy Advise property owners on improving a building’s energy efficiency while 
preserving its historic character. 

CEO Short Term 

20 Policy 
Protect historic structures that are threatened by sea level rise and extreme 
weather events. 

21 Strategy 
Work with the Silver Jackets and other experts to devise a plan to protect Dock 
Square buildings. PD Short Term 

22 Goal PRESERVE CEMETERIES AND GRAVEYARDS. 
23 Policy Restore, maintain, and protect cemeteries and burial plots. 

24 Strategy 

Research and document all cemeteries and burial plots. Seek permission from 
private property owners to allow access for restoration, monitoring, and 
necessary maintenance. Enlist volunteers to work with the Cemetery 
Committee to restore all sites. 

KCC Medium 
Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 6 

Chapter 6: Housing Responsible 
Party 

Timeline 

1 GOAL MEET THE DEMAND FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING BY PROVIDING FOR A 
MIX OF HOUSING TYPES IN A BROAD RANGE OF PRICES. 

2 Policy 

Incentivize the construction of year-round affordable housing units and 
create standards of eligibility for such units with preference for school and 
government employees, Kennebunkport residents, and persons employed 
in the Town. 

3 Strategy Amend the LUO to include a definition of affordable housing. PD Short Term 

4 Strategy 
Consider the acquisition or use of Town-owned land for the construction of 
affordable year-round housing units. BoS Ongoing 

5 Strategy 
Consider amending the LUO to reduce minimum lot size requirements and 
increase allowable density within Growth Areas. PB & PD Short Term 

6 Strategy Encourage clustering of all types of housing units, including duplex and multi-
plex units. 

PB & PD Short Term 

7 Strategy 
In subdivisions of 10+ dwelling units, the developer should set aside 10% as 
affordable units. In subdivisions of 5 to 9 dwelling units, at least one should be 
set aside. Alternately, the developer may consider an in-lieu fee. 

PB, HHT & PD Short Term 

8 Strategy Encourage the construction of accessory dwelling units for year-round use. PB & PD Ongoing 

9 Strategy 
Amend the LUO to allow accessory dwelling units (ADU) and home 
occupations to co-exist and utilize performance standards to regulate the 
appearance and potential impact of these uses within neighborhoods. 

PB & PD Short Term 

10 Strategy 
Allow the development of multi-plex (multi-family) housing, including rental 
units, in designated Growth Areas. PB & PD Short Term 

11 Strategy Encourage the development of assisted living and independent living facilities. PB & PD Ongoing 

12 Strategy 
To ensure a timely response by volunteer first responders, the Town should 
take steps to ensure that in-town housing options are affordable for first 
responders. 

PSC, PB & 
BoS 

Ongoing 

13 Strategy Support the Kennebunkport Heritage Housing Trust. BoS Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 7 

Chapter 7: Natural Resources, Forest Resources, and 
Agricultural Resources 

Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL 
PROTECT CRITICAL NATURAL RESOURCES, INCLUDING WETLANDS, 
TERRESTRIAL AND AQUATIC HABITAT, SAND DUNES, BEACHES, SCENIC 
VISTAS, AND UNIQUE NATURAL AREAS. 

2 Policy 
Conserve and protect Kennebunkport’s critical natural resources through 
conservation and education. 

14 Strategy 
Consider the establishment of a development impact fee to fund affordable 
housing. PD Short Term 

15 Strategy 
Maintain locations in growth areas where mobile home parks are allowed 
pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. §4358(3)(M) and where manufactured housing is 
allowed pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. §4358(2). 

PD & GPC Ongoing 

165 GOAL MINIMIZE THE ADVERSE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE. 
176 Policy Reduce the vulnerability of housing to climate change. 
187 Strategy Educate homeowners about flood vulnerability. CEO & PD Short Term 

198 Strategy 
Seek grants from the Federal Emergency Management Agency and other state 
and federal agencies to assist property owners adapt to climate change. PD Ongoing 

2019 Strategy Review current zoning codes, regulations, and policies to incorporate natural
design elements and building practices such as Low Impact Design standards. 

PD & PB Short Term 

210 Strategy Consider climate impacts when identifying future growth areas. PD, PB & GPC Long Term 

221 Strategy 
Recommend where appropriate the reduction of width standards for roads that 
serve multiple buildings as a strategy to reduce impervious surfaces. PD & PB 

Medium 
Term 

232 Strategy 
Review and make recommendations for off-street parking requirements for 
residential use. PD & PB Medium 

243 Strategy Encourage builders and residents to install and maintain pervious material in 
appropriate locations. 

PD & PB Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 8 

3 Strategy 
Support and collaborate with the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust to protect 
critical and important natural resources through purchase of land or easements 
from willing sellers. 

KCT & CC Ongoing 

4 Strategy 

Conduct a natural resources inventory to prioritize conservation and allocation 
of resources toward conservation, maintenance, and monitoring activities in 
areas with greatest co-occurrence of water features, important natural 
communities, listed animal and plant species, and undeveloped land. 

CC & PD Medium 
Term 

5 Strategy 

Collaborate with conservation partners to identify and make public a regional 
database of educational resources and information about critical habitat 
(including salt marshes), vulnerable species, and the impacts of development 
and human activity on natural resources. 

CC, FWS & PD Short Term 

6 Policy 
Minimize the impacts of development and human activity on natural 
resources. 

7 Strategy Require that subdivisions and commercial developments maintain open space
to the greatest extent practicable. 

PB & PD Short Term 

8 Strategy Encourage the use of native plants on public and private property. PB & PD Short Term 

9 Strategy Encourage developers to install street trees to enhance wildlife habitat and
provide shade. PB & PD Short Term 

10 Strategy 

Conduct monitoring to evaluate the impact of pesticides and herbicides on 
natural resources and water resources and identify strategies to minimize 
impacts such as through alternative weed and pest controls and regulations as 
needed.   

PD, CC & BAC Short Term 

11 GOAL PROTECT RARE AND ENDANGERED SPECIES. 
12 Policy Educate the public about rare and endangered species. 

13 Strategy 
Collaborate with conservation partners to develop an education and outreach 
program to inform the public about the presence of endangered, rare, and 
significant species and how to avoid impacting these species. 

CC, FWS & PD Medium 
Term 

14 Strategy 

Work with the Maine DOT and Kennebunkport’s Public Works Department to 
accommodate known migratory crossings of endangered reptiles and 
amphibians as part of road construction and repair projects.  Continue to place 
caution signs at appropriate sites. 

PW & PD Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 9 

15 Strategy Continue to place signage on beaches during plover nesting season. PW Ongoing 

16 GOAL 
PROTECT FOREST RESOURCES AND FARMLAND FROM THE NEGATIVE 
IMPACTS OF DEVELOPMENT. 

17 Policy Support agricultural and forestry activities. 

18 Strategy Support forestry and agricultural uses and activities such as agritourism,
backyard chickens, farms, farm stands, and firewood sales. 

PD Short Term 

19 Strategy 
Review Town ordinances and regulations for consistency with Maine’s Right to 
Farm Law (Title 7 MSRA, Chapter 6) to determine if local ordinances and 
regulations require strengthening.   

PD & PB Short Term 

20 Strategy Review Town ordinances and regulations for consistency with Article 1 Section
25 Establishing A Right to Food of the Constitution of the State of Maine 

PD & PB Short Term 

21 Strategy Amend the LUO to permit farmers’ markets. PB Short Term 

22 Strategy 

Review and amend, as necessary, the LUO and subdivision regulations to 
develop performance standards to protect forest and farmland resources. Land 
developers should identify critical natural resources and utilize Beginning with 
Habitat maps and other data resources. 

PD & PB Short Term 

23 GOAL PROTECT NATURAL RESOURCES WHILE MANAGING FOR LOW IMPACT 
PUBLIC USE. 

24 Policy Maintain and enhance open space recreational assets. 

25 Strategy 
Coordinate with the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust to interconnect public 
and private conservation lands and trail systems including links to routes and 
facilities in neighboring communities. 

CC & KCT Medium 
Term 

26 Strategy Review use of Town-owned conservation lands to ensure activities do not
damage or deplete natural resources. 

CC & PD Medium 
Term 

27 Strategy Periodically review the use of town properties and seek input from residents on 
uses of properties CC & BoS Medium 

Term 
28 Policy Provide access to conservation land. 

29 Strategy 

Coordinate with the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust to inventory, and 
improve, as needed, parking, access, and trails at conservation land that is open 
to the public. When appropriate, support the KCT as it works toward improving 
accessibility to a range of users, physical abilities, and activities. 

CC & KCT Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 10 

30 Strategy 
Form a committee to investigate opportunities to balance protection and 
enjoyment of natural resources with tourism and recreation opportunities. CC, KCT & CoC Short Term 

31 Policy Maintain and enhance scenic resources. 

32 Strategy Inventory scenic resources and create an online map of scenic vistas. PB & PD Medium 
Term 

33 Strategy Add protection of scenic views and scenic resources to Site Plan Review
Performance Standards. PB & PD Medium 

Term 
34 Goal ADAPT TO CLIMATE CHANGE. 
35 Policy Enhance the resiliency of habitats and species. 

36 Strategy 
Identify opportunities to accommodate marsh migration inland to protect this 
critically important resource from sea level rise. PB, CC & PD Short Term 

37 Strategy 
Encourage conservation of low-lying undeveloped uplands where coastal 
marshes, beaches, and other intertidal natural communities can migrate inland 
with sea level rise. 

PB, CC, KCT & 
PD Short Term 

38 Strategy 

Identify locations to enhance wildlife corridors to help create places for species 
to migrate and shift north as temperature increases and protect these areas. 
The Nature Conservancy’s Resilient Lands mapping tool is a good resource for 
identifying resilient and connected networks. 

PB, CC & PD Medium 
Term 

39 Strategy 
Create and implement an invasive species management policy, including public 
outreach and education, and prepare to manage invasive species on town 
property. 

PW, CC & PD Short Term 

40 Strategy 
Educate property owners about impacts of climate change, such as extreme 
heat, drought, and changes in precipitation on habitats and species. Provide 
information to new homeowners. 

CC & PD Short Term 

41 Policy Increase community resilience. 

42 Strategy 
Provide education about the role of shade trees in reducing heat and mitigating 
climate change and impacts. STC Short Term 

43 Strategy 
Engage in efforts to protect and restore protective natural features, such as 
floodplains, wetlands, marshes, dunes, and dune grass. CC Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 11 

Chapter 8: Water Resources Responsible 
Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL PROTECT THE QUALITY AND QUANTITY OF WATER RESOURCES. 
2 Policy Protect drinking water sources. 

3 Strategy Collaborate with the City of Biddeford to ensure cross boundary protection of 
groundwater resources. Create an aquifer protection overlay district. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

4 Strategy 
Coordinate with the Kennebunk, Kennebunkport & Wells Water District 
(KKWWD) and area towns to protect regional drinking water resources. PD Ongoing 

5 Strategy 
Periodically review regulations to ensure that freshwater wetlands that provide 
important groundwater recharge are sufficiently protected. PD 

Medium 
Term 

6 Policy Protect water resources from the impacts of development and reduce the 
potential of water quality degradation. 

7 Strategy Conduct a comprehensive review of the LUO and Subdivision Regulations to
identify opportunities to strengthen provisions for water resource protection. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

8 Strategy 
Reduce the threshold percentage of impervious surface area that triggers the 
need for a stormwater management system under site plan review and increase 
the design standard for stormwater infrastructure to the 100-year storm event. 

PB & PD 
Medium 

Term 

9 Strategy Amend stormwater regulations to require that stormwater be managed onsite
as opposed to allowing offsite mitigation. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

10 Strategy 
Amend the LUO and Subdivision Regulations to include green infrastructure 
and low impact development standards. Encourage complete streets and green 
streets. 

PB & PD Short Term 

11 Strategy Continue to follow best practices that achieves a balance of low salt application
with roadway safety. 

PW Ongoing 

12 Policy Improve aquatic habitat. 

13 Strategy 
When possible, follow Stream Smart road crossing policies to reduce the impact 
of road crossings on fish and other aquatic species and habitat. PW& PD Ongoing 

14 Policy Identify, monitor, and reduce sources of pollution. 

15 Strategy Conduct regular water quality monitoring of Little River, Beaver Brook, Smith 
Brook, Batson River, and the Kennebunk River. 

PH & PD Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 12 

16 Strategy Continue to monitor the impact of the sewer outfall in the Kennebunk River. PW Ongoing 

17 GOAL 
INCREASE COMMUNITY AWARENESS ABOUT WATER RESOURCE 
PROTECTION. 

18 Policy Educate the public about water resource protection. 

19 Strategy 

Include resources and links to information on water quality best management 
practices and pollutants (including invasive species, fertilizer, pesticide, 
herbicide use, septic failure, sedimentation, and hazardous substances) in town-
wide mailings and post this information on the Town’s website. 

CC Short Term 

20 Strategy 
Distribute educational material to property owners about the impacts of 
development, impervious surfaces, and disturbance of banks and riparian 
habitat on water bodies. 

CC Short Term 

21 Strategy 
Develop material on natural resource and water quality protection measures for 
owners of property including rental properties to make available to short term 
and seasonal renters. 

CC Short Term 

22 Strategy Conduct a public outreach campaign to increase awareness of the impact of 
septic systems on surface and groundwater. 

CEO Short Term 

23 Policy Manage water resources at a regional and watershed scale. 

24 Strategy 
Collaborate with Kennebunk, Biddeford, Arundel, the York County Soil and 
Water Conservation District, and the Kennebunk River Committee, and land 
trusts in neighboring communities to protect water resources. 

BoS, CC & KCT Ongoing 

25 Policy Maintain healthy biological and ecological diversity. 

26 Strategy Add a definition of vernal pool to the LUO that is consistent with ME DEP
Chapter 335 rules. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

27 Strategy Coordinate with the City of Biddeford to adopt performance standards to 
protect vernal pools in the Biddeford/Kennebunkport Vernal Pool Complex. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

28 GOAL ADAPT TO THE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE. 

29 Policy 
Minimize the impacts of climate change to water resources and water 
infrastructure. 

30 Strategy 
Adopt water conservation policies for properties on public water and 
educational measures to conserve water during droughts and encourage 
conservation and reuse of water resources. 

BoS Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 13 

31 Strategy 
Identify opportunities to lead, participate, and build from regional climate 
adaption efforts. BoS, PB & PD Ongoing 

32 Strategy Encourage homeowners to test private well water quality and to inform the 
Town of high salinity levels that may be due to saltwater intrusion. 

CEO Ongoing 

33 Strategy 

Investigate the vulnerability of public and private wells to sea level rise induced 
groundwater rise and to drought. Initiate planning for the potential future 
needs to expand the Town’s drinking water and wastewater infrastructure if 
private wells and/or septic systems become unusable due to drought, salinity, or 
other contamination. 

BoS & PD Medium 
Term 

34 Strategy 
Identify and monitor buried hazards and registered storage tanks that may be 
impacted by rising groundwater and develop a plan to relocate them as 
necessary. 

PD Medium 
Term 

35 Strategy 
Provide education about climate change impacts such as increased and more 
frequent flooding of surface water, wetlands, and floodplains, and other low-
lying areas. 

PD Short Term 

Chapter 9: Marine Resources 
Responsible 

Party 
Timeframe 

1 GOAL 
ENSURE ACCESS TO COASTAL WATERS NECESSARY FOR COMMERCIAL 
FISHING, COMMERCIAL MOORING, DOCKINGS, AND RELATED FACILITIES. 

2 Policy 
Cooperate with the Towns of Kennebunk and Arundel in the management of 
the tidal portions of the Kennebunk River. 

3 Strategy Continue active participation in the Kennebunk River Committee as provided by 
the Inter-local Agreement. 

KRC Ongoing 

4 Policy Ensure safe, well-marked, and unimpeded use to both of the Town’s major 
harbors. 

5 Strategy 
Work with the harbormaster(s) and the Coast Guard to maintain clear markings 
of the channels. HM & CG Ongoing 

6 Policy Provide sufficient regulation to require safe and courteous operation of 
watercraft and maintenance of moorings. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 14 

7 Strategy 
Provide regulations to encourage the safe operation of watercraft in affected 
areas. BoS & HM Ongoing 

8 Policy Reserve a sufficient number of moorings to meet the needs of the 
commercial fishing industry. 

9 Strategy Maintain separate mooring lists for commercial and pleasure craft to provide
access for both uses in the harbors. 

BoS & HM Ongoing 

10 Strategy Continue to assign priority status to commercial fishermen for mooring spaces. BoS & HM Ongoing 
11 Policy Protect and support the marine resources industry. 
12 Strategy The LUO should continue to allow marine resource uses in appropriate areas. PD & PB Ongoing 

13 Strategy Identify and assess appropriate sites for aquaculture. 
HM, BoS, KCT 

& SCC 
Medium 

Term 

14 Strategy Reduce the flow of nitrates into nearshore waters and eel grass habitat by
expanding the Town’s sewer service area. 

PW, CC & PD Long Term 

15 Strategy 
As the water temperature rises in the Gulf of Maine, assist local fishermen in 
transitioning to the harvesting of species that thrive in warmer waters. PD Long Term 

16 Strategy 
Support the provisions of the Land Use Ordinance that support the commercial 
fishing industry. PB & PD Ongoing 

17 Policy Keep Government Wharf & Cape Porpoise Pier well maintained, and 
Preserve the Working Waterfront 

18 Strategy Maintain the Cape Porpoise Pier and Government Wharf and ensure that there is
adequate access and amenities for commercial fishermen. BoS & HM Ongoing 

19 Strategy 
Educate individuals engaged in working waterfront activities about the working 
waterfront current use program. A Ongoing 

20 Goal 
ENSURE ACCESS TO PUBLIC BEACHES BY RESIDENTS AND SUMMER 
VISITORS, WHILE PROTECTING THE PRIVACY OF PROPERTY OWNERS IN 
THE VICINITY. 

21 Policy Allow residents and visitors to enjoy the use of the Town’s beaches. 
22 Strategy Maintain signage marking public access to beaches. PW & BAC Ongoing 
23 Strategy Provide information regarding use of the beaches with all parking stickers. BAC & TC Ongoing 
24 Strategy Continue the use of public safety patrols on the beaches. PoD Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 15 

25 GOAL 
PROTECT THE WATER QUALITY OF TIDALRIVERS, STREAMS, MARSHES, 
AND COASTAL BEACHES 

26 Policy Protect the health of recreational users of tidal areas and beaches. 

27 Strategy 

Continue the partnership with Maine’s Healthy Beaches Program and 
implement the recommendations in its “Summary Report of Enhanced 
Monitoring and Pollution Source Tracking Efforts in the Goose Rocks Beach 
Watershed, Kennebunkport,” published in February 2021. 

BAC & PD Short Term 

28 Policy Reduce contamination levels to allow shellfish harvesting and to meet all 
applicable water quality standards. 

29 Strategy Work with the Maine Department of Environmental Protection to monitor and
eliminate fecal coliform levels found in tidal waters. 

BAC & PD Ongoing 

30 Strategy 
Inspect subsurface wastewater disposal systems and enforce the applicable 
regulations. Enforce overboard discharge regulations. CEO Ongoing 

31 Strategy 
Pump outs should be provided in Cape Porpoise Harbor and the Kennebunk 
River and educate the public about the importance of the use of the pump outs. BoS & HM Short Term 

32 Policy Educate the public about the value of and need to protect salt marshes. 

33 Strategy 
Create educational materials and assess need for regulation to promote regular 
maintenance on private septic systems, especially within areas adjacent to salt 
marshes. 

CC & FWS Short Term 

Chapter 10: Energy Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL REDUCE THE VOLUME OF GREENHOUSE GASSES GENERATED IN 
KENNEBUNKPORT 

2 Policy 
Develop and implement community-wide strategies to reduce greenhouse 
gas (GHG) emissions. 

3 Strategy Review LOU to ensure minimum regulatory hurdles which would allow all 
properties to install EV chargers. 

PD Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 16 

4 Strategy Investigate the benefits of adopting the state energy stretch code. 
PD & CEO Medium 

Term 

5 Strategy 
Remove barriers and encourage commercial development of a certain scale to 
include EV charging stations and be designed to exceed minimum energy 
code standards. 

PB & PD Short Term 

6 Strategy Continue to look for opportunities to expand bike and pedestrian paths to
lessen dependence on conventional vehicles.  PD & PW Ongoing 

7 Policy Strive to match or exceed the State of Maine’s goals of a 45% reduction in 
GHG emissions by 2030, and 80% by 2050. 

Strategy  BoS 

8 Strategy 
Utilize Southern Maine Planning & Development Commission’s calculations 
on Kennebunkport’s GHG emissions in the transportation sector as a baseline 
to measure progress in the future. 

PD & Bos Ongoing 

9 Strategy 
Measure & monitor GHG emissions from municipal operations, and 
community wide by establishing a GHG emissions inventory and a plan for 
reducing emissions. 

PD & Bos Ongoing 

10 Strategy Develop a town wide climate action plan. BoS & PD Short Term 

11 Strategy Educate community members about steps they can take to reduce emissions
and become more resilient PD Ongoing 

12 Policy Prepare the community for a changing climate. 
13 Strategy Educate the community about current clean energy incentives and options. PD Ongoing 

14 Strategy 
Educate community members about how to prepare their property for the 
effects of a changing climate. PD Short Term 

15 Policy Reduce municipal fossil fuel consumption and implement municipal energy 
efficiency measures. 

16 Strategy Continue to budget and plan for long-term energy efficiency equipment
upgrades. TM, BB, BoS Medium 

Term 

17 Strategy 
Review the potential to install and operate renewable energy systems at 
municipal facilities. BoS 

Medium 
Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 17 

18 Strategy 
Continue to support the procurement of renewable energy for public facilities 
using bundled or unbundled Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs). BoS Ongoing 

19 Strategy Continue to collaborate with other municipalities to install and operate 
renewable energy systems for municipal and community use. 

BoS & PD Ongoing 

20 Strategy Track and benchmark building energy consumption and seek ways to improve
energy efficiency in all facilities. 

TM, Fin Dept. Medium 
Term 

21 GOAL 
IMPROVE THE RELIABILITY OF KENNEBUNKPORT’S ELECTRICAL 
POWER SUPPLY 

22 Policy Encourage local generation of renewable energy and decentralization of 
the electrical grid. 

23 Strategy Amend the LOU to allow solar arrays (up to 10 acres) in appropriate locations 
with appropriate performance standards. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

24 Strategy 
Review LUO for hinderances to renewable energy systems and recommend 
amendments. CEO & PD Short Term 

Chapter 11: Transportation Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL ENSURE THE TOWN’S TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PROVIDES 
EFFICIENT, SAFE, AND CONNECTED ACCESS FOR THE COMMUNITY 

2 Policy 
Maintain and improve transportation infrastructure and provide adequate 
facilities and equipment to do so. 

3 Strategy Continue to update, prioritize, and fund the Town’s plan for transportation
improvements, maintenance, and repairs. 

TM Ongoing 

4 Strategy Maintain the Town’s Street Acceptance Policy that requires sufficient public
benefit for a street to be considered for acceptance as a public way.  BoS Ongoing 

5 Strategy 
Maintain and invest in Town roads, including all necessary ditches, streams, 
culverts, and drainage structures, as well as capacity to accommodate 
pedestrian and bicycle use. 

PW Ongoing 

6 Policy Support a safe, efficient, and optimal use of the regional transportation 
system. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 18 

7 Strategy 
Collaborate with regional partners to identify solutions to meet needs of 
community. BoS Ongoing 

8 Strategy 
Work with the Maine Department of Transportation (MDOT) to improve 
pedestrian and bicycle connections between Cape Porpoise Square and Dock 
Square. 

PD Ongoing 

9 Policy Plan and prepare to accommodate electric vehicles (EV). 

10 Strategy 
Identify locations for EV charging stations, according to Maine Clean 
Community recommendations, that would benefit the community. PD  Short Term 

11 Strategy Ensure there are no unnecessary regulatory hurdles to installing EV charging
stations on public or private property and support their procurement. 

PB & PD Short Term 

12 Policy Reduce traffic congestion. 

13 Strategy Consider a traffic study to identify opportunities to reduce congestion in Dock
Square. BoS & PD Medium 

Term 

14 Strategy 
Evaluate the need for new traffic patterns when considering higher density 
development in the growth areas. PD Long Term 

15 Strategy Evaluate the need for additional parking to service Dock Square. BoS Medium 
Term 

16 Strategy Advertise alternative transportation means for sightseeing and recreation to
visitors of Kennebunkport. 

CoC Short Term 

17 GOAL INCREASE MULTI-MODAL TRANSPORTATION OPTIONS 

18 Policy 
Meet the diverse transportation and public health needs of all residents and 
visitors by providing a safe, efficient, and adequate transportation network 
for all types of users. 

19 Strategy Review complete street practices for relevant tools and ideas for
Kennebunkport. 

PD, PW Medium 
Term 

20 Strategy Develop a long-term vision for a network of bicycle routes to serve the 
community and link to routes and facilities in neighboring communities. 

PD, KCT, 
PW, PRD  

Medium 
Term 

21 Strategy 
Consider a standard minimum sidewalk width for public streets. Identify areas 
of high pedestrian traffic in need of sidewalks. PW & PD 

Medium 
Term 

22 Policy Prioritize safety for pedestrians and bicyclists. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 19 

23 Strategy 
Identify and resolve any safety issues or concerns within the vicinity of the 
consolidated school. 

RSU, Police, 
PW Short Term 

24 Strategy Identify locations where a reduction in speed will minimize the potential
pedestrian and bicycle fatalities and serious injuries. 

PD, Police, 
PW 

Short Term 

25 Strategy Request Maine DOT install bike routes near the school and along state roads. BoS Short Term 

26 Strategy Seek opportunities to integrate traffic calming methods into roadway 
improvements. PD, PW Ongoing 

27 Policy Provide amenities for bicyclists. 
28 Strategy Encourage commercial property owners to install bike racks. PB & PD Ongoing 

29 Strategy 
Inventory existing public bike racks and identify locations where additional 
public racks are needed. PD, PRD Short Term 

30 GOAL INTEGRATE TRANSPORTATION AND LAND USE PLANNING 
31 Policy Develop a connected network of streets and destinations. 

32 Strategy Work with the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust to enhance trail 
connectivity. 

PRD, KCT & 
PD Ongoing 

33 Strategy 
Add criteria in subdivision regs that promote shared driveways and require 
developers to show future connectivity to adjacent parcels including roads and 
trails. 

PB & PD Short Term 

34 Policy Enhance access to waterfront, recreation, and other amenities. 
35 Strategy Continue to issue beach parking stickers to residents and visitors. BoS, Clerk Ongoing 

36 Policy Maintain compatibility between transportation infrastructure and 
surroundings. 

37 Strategy 
Coordinate with MDOT to ensure that transportation improvement projects on 
Route 9 and North Street are consistent with the character of the 
neighborhood. 

PW Ongoing 

38 Strategy Investigate the merits of separate roadway design standards for designated
rural and growth areas for subdivisions. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

39 Strategy Consider identifying scenic byways for future preservation. PB & PD Medium 
Term 

40 GOAL REDUCE IMPACTS TO INFRASTRUCTURE FROM TO CLIMATE CHANGE 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 20 

41 Policy 
Integrate climate risk assessment and adaptation planning into prospective 
transportation projects. 

42 Strategy Conduct a comprehensive transportation vulnerability assessment to identify
vulnerable assets and loss of connectivity due to sea level rise. 

PD Short Term 

43 Strategy Investigate impacts of groundwater rise and extreme heat on transportation 
infrastructure. 

PD Short Term 

44 Strategy 
Continue to upgrade culverts to withstand extreme weather events and greater 
precipitation. PW Ongoing 

45 Strategy Continue to upgrade and repair publicly owned seawalls. BoS, PW Ongoing 

46 Strategy Plan for the possibility that some town roads or segments of town roads may 
require elevation to avoid inundation due to sea level rise. 

PD, BoS, 
PW, TM 

Short Term 

Chapter 12: Economy Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL 
ACHIEVE A SUSTAINABLE BALANCE BETWEEN TOURISM AND 
MAINTAINING THE TOWN’S CHARACTER AND QUALITY OF LIFE FOR ALL 
ITS RESIDENTS 

2 Policy 
Recognize the importance of seasonal visitors while maintaining 
Kennebunkport’s scenic beauty and architectural heritage for the 
enjoyment of all. 

3 Strategy Incorporate placemaking signage to designate specific points of interest. PW & CoC 
Medium 

Term 

4 Strategy 
Support the needs of the business community to attract tourists while at the 
same time assuring a high quality of life for residents. 

PD & CoC Ongoing 

5 Policy Recognize the important contributions by non-resident taxpayers. 

6 Strategy Encourage involvement by non-resident taxpayers in community forums and 
other venues.  TM Ongoing 

7 GOAL PROMOTE THE DEVELOPMENT AND VIABILITY OF LOCAL BUSINESSES. 
8 Policy Develop and maintain local jobs for residents of all ages and backgrounds. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 21 

9 Strategy Update and simplify ordinance provisions governing home occupations. CEO & PD Short Term 

10 Strategy Investigate appropriate locations for food trucks and provide 
recommendations for ordinance amendments. 

PD Medium 
Term 

11 Strategy Explore innovative approaches to housing the tourist industry’s seasonal 
workforce. 

PD, CoC, 
KBA 

Medium 
Term 

12 Strategy 
Create and promote a community brand featuring natural resources and 
cultural characteristics of the community. PD & CoC 

Medium 
Term 

13 GOAL MITIGATE POTENTIAL IMPACTS OF COMMERCIAL USES ON 
SURROUNDING NEIGHBORHOODS 

14 Policy Manage commercial development and associated tourism to ensure the 
safety and enjoyment of residents and visitors. 

15 Strategy 
Review past PB conditions of approval to identify commonly added standards 
that address specific adverse effects on residential neighborhoods to 
determine if the LUO adequately protects residential use and enjoyment. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

16 Strategy Encourage the PB to develop an ongoing reporting requirement for conditions 
of approval when appropriate 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

17 Strategy Develop standards for businesses and small-scale professional offices so that 
they reflect the scale and character of the community. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

18 Strategy 
Review current policies for parking and traffic flow control provisions to ensure 
reduced congestion and provide a healthful, safe, and peaceful environment 
for residents and visitors. 

PB & PD Short Term 

19 Strategy 
Collaborate with the Town of Kennebunk and the business communities in 
Dock Square and Kennebunk Lower Village to manage tourism to ensure the 
safety and enjoyment of residents and visitors. 

BoS, CoC & 
KBA Ongoing 

20 Strategy 
Investigate and recommend standards for commercial enterprises that provide 
goods and services catered to a year-round community PB & PD 

Medium 
Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 22 

Chapter 13: Public Facilities & Services Responsible 
Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL MAINTAIN A LOCALLY BASED PUBLIC-SCHOOL FACILITY. 

2 Policy Continue to have a local public-school facility in Kennebunkport.  

3 Strategy 
Ensure that Kennebunkport’s municipal cost share for RSU 21 continues to 
support and maintain staff and facilities at consolidated school. BoS Ongoing 

4 GOAL ENSURE ADEQUATE MUNICIPAL OFFICE SPACE AND TECHNOLOGY 
FOR TOWN GOVERNMENT AND RELATED SERVICES.  

5 Policy Provide adequate facilities for local government. 

6 Strategy Continue to offer online municipal services to better serve the public, while
maintaining an efficient workforce.  

BoS Ongoing 

7 Strategy 
Consider facility and staff needs assessment to be kept up to date with current 
and future internal and external needs. 

TM, BoS, 
Dept. Heads 

Medium 
Term 

8 GOAL 
PROVIDE PUBLIC SEWER SERVICE IN AREAS DESIGNATED AS GROWTH 
AREAS AND WHERE SEWER EXPANSION WILL BENEFIT 
ENVIRONMENTALLY SENSITIVE AREAS. 

9 Policy Monitor and prepare for the need for sewage facilities in growth areas and 
where sewer expansion will benefit environmentally sensitive areas. 

10 Strategy Assessment of existing wastewater infrastructure for both current and future
design flows PW Medium 

Term 

11 Strategy Continually re-evaluate the rate of impact fees and user fees. BoS & PW Ongoing 

12 Strategy Ensure that the maintenance of aging sewer infrastructure is a priority. BoS & PW Ongoing 

13 Strategy Evaluate adding existing developed areas in environmentally sensitive 
locations onto public sewer PW Medium 

Term 

14 Strategy 
Adhere to the Maine Climate Council’s recommendation to locate new critical 
infrastructures, such as pump stations and other wastewater infrastructure, 
away from areas that are at-risk from sea level rise and flooding. 

BoS & PW Ongoing 

15 GOAL 
PROVIDE ADEQUATE FACILITIES AND SERVICES TO MEET PUBLIC 
SAFETY NEEDS.  



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 23 

16 Policy 
Maintain an adequate police, fire, and ambulance service to protect the 
community and properties of Kennebunkport. 

17 Strategy Support the continued needs of the Town’s evolving fire service.  FC & BoS Ongoing 

18 Strategy 
Ensure that adequate capital is appropriated for buildings, trucks, and 
equipment. TM Ongoing 

19 Strategy Continue to support mutual aid agreements for fire and ambulance service. PSC, PC & 
BoS 

Ongoing 

20 GOAL MAINTAIN KENNEBUNKPORT AS A TREE CITY USA COMMUNITY.  

21 Policy Maintain an active Shade Tree Program. 

22 Strategy 
When specified, require developers to plant shade trees in a manner 
consistent with a town-wide plan (specifications to be developed by the 
Shade Tree Committee) prioritizing the public roadways. 

Shade Tree 
Committee, 

PB & PD 

Medium 
Term 

23 Strategy 
Review and revise, if necessary, the town’s current shade tree program to 
ensure adequate installation, maintenance, and replacement policies. 

PB, STC & 
PD Short Term 

24 Strategy Maintain large trees that provide shade PW & STC Ongoing 

25 Strategy Encourage the PB to maintain existing large trees that provide shade.  PB Ongoing 

26 GOAL REDUCE SOLID WASTE.  

27 Policy Encourage the reduction of solid waste and support and sustain a viable 
and creative recycling program. 

28 Strategy 
Maintain a consistent and continuing educational program to keep citizens 
informed of recycling, hazardous waste disposal, composting, and other 
programs available for them to use.   

PW, BoS  Ongoing 

29 Strategy Develop a program to assist commercial properties to actively participate in
recycling programs.   PW, BoS Short Term 

30 Strategy 
Reduce solid waste and increase composting and recycling by investigating 
things such as increasing the frequency of recycling pick-ups, supporting 
composting, pay-by-the bag solid waste, public recycling bins, etc. 

PW, BoS 
Fin. Dept, 

PW  
Short Term 

31 Strategy Encourage commercial businesses to implement a dedicated recycling policy. PD, CoC Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 24 

32 GOAL 
STRIVE FOR MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS THAT ARE SUSTAINABLE & 
RESILIENT.  

33 Policy Lead by demonstrating sustainable values and practices. 

34 Strategy 
Strive toward net zero by incorporating green building standards into RFPs 
and other consideration for public building projects. BoS & PD Ongoing 

35 Strategy Create an environmental impact policy when planning special town events to
establish minimum standards. 

BoS, TM, 
Dept. Heads 

Short Term 

36 Strategy Integrate sustainability criteria into capital planning. 
TM, BoS, 

Dept. 
Heads, BB 

Ongoing 

37 Strategy Locate new public facilities comprising at least 75% of new municipal growth-
related capital investments in designated growth areas. 

TM 
& BoS Ongoing 

387 Policy Operate a safe, clean, and efficient fleet of vehicles. 

398 Strategy Prioritize carbon emissions reduction when purchasing new vehicles BoS, PSC & 
PW 

Short Term 

4039 Strategy Develop anti-idling policies for public fleet vehicles, contractors, suppliers,
and vendors, when appropriate to reduce carbon emissions. 

BoS, Dept. 
Heads, TM, 

BoS 
Short Term 

410 Policy Incorporate climate change risk assessment and adaptation into public 
facilities and services planning 

421 Strategy 
Develop criteria to include climate change vulnerability and risk assessment of 
projects that are proposed for inclusion in the capital improvement program.  TM, BoS Short Term 

432 Strategy 

Develop a policy to utilize the Maine Climate Council’s guidance on planning 
and preparing for sea level rise when identifying appropriate sites for new 
construction or redevelopment of town-owned structures and critical 
infrastructure. 

PW, TM, 
BoS Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 25 

Chapter 14: Fiscal Capacity Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL 
CONTINUE TO PLAN FOR AND FINANCE PUBLIC FACILITIES AND 
SERVICES TO ACCOMMODATE ANTICIPATED GROWTH AND ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT. 

2 Policy Finance existing and future facilities and services in a cost-effective
manner. 

3 Strategy Identify cost effective opportunities when extending public sewer, water, and
sidewalks when reviewing development proposals. PB & PD Ongoing 

4 Strategy 
Explore opportunities to work with neighboring communities to plan for and 
finance shared or adjacent capital investments to increase cost savings and 
efficiencies. 

TM Ongoing 

Chapter 15: Recreation & Cultural Resources Responsible 
Party 

Timeframe 

1 GOAL 
PROVIDE HIGH QUALITY PARKS AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES 
AND THE FINEST PROGRAMS, ATHLETICS, EVENTS, AND LEISURE 
ACTIVITIES. 

2 Policy 
Continue to offer an array of recreational and cultural programs, 
classes, and opportunities for residents of all ages and identify 
opportunities to enhance recreational and cultural resources. 

3 Strategy Support the creation of a Parks Master Plan. RC & PRD Short Term 

4 Strategy Maintain and expand virtual recreation and cultural opportunities. RC & PRD Ongoing 

5 Strategy 
Identify locations for programs such as splash pad, sports fields, roller 
hockey, pickle ball, and other uses identified by the Parks and Recreation 
Department and residents as part of a Parks Master Plan. 

RC & PRD Short Term 

6 Strategy Identify public locations that could be used year-round for community 
gatherings as a part of a Parks Master Plan 

RC & PRD Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 26 

7 Strategy 
Involve residents in long-term recreational and cultural resource planning 
efforts. RC & PRD Ongoing 

8 Strategy Continue to support the Recreation Department in programming and
facilities needs. 

RC & BoS Ongoing 

9 Strategy 
Encourage businesses, non-profits, and the RSU 21 to better 
communicate with residents and others about cultural programs in an 
organized and central location such as a community calendar. 

L Short Term 

10 Strategy Continue to host seasonal events that provide social and cultural
opportunities for residents and visitors. 

RC, L, KHS, 
CoC, KBA 

Ongoing 

11 Strategy 
Work with public and private partners to extend and maintain a network 
of trails for motorized and nonmotorized uses. Connect with regional 
trail systems where possible. 

PD & CC Ongoing 

12 Strategy 
Work with an existing local land trust or other conservation organizations 
to pursue opportunities to protect important open space or recreational 
land. 

CC Ongoing 

13 Strategy 

Provide educational materials regarding the benefits and protections for 
landowners allowing public recreational access on their property. At a 
minimum this will include information on Maine’s landowner liability law 
regarding recreational or harvesting use, Title 14, M.R.S.A. §159-A. 

PD Ongoing 

141 GOAL MAINTAIN AND EXPAND ACCESS TO THE SHORE AND RIVERS FOR 
RECREATIONAL USES. 

152 Policy Enhance public access to the water for recreational use. 

163 Strategy Create a public boat launch. BoS, CC Medium Term 

174 Strategy Where parking is appropriate, install signs that indicate points of interest,
parking, and public rights-of-way to the water. 

RC, PW Medium Term 

185 GOAL PREPARE FOR CLIMATE CHANGE. 

196 Policy Integrate climate vulnerability and adaptation into recreational 
planning efforts. 

2017 Strategy 
Identify undeveloped land that is vulnerable to sea-level rise and make 
recommendations on acquisition to act as flooding buffer. CC & BoS Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 27 

2118 Strategy Identify recreational assets that are vulnerable to sea level rise. 
RC, PRD & 

PD Short Term 

2219 Policy Incorporate adaptation strategies into facility design. 

230 Strategy Review parks for adequate canopy cover and plant additional shade trees 
when necessary. 

RC & STC Ongoing 

241 Strategy Evaluate the use of pervious surfaces and other green infrastructure in 
parks to reduce stormwater runoff. 

RC & PW Ongoing 

Chapter 16: Hazard Mitigation Responsible 
Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL MITIGATE VULNERABILITY TO NATURAL HAZARDS, HUMAN-MADE 
HAZARDS, AND CLIMATE CHANGE. 

2 Policy Plan and prepare for hazards. 

3 Strategy Continue to participate in multi-hazard mitigation plan updates and 
encourage public participation in this process. PSC Ongoing 

4 Strategy 
Continue to partner with regional entities and communities to enhance 
evacuation route planning and community education on evacuation routes. PSC Ongoing 

5 Strategy Continue to partner with regional entities and communities to identify 
additional options for shelters. 

PSC Ongoing 

6 Strategy Incorporate planning for pandemics into existing hazard mitigation and 
emergency operations plans to increase preparedness for future pandemics. EM & PH Ongoing 

7 Strategy Encourage participation in the National Flood Insurance Program. CEO, PD Ongoing 

8 Strategy Evaluate the applicability of the Community Rating System in 
Kennebunkport. 

CEO & BoS Medium 
Term 

9 Strategy Educate the public about hazards and strategies to avoid potential damage 
and injury. 

EM & PD Ongoing 

10 Strategy Keep the Town’s emergency operations plan current. EMA Ongoing 

11 Strategy 
Review and update as needed a disaster recovery policy to maintain 
municipal operations. BoS, EM, HD Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 28 

12 Policy Increase community resilience to climate change impacts. 

13 Strategy 
Complete the Maine Flood Resilience Checklist to assess coastal 
vulnerabilities. PD Short Term 

14 Strategy 
As part of the Climate Action Plan, assess non-coastal vulnerabilities to 
establish a comprehensive understanding of current and future climate 
change impacts to people, infrastructure, and natural resources. 

PD Short Term 

15 Strategy 
Seek applicable grant opportunities that will fund projects that will increase 
understanding of vulnerability and mitigate vulnerability. PD Ongoing 

16 Strategy 
Continue to participate in regional efforts to assess and mitigate 
vulnerability. BoS & PD Ongoing 

17 Strategy Continue to incorporate climate adaptation into future updates to the 
Comprehensive Plan. 

GPC Ongoing 

18 Strategy Incorporate hazard mitigation analysis review into planning and zoning 
reviews. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

19 Strategy 
Ensure adequate funding for emergency services, critical infrastructure 
protection, public health services, and hazard identification and mitigation. BoS, BB, TM Ongoing 

Chapter 17: Regional Coordination Responsible 
Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL COORDINATE WITH OTHER COMMUNITIES IN THE REGION 

2 Policy Maintain cooperative agreements with nearby communities that are mutually 
beneficial. 

3 Strategy 
Continue to participate in partnerships that support sustainability and resilience, 
multi-model transportation, river management, aquifer protection, and other 
regional considerations. 

BoS Ongoing 

4 Strategy 
Continue to participate in regional partnerships that support public safety, 
education, communication, emergency management, and other basic services. BoS Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 29 

Chapter 18: Future Land Use 
Responsible 

Party Timeframe 

1 GOAL KEEP THE LAND USE ORDINANCE CURRENT AND ALIGNED WITH THE 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

2 Policy Regularly review and amend the LUO. 
3 Strategy Identify necessary amendments to the LUO on an annual or regular basis. PB & PD Ongoing 

4 Strategy Perform a review of the LUO for consistency with the comprehensive plan and 
make recommendations for warrant articles.  PD Medium 

Term 

5 Strategy 
Review uses in Free Enterprise and Farm and Forest Zones and make 
recommendations for warrant articles.  PD 

Medium 
Term 

6 Strategy Create educational curriculum for boards and committees that are responsible for 
land use decisions and make available to the public. 

PD Short Term 

7 GOAL ENSURE ORDERLY GROWTH AND PREVENT SPRAWL. 

8 Policy 
Encourage growth adjacent to current village centers.  Growth should be 
compatible with and integrated with the existing infrastructure and built 
environment. 

9 Strategy Conduct a build-out analysis on a periodic basis to understand opportunities and
constraints to growth. 

PD Long Term 

10 Strategy 
Review the impact of Growth Management permits on a periodic basis to 
determine its effectiveness in directing growth in a manner that is consistent with 
this Comprehensive Plan. 

GPC & PD Short Term 

11 Strategy 
Develop a long-term plan for sewer and water expansion to accommodate future 
growth. PW & PD Long Term 

12 Strategy Incorporate Traditional Neighborhood Design (TND) principals in the subdivision
regulations for growth areas. 

PB & PD Medium 
Term 

13 Strategy 
Review LUO to ensure consistency with LD 2003, An Act To Implement the 
Recommendations of the Commission To Increase Housing Opportunities in 
Maine by Studying Zoning and Land Use Restrictions. 

PD Short Term 

14 Policy To coordinate the community’s land use strategies with other local and 
regional land use planning efforts. 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 30 

15 Strategy Track new development in the community by type and location. PD Ongoing 

16 Strategy 
Provide the code enforcement officer with the tools, training, and support 
necessary to enforce land use regulations, and ensure that the Code Enforcement 
Officer is certified in accordance with 30-A M.R.S.A. §4451. 

TM, BB, & 
BOS Ongoing 

17 Policy To support the level of financial commitment necessary to provide needed 
infrastructure in growth areas. 

18 Strategy 
Periodically (at least every five years) evaluate implementation of the plan in 
accordance with Section 2.7. PD & GPC Long Term 

194 GOAL ENSURE PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE COAST. 
2015 Policy Establish new public access points. 

2116 Strategy Identify coastal properties that may be appropriate for more public access. RC & PD Medium 
Term 

2217 Strategy Promote land acquisition for the establishment of access for small watercraft. BoS Medium 
Term 

2318 GOAL PRESERVE KENNEBUNKPORT’S OPEN SPACE AND RURAL CHARACTER. 
2419 Policy Identify land that warrants protection and set priorities. 

250 Strategy 
In collaboration with the Kennebunkport Conservation Trust, identify goals and a 
process for land conservation and planning for climate change and present 
recommendations to Selectboard. 

 KCT, PD & 
CC Ongoing 

261 Strategy 
Support Kennebunkport Conservation Trust in its goals of connecting open space 
to allow habitat for wildlife and endangered species, and the enjoyment of the 
natural environment. 

PB & PD Ongoing 

272 Strategy Educate the public about the benefits of conservation easements. CC Ongoing 

283 Strategy Establish a development impact fee to fund land conservation and recreation. PD, TM & 
BoS 

Medium 
Term 

294 GOAL MAINTAIN KENNEBUNKPORT’S SMALL TOWN CHARACTER. 

3025 Policy 
Maintain the aesthetic, historic, and architectural character of 
Kennebunkport’s neighborhoods. 

3126 Strategy Encourage connecting streets, a pedestrian-friendly environment, and small-scale, 
neighborhood commercial services that are geared toward serving local residents. 

PB & PD Ongoing 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 GOALS, POLICIES & STRATEGIES APPENDIX A| 31 

3227 Strategy Preserve Goose Rocks Beach as a safe, limited use, and family-oriented beach. BoS & BAC Ongoing 

3328 Strategy 
Develop the Village Parcel in a manner that is consistent with Kennebunkport’s 
small-town character. PB & PD 

Medium 
Term 

3429 GOAL PLAN FOR A CHANGING CLIMATE. 

350 Policy Steer growth away from areas that will be vulnerable to hazards caused by 
climate change. 

361 Strategy Develop standards for new development in areas that are vulnerable to sea level
rise (SLR) and ground water rise that is induced by SLR. PB & PD Medium 

Term 

372 Strategy 
Complete and maintain the inventory of Town-owned parcels and research 
allowed uses. Climate change impacts should be considered for future uses. BoS & PD Short Term 



KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 CHAPTER 7 NATURAL RESOURCES 137 

Chapter 7 

Natural Resources 
KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2030 

Volume 2 

May 2022 June 2023 



Local food production is an important component of reducing the 
ecological footprint of individuals and communities. The 
ecological footprint is the impact of a person or community on the 
environment, expressed as the amount of land required to sustain 
their use of natural resources. 

Symbol Soil Type Total 
Acres 

Poorly & 
Very Poorly 

Drained 

Farmland 
Soilsa 

Forest Soils 
(Group IIB) 

AdC Adams loamy sand, 8 to 15 percent slopes 4.50 
Ba Beaches, sand 53.19 
BH Beaches, sand-Hooksan complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes 1.61 
HU Hooksan-Urban land complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes 18.16 
LnD Lyman loam, 15 to 25 percent slopes, rocky 6.26 
LyE Lyman-Rock outcrop complex, 15 to 80 percent slopes 317.14 
Pg Pits, gravel 26.57 
RoC Rock outcrop-Lyman complex, 3 to 15 percent slopes 5.59 
RoE Rock outcrop-Lyman complex, 15 to 80 percent slopes 8.55 
ShA Succotash sand, 0 to 3 percent slopes 6.37 
UH Urban land-Hooksan complex, 0 to 8 percent slopes 117.90 
W Water bodies 319.68 
Ur Urban land 32.30 

Total Acres 12,960 4,762.7 1,122.3 143.4 
a Farmland soils in Kennebunkport consist primarily of soils of statewide importance. * denotesprime agricultural soils. 

Agricultural Soils 

Less than one acre in town is considered prime farmland. As 
defined by the US Department of Agriculture, prime farmland is 
land that has the best combination of physical and chemical 
characteristics for producing food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed 
crop and is available for these uses. 16 

Approximately 8.7% of soils are classified designated as farmland 
of statewide importance: areas of soils that nearly meet the 
requirements for prime farmland and that economically produce 
high yields of crops when treated and managed according to 
acceptable farming methods.17 

As noted in the 2012 Comprehensive Plan, sub-optimal growing 

conditions and the high price of land are significant constraints 
on farming. However there are diverse business such as Blackrock 
Farm, Ewe and I, Frinklepond Farm Five Acre Farm, Adams 
Family Christmas Tree Farm, and Wolff Farm scattered 
throughout rural areas of town. The town is home to horses kept 
for riding and cattle and sheep farms. Several of these farms are 
located in the vicinity of the intersection of Gravelly Brook Road, 
Goose Rocks Road, and Arundel Road. 

KENNEBUNKPORT COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – VOLUME 2 CHAPTER 7 NATURAL RESOURCES 146 



CERTIFICATION OF  
PROPOSED ORDINANCE REVISION 

TO:  Tracey O’Roak, the Town Clerk of the Town of Kennebunkport.  In the name of the State of 
Maine, we hereby certify that the Ordinance entitled: 

"2023 Amendment to the Street Opening Ordinance" 

A copy of the 2023 Amendment to the Street Opening Ordinance proposed for approval at the 
Special Town Meeting of the Town of Kennebunkport to be held on November 7, 2023, is on file 
at Town Hall, Graves Memorial Library, and on the Town’s website: www.kennebunkportme.gov. 

Dated this 14th day of September 2023, at Kennebunkport, Maine. 

    ____________________________       __________________________ 
    Jon D. Dykstra       Sheila A. Matthews-Bull 

    ________________________________       ______________________________ 
     Marybeth Gilbert       Allen A. Daggett 

____________________________ 
D. Michael Weston

A majority of the Board of Selectmen of the Town of Kennebunkport 

http://www.kennebunkportme.gov/


AMENDMENT TO CHAPTER 147, ARTICLE II 
 
§ 147-14 Permit required. 
No person, firm or corporation, including utility companies, may make any excavation for 
the construction, repair or replacement of any underground facility in any street, sidewalk 
or public parking lot without having first obtained a permit as herein required. Every permit 
granted shall specify the time during which the excavation may remain open, the place 
where the excavation may be made, and the approximate number of square yards that 
may be disturbed. This section shall not apply to the State of Maine for work performed 
within the State right of way.. 
 
§ 147-15 Emergency excavations. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of § 147-14, emergency excavation for the construction, 
repair or maintenance of an underground facility in any street, sidewalk or public parking 
lot may be undertaken, provided that a permit is applied for on the first working day after 
such excavation is commenced. 
 
§ 147-16 Permit applications. 
A.  Permit applications may be obtained at the Town office. 
B.  The permit application shall be completed by the owner of the property to be 
benefited by the work which necessitates the permit or by the owner's authorized 
representative. Where the excavation is undertaken by a utility company on its own 
behalf, the application shall be completed by such company. 
C.  A completed application, together with an application fee as set by the Board of 
Selectmen, shall be submitted to the Director of Public Works. The party applying for a 
permit must also file a map or sketch with the Director of Public Works, showing the 
location and size of any cuts to be made. After review, the Director of Public Works shall 
forward the application to the Selectmen along with his recommendations. The 
SelectmenDirector of Public Works, applying the standards of this article, may approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the application, for any streets that are not under a 5-
year moratorium.  Any applications for street openings within a moratorium period will 
be forwarded to the Selectboard for disposition. . After approval or approval with 
conditions by the Selectmen, the Director of Public Works shall issue a permit 
conditioned as required by the Selectmen. 
[Amended 11-3-2020] 
 
§ 147-17 Bond. 
 
A.  No such permit shall be issued unless and until the permittee has filed with the Town 
Clerk a performance bond in accordance with the following schedule: 



(1)  Minimum of $52,000 for cross-cut for all openings.; 
(2) $2,000 for parallel openings not exceeding 100 feet in length; or 
(3) $20 per foot for parallel openings in excess of 100 feet in length. 
 

B.  Such bond shall have as surety a corporation licensed to do business in the State of 
Maine as a surety company, and shall extend for a term of at least two years after 
completion of the project. An equivalent amount of cash or certified funds payable to the 
Town may be deposited for the same purpose in lieu of the surety bond required by this 
section. 
 
C.  The Selectmen may, in their discretion, require surety in an amount greater than 
those set forth in the preceding schedule or, as recommended by the Public Works 
Director based on scope of work, for a term in excess of two years in projects where 
they determine that the project, because of its nature, magnitude, or unusual 
circumstances, warrants such additional security. 
 

D.  Notwithstanding any of the above requirements, the Selectmen are hereby given the 
authority to allow utility companies to perform their own repairs, in lieu of posting any 
other surety or performance bond required by this section under the direction of the 
Public Works Director., to instead post an annual bond of $15,000 for the purposes set 
forth in this section. 
 

E. Applicants other than utility companies may post an aggregate bond in January of 
each year to secure a designated number of cuts during that year. The terms of that 
bond and per-cut amount shall be as provided herein for single-cut bonds. Any portion 
of such an aggregate bond not used by December 31 of the year it was posted may not, 
without approval of the Board of Selectmen, be carried over to the following year. 
 
§ 147-18 Insurance. 
A certificate of insurance shall be required with limits of public liability coverage deemed 
by the Selectmen to be sufficient to provide adequate protection to the Town, its citizens 
and the general public. 
 
§ 147-19 Excavation; care required. 
 

A. Prior to excavation work, notice shall be given to the persons maintaining any 
underground facility, or to the municipal department or officer charged with the care 
thereof, which may be injured or affected by the making of any such excavation. Such 



notice shall be made in accordance with state law, as described in 23 M.R.S.A. § 3360-
A. 
B.  Every excavation must be done in a skillful manner. Each permittee shall obtain 
information as to the existence and location of all underground facilities and protect the 
same against damage. 
C. No injury may be done to any underground facility in the making of excavations. In 
order to avoid such injury, an excavator may not use mechanical means of excavation 
when excavating within 18 inches of any unmarked underground facilities until such 
facilities have been exposed. Notwithstanding this limitation, mechanical means are 
permitted, as reasonably necessary, for initial penetration and removal of pavement, 
rock, or other materials requiring the use of mechanical means of excavation. 
 

D. No damage may be done to any tree or shrub or the roots thereof in the making of 
any such excavation. The owner of such tree or shrub shall be compensated by the 
permittee for any damage done. 
 

E. Except by permission of the Director of Public Works, an excavator may not leave 
open at any time a trench or excavation of a greater length than 200 feet. 
 
F. The above requirements are not intended to supersede State or Federal requirements. 
 
§ 147-20 Restoring surface; minimum standards. 
 

A.  Any person, firm or corporation making any excavation in or under any street, 
sidewalk or public parking lot shall restore the surface to its original condition or better, 
in accordance with the minimum standards contained herein. 
 

B. Excavation work, including procedures and materials, shall conform to said minimum 
standards and to such other standards of the Director of Public Works as may be 
adopted by the Selectmen as a condition of permit approval. 
 

C. Minimum standards shall include the following: 
 

(1) In all cases, replaced bituminous asphalt shall include a grinded joint where it joints 
existing unimproved bituminous asphalt. 
 

(2) Parallel, diagonal, cross or right-angle streetAll street openings temporary repairs 
shall be conducted in the following manner up to five feet in width or 10 feet in length 
shall: 



 Pavement shall be saw cut with clean lines a minimum of 1 foot beyond the 
perimeter of the excavation. 

 Be backfilled with ¾” crushed packing gravel and compacted until 95% 
compaction is achieved.  

 After proper compaction is achieved, include new bituminous asphalt consisting 
of 42.5 inches of binder or base mix (19mm) applied in two, 2” lifts should be 
installed and properly compacted. Tack coat shall be applied to all edges., or 
thickness equivalent to the existing bituminous asphalt, whichever is greater, and 
one inch of surface mix confined within the limit of the opening. 

  

(3) All street opening permanent repairs shall be conducted in the following manner 
after one year/frost cycle (See detail/cross sections below.): 

 Pavement shall be cold milled to a depth of 1-1.5 inches at a minimum distance 
of 6 inches beyond the perimeter of the temporary repair. 

 Tack coat shall be applied to all milled surfaces at a rate of .06 - .08 gal./sq. yd 
 The cold milled area will be overlayed with 9.5 mm surface mix asphalt as per 

MDOT requirements. 
 



 



 



 



 
 
(3)  Parallel, diagonal, cross or right-angle street openings in excess of five feet in width, 
but less than 10 feet in width, or up to 10 feet in length, but less than 20 feet in length, 
shall include new bituminous asphalt consisting of 2.5 inches of binder or base mix, or 
thickness equivalent to the existing bituminous asphalt, whichever is greater, confined 



within the limit of the opening. The full width of the paved street or sidewalk shall be 
paved five feet beyond the end of the opening and five feet prior to the beginning of the 
opening with not less than one inch of surface mix. 
 
(4) Parallel, diagonal, cross or right-angle street openings in excess of 10 feet in width 
or 20 feet in length shall include new bituminous asphalt consisting of 2.5 inches of 
binder or base mix, or thickness equivalent to the existing bituminous asphalt, 
whichever is greater, confined within the limit of the opening. The full width of the paved 
street or sidewalk shall be paved 20 feet beyond the end of the opening and 20 feet 
prior to the beginning of the opening with not less than one inch of surface mix. 
 
§ 147-21 Excavations in reconstructed streets. 
[Added 11-3-2020] 

Whenever the Town has developed plans to reconstruct a street, the Town or its 
representative shall give written notice thereof to all abutting property owners, to the Town 
departments, and to all public utilities that have or may wish to lay pipes, wires or other 
facilities in or under the highway. Upon receipt of such written notice, such person or utility 
shall have 60 days in which to install or lay any such facility. If an extension of time is 
needed by a person or utility for the installation of such facilities, the person or facility 
shall make a written application to the Town during the sixty-day notice period explaining 
fully the reasons for requesting such an extension of time. At the expiration of the time 
fixed or extended and after such street has been reconstructed, no permit shall be granted 
to open such street for a period of five years from installation of hot-mixed asphalt surface 
course layer unless an emergency condition exists or unless the necessity for making 
such installation could not reasonably have been foreseen at the time such notice was 
given. The above-mentioned five-year moratorium for street openings also pertains to all 
new public or private streets, i.e., new subdivisions or developments that have been 
accepted in accordance with Town specifications. The Town shall publish an annual 
street opening moratorium list with year of notice and year of expiration for each street. 
This section should not be construed to supersede Maine DOT street opening regulations 
for roads maintained by the State of Maine. 
 
Restoring surface; minimum standards. 
A. Any person, firm or corporation making any excavation in or under any street, 
sidewalk or public parking lot shall restore the surface to its original condition or better, 
in accordance with the minimum standards contained herein. 
 



B. Excavation work, including procedures and materials, shall conform to said minimum 
standards and to such other standards of the Director of Public Works as may be 
adopted by the Selectmen as a condition of permit approval. 
 
C. Minimum standards shall include the following: 
 
(1) In all cases, replaced bituminous asphalt shall include a grinded joint where it joints 
existing unimproved bituminous asphalt. 
 
(2) All street opening temporary repairs shall be conducted in the following manner as 
indicated in § 147-20 C.2 : 

 Pavement shall be saw cut with clean lines a minimum of 1 foot beyond the 
perimeter of the excavation. 

 Be backfilled with ¾” crushed packing gravel and compacted until 95% 
compaction is achieved.  

 After proper compaction is achieved, new bituminous asphalt consisting of 4 
inches of binder or base mix (19mm) applied in two, 2” lifts should be installed and 
properly compacted. Tack coat shall be applied to all edges. 

(3) All street opening permanent repair shall be conducted in the following manner after 
one year/frost cycle as indicated in § 147-20 C.2 with the exception of the increased 
milling/overlay distance requirement indicated below  : 

 Pavement shall be cold milled to a depth of 1.5 inches at a minimum distance 
of 20 feet beyond the perimeter of the temporary repair. 

 Tack coat shall be applied to all milled surfaces at a rate of .06 - .08 gal./sq. yd 
 The cold milled area will be overlayed with 9.5 mm surface mix asphalt as per 

MDOT requirements. 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



Item 9

































 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



T O W N  O F  K E N N E B U N K P O R T, M A I N E 
– INCORPORATED 1653 –

6 Elm Street, P.O. Box 566, Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 
Tel: (207) 967-4243 Fax: (207) 967-8470 

Memorandum

To: Board of Selectmen and Laurie Smith 
Fr: Yanina Nickless, Director of Support Services 
Re: Website Committee Recommendation 
Dt: September 5, 2023 

Since the last update on July 13, 2023, the Website Advisory Committee, comprised 
of residents, business owners, and employees, has been engaged in a few important 
interactions. After a collaborative effort of drafting an RFP and releasing it to the 
potential website vendors, we received 6 proposals. These proposals were officially 
opened on July 28, 2023, and had the following amounts: 

Revize $17,700.00 
Lab Information Technology Inc. $28,500.00 
CivicPlus $33,810.10 
Exemplifi $80,000.00 
Promet Source $66,939.00 
TownWeb Design $18,200.00 

To streamline the evaluation process, we developed proposal packets and a ranking 
table. These materials were distributed among the committee members, giving them 
enough time to assess the proposals thoroughly. Over the course of a few weeks, 
the committee members filled out the table and returned it with their top preferences 
and comments.  

This process helped us to identify the top three promising vendors with whom we 
scheduled further demonstrations on September 1. These three vendors - CivicPlus, 
Revize, and TownWeb – earned their place in the top three due to their extensive 
experience in municipal website development, cost-effectiveness, and commitment 
to meeting the project timeline.  

Following these presentations, the committee had a chance to engage in a deeper 
discussion about the pros and cons of each company. The final recommendation 
from the Website Advisory Committee is Revize. There are a few reasons for this 
choice:  

• Flexibility (Revize builds their own platform)
• The admin side of the website is easy to use
• Pragmatic in content migration and search
• Improved E-notify system (text messages and emails)
• Free re-design in 4 years
• Great support team
• Price-sensitive orientation (lower cost, but still good value)

We budgeted for $20,000 in the Capital budget for this project.  

Item 10





WEBSITE PROPOSAL FOR 

The Town of 

Kennebunkport, Maine 

Prepared by Thomas J. Jean 

Thomas.Jean@revize.com 

150 Kirts Blvd. Troy, MI 48084 

Ph: 248-269-9263 x8035 Fax: 866-346-8880 

www.revize.com July 27, 2023 

http://www.revize.com/


  

 
  

 

 



  

 
  

Revize Clients! 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

  
Michael Bruckner, Assistant to the City Manager,  

City of Arcadia, CA 

“Revize has done it again! Another game changing, cutting 

edge website that moves the industry forward by connecting 

citizens to services in as few clicks as possible.” 

 

http://www.arcadiaca.gov/
http://www.camdenmaine.gov/
http://www.cumberlandcountyme.gov/
http://www.dsm.city/
http://www.gatlinburgtn.gov/
http://www.largo.com/
http://www.newbern-nc.org/
http://www.olympiawa.gov/
http://www.southberwickmaine.org/
http://www.stpete.org/
http://www.troymi.gov/


  

 
  

Dear Town of Kennebunkport Website Selection Committee 

 

Thank you for considering Revize as your web development partner. For nearly two 

decades, Revize has been a leader in providing high-quality, government-compliant 

web solutions. A myriad of industry awards and hundreds of satisfied clients stand as 

a testament to the quality and value of our work. 

 

Every member of the Revize team understands that your website is more than a 

website. It’s a valuable resource that can help you build a better community.  

 

Visitors are drawn to websites that are appealing yet functional, user-friendly with a 

plethora of services, and accessible on a wide range of devices. A Revize website will 

allow your residents and businesses to easily fill out and submit documents, review 

and pay bills and taxes, perform searches to answer frequently asked questions and 

perform a suite of other tasks that would otherwise require staff assistance.  What’s 

more, a Revize website will enable you to increase staff productivity and decrease 

costs by reducing off-line departmental operations.  

 

 

• City of Largo, FL   www.largo.com    

• New Bern, NC   www.newbern-nc.org  

• City of Arcadia, CA   www.arcadiaca.gov  

• City of St. Petersburg, FL  www.stpete.org  

• City of Des Moines, IA  www.dsm.city   

• And Many More! 

 

We will work closely with you to design and develop a dynamic, functional and easy 

to navigate website that will perfectly fit your community. Then we empower you to 

control your digital presence with the industry’s best administrative management 

applications. Revize training ensures that your team has the skills needed to expertly 

update and manage website content and delivery.   

http://www.largo.com/
http://www.newbern-nc.org/
http://www.arcadiaca.gov/
http://www.stpete.org/
http://www.dsm.city/


  

 
  

Government clients select Revize because we can help them

• Effectively engage residents. 

• Enhance their web presence and build an online communications center.  

• Empower non-technical web content editors and administrators to easily execute 

changes.  

• Implement a scalable solution that allows them to affordably grow their web 

presence for the long term. 

 

“Revize Websites build engagement 
with your constituents.” 

 

We have worked hard to establish a reputation for creating online community 

websites that engage, inform, and increase participation of your community.  With 

our help, your community’s website can serve your residents better, inspire them 

more, and get them actively involved in your government.  

 

Please contact me if you have any questions at all.  

 

Sincerely, 

 

Thomas J. Jean 

Project Manager 

248-269-9263 x8035 

Thomas.Jean@revize.com 

mailto:Thomas.Jean@revize.com


  

 
  

Executive Summary 
 

Thank you for considering Revize Software Systems for your new website project. 

We understand the importance of this undertaking and know how motivated your 

government/community is to selecting the right vendor; one who will work with you 

through all the steps required to build the perfect website featuring a plethora of 

high quality online services that your constituents will want to use regularly. 

In more than two decades of working with government leaders, as well as through 

nationwide surveys, we have learned that the key to choosing a website vendor is 

finding the right balance between the total cost of the solution and the quality of the 

design, online apps and user functionality. In simpler terms, you need a solution that 

works for you and serves your constituents. 

 

With approximately 3,000 government websites launched nationwide, Revize 

Software Systems is one of the industry’s leading providers. We credit our rapid 

growth to our 20-year track record of building award-winning government websites 

and content management systems. When you work with Revize, you’re not just a 

client, you become part of the Revize family and will receive the service and support 

you need and expect!  We are among the most highly respected government website 

experts in the United States and we proudly stand by our work.  

 

Revize has been a pioneer in implementing the latest trends in design by using 

Responsive Web Design (RWD). This technology ensures that site visitors have an 

optimal viewing experience — easy reading and navigation with a minimum of 

resizing, panning, and scrolling — across a wide range of devices, from desktop 

monitors to mobile phones.  RWD provides flexible and fluid website layouts that 

adapt to almost any screen. When you implement a dynamic new website powered 

by Revize, you will not only get an outstanding look, layout and navigation, but you 

also receive 24/7 access to our Government Communication Center for residents, 

business and visitors.  



  

 
  

• Public Service Request App 

• Calendar of Events 

• E-Notification Modules 

• On-Line Payment Portal 

• Facilities Reservations 

• News Center with Facebook/Twitter 

Integration 

• Emergency Alerts 

• Online Forms / Survey Tools 

• E-Newsletter Applications 

• Job Posting and Tracking Module 

• Public Records Request Tracker

 

Revize is renowned as a leader in providing practical, high-value, easy to use content 

management software Government CMS. This simple-to-use yet powerful solution 

enables clients to manage their online presence with high functionality and style. 

With applications such as an online document center, public service request app, 

public records request tracker, agendas and minutes, frequently asked questions and 

more, Revize ensures that our clients have the tools they need to make information 

and services available for website users at the click of a mouse. 

 

Revize addresses time concerns by completing websites in considerably less time 

than our competitors. And because our software is so easy to use, we are also able to 

effectively train our clients in less than half the time it takes our competitors. Our 

training program is customized based on each client’s needs, and we provide hands 

on training the way you want it - either onsite or off site through web conferencing 

tools. We pride ourselves on the skills of our support staff, who are responsive, 

knowledgeable and helpful. Our online support portal is available 

24X7X365 for issue tracking and management. We also provide 

phone and email support during regular business hours. 

 

 

Did you know? 

Our technical support staff are trained 

developers. When you call for tech support, 

you’ll be speaking to staff with direct 

knowledge of development! 

 
 



  

 
  

Company Background 
 
FOUNDED  

1995 

 

HEADQUARTERS 

150 Kirts Blvd. 

Troy, MI 48084 

PHONE  

248-269-9263 

 

WEB SITE 

www.revize.com

 

Revize Software Systems was founded in June, 1995 as a "new media" development 

company specializing in the creation of interactive web design, multimedia content 

delivered on CD-ROM, and video production. Since then, Revize has made an 

unsurpassed name for itself in the web/internet industry as THE master of 

government website design, which remains our specialty. We now boast more than 

3,000 websites launched in North America and have created acclaimed website 

designs for hundreds of municipalities and counties, as well as government 

departments and agencies. In September, 1996 as the Internet was becoming a 

world-wide reality, Revize began developing a Web Content Management System 

(CMS) for the government market to enable non-technical contributors to quickly 

and easily update content on their websites. The result was the creation of our state-

of-the-art Revize Government CMS. Our mission has always been to enhance the 

communications of government organizations nationwide with their varied and 

valued audiences. This is based on our vision statement, which reads:  

 

“The empowerment of people 
through simplified information 

management technologies.”
 

Focused exclusively on creative web design, government web apps and content 

management technologies, Revize continues to invest in its technology, continually 

adding new capabilities and features that manifest our vision. While many 

http://www.revize.com/


  

 
  

municipalities choose Revize to develop and cost-effectively manage their website 

content, clients also use Revize as an information-sharing platform. Our suite of 

Revize Government web-based solutions has proven valuable as a powerful 

technology that empowers clients to build and maintain sophisticated web sites, all 

while using the Internet and internal Intranets/Extranets to acquire, analyze, process, 

summarize and share information – ensuring that the right people always have the 

right information at the right time. 

 

“We are proud of our award winning web designs, 
technologies, continued innovations to build 

government centric modules and apps, web content 
management, training and support capabilities. We 
are especially proud of being recognized as one of 
the industry’s top government website experts and 

innovators. We are committed to pursuing the 
continued evolution of all our services to provide 

increased value to our government clients.” 

 

 

Did you know? 

Revize has won national awards for our 

websites! 



  

 
  

Revize Organization Chart 



  

 
  

Why Choose Revize? 
 
We Have Government Specific Experience and Outstanding Client Testimonials 

You can rely on Revize and our 20 years of experience building and maintaining 

websites for municipal, county and government agencies of all sizes throughout 

North America, to deliver a customized site design that improves layout, navigation, 

usability and content. Using Revize ensures that your website will be reliable, W3C 

and ADA compliant, and allow for easy integration with existing or future web 

applications and third-party software. But there’s no need to take our word for it -- 

we encourage you to peruse our massive file of testimonials from our many satisfied 

clients. 

We Will Build a Government Communication Center that Works for Your 

Community! 

The Revize website design, Government CMS and interactive tool sets have been 

developed exclusively for our government clients to help them effectively 

communicate with their key target audiences such as residents, businesses and 

visitors. Some of our most popular website and Government applications and 

modules include: a new and improved Online Calendar, the comprehensive Forms 

Center, our News Center with real-time social media connectivity, Emergency Alerts, 

E-Notifications, Citizen Request Tracker, Parks & Shelter Reservations System, 

Document Center, and Online Payment Portal. 

 

“We Build Superior Technology 
into Every Website with CMS 

Performance & Reliability That’s 
Second to None.” 



  

 
  

 

What sets Revize apart from other companies? Revize’s superior technical 

architecture, unsurpassed staff expertise and highly effective publishing engine 

provide our government clients with the most reliable website solutions in the 

industry today. By ensuring our client’s data security and providing redundant server 

architecture and back-up data centers, Revize has a nearly 100% up-time rate. Plus, 

our clients never have to worry about data loss or data corruption because of our 

instantaneous back-up process and our data center’s tape back-up processes. Revize 

believes that investing a higher percentage of our profits into our technology and 

security makes us the best choice for the short and long term for governments 

seeking the best value for their community’s website. 

 

“We Always Provide Knowledgeable,  
Friendly and Responsive Service!” 

 

All this, and a reliable IT partner too! Our website development is superior, and our 

Government CMS and suite of online apps is easy to learn and administer, but our 

24/7 technical support will also be there for you to help you get over the hurdles!  

Our technical support team is widely considered to be among the industry’s best. We 

also provide a sophisticated backup infrastructure which allows us to guarantee 

99.99 percent uptime. Plus regular updates and improvements to ensure that your 

site will remain current with industry standards and keep running smoothly for years 

to come. The Client Owns the CMS License and the Code! 

 

We often hear the question: “What happens if we want to move the website to 

another vendor?  Do we lose all access or any of our website data?”  The answer is 

100% NO!  As our client, you own the template source code, the CMS, and any data 

that you put onto the website. We understand that clients may come and they go, 

but we always make sure they know they are just as important to us at the end of our 

tenure as they were at the beginning. If you decide to run the CMS in your own 

server, we can transfer the CMS license and software to your server as you own the 

license and you can run it from your server as long as you want. 



  

 
  

 

• Modern, timeless and unique website design integrated with online Government 

apps 

• On-time delivery 

• Competitive pricing 

• Responsible stewardship of the organization’s stakeholders  

• Full functionality to update and manage your website  

• All the tools/apps needed to increase communications with citizens 

• An easy CMS to train employees quickly 

• Extended phone and email support  

• Unlimited Upgrades: Revize provides unlimited upgrades to new and existing 

modules at no additional cost to you. Once you invest in Revize, you will receive 

free upgrades and feature enhancements for life. 

 

“The Revize responsive website design is second to 
none for us providing an excellent experience for the 
growing number of residents, visitors and businesses 

accessing WylieTexas.gov on mobile devices. Our 
website’s 

progressive look captures the vibrant culture 
of our community.  

 

— Craig Kelly, Public Information Officer, City of 

Wylie, TX 

  

Did you know? 

Revize CMS is one of the most advanced 

CMS in the government web design 

industry with over 15 years of 

development.  

 

 



  

 
  

Awards & Accolades 
 

“The project was a collaboration between Revize, who 
understood our vision and had the technical expertise to 
make it happen” 

 
- MaryLee Woods, Deputy Chief Information Officer for the City 

  



  

 
  

Team Composition 
 
Revize understands the importance of having a talented and experienced staff. We 

are proud of our well-respected team of top notch experts in the field of government 

website design, development, analysis, content management, training and support. 

From the first creative concepts through to the design phases, and from site launch 

to training of personnel and continued support of your website project, we have the 

right group of seasoned professionals to work with you through the website process 

and beyond.  We are pleased to introduce them: 

• Thomas Jean: Project Manager  

• Jade Wang:  Web Designer  

• Alex Parent:  Web Designer  

• Samir Alley:  Creative Arts Director/Web Designer  

• Denise Brazier: Project Coordinator/Revize CMS Trainer 

• Jamie Phy:  Revize CMS Integrator/ Backend Developer  

• Richard Opiniano:  HTML Developer  

• Joseph Nagrant:  Account Manager  

• Derek Ortiz:  Chief Technology Officer 

• Akshaya Ray: Cloud Server Architect 

• Many More! 

 



  

 
  

Thomas Jean 

 

As a project manager, Thomas has managed many award-winning website projects 

for our clients, including Des Moines, IA – Arcadia, CA – Largo, FL - Oswego County, 

NY – Kentwood, MI! Thomas has brought to Revize a very special skill set. Not only 

does he manage some of our highest priority projects, he is also a genuine subject 

matter expert when it comes to the inner workings of government. As an elected 

Township Trustee in a Michigan Township, he knows the advantages that come with 

modernizing the way government does business. With his unique background and 

education from one of the nation’s top universities, Thomas has managed nearly 

Thomas is uniquely experienced to give an honest and accurate assessment of your 

community’s website needs. 

 

• Philosophy: Learn as much as possible about our clients and use that 

knowledge to help build an amazing website. 

• Education: BA degree in Political Science from University of Michigan;  

• Expertise: Government procedure, special projects, public affairs, community 

development. 

• Role on your website project: Project Manager 

 

 

 

 

  



  

 
  

Denise Brazier 

 

Denise is an educator by nature. Her 20 years of experience in the public school 

system has made her a master of engaging participants during training. She 

effortlessly builds effective relationships with all clients. Denise has served as 

Advisory Counselor, Coordinator, Publicity Director, and Project Manager for several 

organizations in the education, non-profit and public sectors. She has been 

appointed to the state’s quality committee evaluating organizational policies and 

procedures for recognition.  

 

• Philosophy: “Always explain things in the terms of your audience to ensure their 

understanding” 

• Education & Training: MS in the Art of Education from Marygrove College. 

Certification in Secondary Education 

• Expertise: Training, education, teaching, public affairs and project management. 

• Role on your website project: Trainer for the Content Management toolset and 

project manager 

 

 

 

  



  

 
  

Ray Akshaya 

Ray has 20+ years of extensive technical experience with internet and website 

solutions. He has worked on hundreds of government, non-profit and educational 

websites and has a keen eye for web visitor requirements, information architecture, 

and usability. He is also a long-time veteran of Revize Software Systems and our 

clients enjoy working with him. In his career, he has deployed and/or assisted with 

technical solutions for more than 500 websites. When working on a project, Ray 

always visualizes himself in the client’s chair at the closing stages of the project and 

makes sure that all decisions made on a project are in alignment with the client’s 

vision and best practices for developing the system. 

• Philosophy: “Work Hard, Help People and Live Honest." 

• Education: MS in Engineering Science, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge 

• Expertise: Client Management, Project Management, Technology Development for 

CMS & Web Apps 

• Role on your website project: Technical Director 

 

Samir Alley 

Samir has more than a decade of experience in managing web site design projects. 

He has deployed 360+ municipal websites and has a solid background in web design 

and the latest web technologies. Formerly with Google, Samir is a leader equipped to 

handle any kind of sophisticated web project. He is an exceptional communicator 

with an innate listening skill that gives him the ability to understand and deploy a 

client’s unspoken needs. Samir’s blend of creativity, proficiency, and technical 

knowledge is unsurpassed in the industry.   

• Philosophy: “Empathy, Focus, and… Impute” 

• Expertise: Web Project Management - Adobe Design Premium CS5.5: Photoshop, 

Illustrator, InDesign, Flash, DreamWeaver, Fireworks, HTML, CSS, CSS3, SEO, PHP, 

JavaScript, MySQL, JQuery and HTML5. 

• Role on your website project: Graphic design of website and backup support. 

 



  

 
  

Joseph J Nagrant 

Joseph is an accomplished professional internet and website design consultant with 

more than 20 years of successful business development and account management 

leadership experience. He has worked with well over 400 townships, cities, counties, 

educational institutions, companies, and non-profit organizations. He’s a foremost 

expert in translating technical solutions into compelling living websites and other 

online community building opportunities. Additionally, he is a board member for Mott 

Community College (Flint, MI) MTEC Center, IT Advisory Council, Education Advisory 

Group. He also participates in many government discussions regarding the Internet 

for government use, including being a frequent guest on WDET (NPR) public radio 

and in The Detroit News. He has an excellent reputation for building and sustaining 

effective, long lasting client relationships.   

Did you know? 

Revize will put together a project team based on the unique needs of your project! 

 
 



  

 
  

Proposed Approach & Methodology 
 

Project Planning and Setup 

What makes Revize unique in its project approach and experience is our thorough 

preparation for each individual community combined with the range of website 

deployments and creative, customized fit we implement for each client. From small 

to large, rural to urban, the Revize project management process guarantees a perfect 

fit between the concept of the deployment and the expectations of the client’s level 

of engagement preferences.  

 

We don’t use a “one size fits all” approach because 
it doesn’t make sense. 

 

However we do use a standard, proven effective process methodology. Each client is 

unique and we tailor our process to fit their unique needs. For as long as you are our 

client you will have staff dedicated to your account and access to an on-line portal 

for communication, design process and on-going support. 

 

Dedicated Accounts Manager: Your dedicated Account Manager will handle all 

issues related to your contract, pricing, future product add-ons, and general account 

satisfaction. During the initial kick-off meeting, your Account Manager will introduce 

you to the team, explain roles and responsibilities, and place you in the very capable 

hands of your Dedicated Project Manager and Designer.  

 

Dedicated Project Manager: Your dedicated Project Manager will handle all issues 

related to the website design, development, navigation, content, training, timelines 

and deliverables, as well as ensuring that feedback and communication occurs 

promptly in order to keep the project on-track. Also, the dedicated project manager 

will be the point of contact for any future technical support or issues that need to be 

addressed during the deployment and post deployment of the site. 

 



  

 
  

 

24/7/365 Project Portal Access: From day one, your project and on-going support is 

tracked in the Revize On-line Project Portal. The main point of contact you select for 

the project will receive an invitation to register, including setting up a secure user 

name and password. The Project Portal serves as a communication tool for any 

matter pertaining to your website design, development and on-going support even 

after your website is launched. 

 

 

“We guarantee the best support in the industry 
that’s 24/7 365 by the trained developers & 

technicians”

Did you know? 

Revize will provide a project portal that allows you to check in on the status of your 

project at any time! 

 
 



  

 
  

Revize Project Life Cycle 
 

Phase 1: Initial Meeting, Communication Strategy, SOW 

Your Revize Account Manager will set up the initial internal project planning meeting 

where we will talk about the overall management of your project, establish a timeline, 

and devise a Revize-Client Communication Strategy that will keep everyone engaged 

and up-to-date on the progress of the project. We will also discuss specific technical 

requirements of the project and determine the phases through which those 

requirements will be addressed. In addition, Revize will address the content strategy 

of the new site, any new content that needs to be written and how to fit the existing 

content into the new site, Additionally, as an optional item, Revize will discuss the 

process of conducting online surveys to gather feedback from your constituents for 

the new website layout and requirements. After this meeting, Revize will develop a 

Statement of Work and provide it to the client for review and approval.  

Prior to the design kick-off meeting, you will receive our questionnaire to complete 

with various answers that will help our designers gather information regarding your 

needs and preferences. Our team will also brainstorm ideas and suggestions with you 

during the meeting.  

 
The questionnaire addresses various issues such as: 

• As a result of a new website design and navigation, what are the main 

improvements you hope to achieve? 

• What are some key points and areas you may want featured on the Home Page?  

• Do you need help with logo design? Image? Marketing & branding?   

• What key modules do you want featured in your web site, like Document Center, 

Report a Request, News & Events, Events Calendar etc. 

• Do you need social media features need to be highlighted in the new site? etc.. 

 

Phase 2: Discovery & Design 

If there is client approval, we will collect feedback from the residents on the new 

design layout by setting up an online survey with a set of standard questions. The 

survey questions need to be approved by the client prior to our adding a link from 

your current website. This link can also be distributed through other channels like 

email, newsletter or any other form of communications you might be using to stay in 

touch with your residents. Usually there is a 1- to 2-week survey period.



  

 
  

Once survey results have been tabulated and your needs have been determined, you 

and your Revize team will participate in a Design Kick-Off Meeting. A senior designer 

and team will conduct an in-depth interview, and brainstorm ideas with you about 

your vision for the look and feel of your custom website. Our efforts on this project 

will extend far beyond placement of provided information within a stunning design. 

It’s about uncovering how your audience wants to be informed, and applying our 20+ 

years of web design and development expertise to create the most effective ways of 

displaying that information and getting users to access and use your website. We 

always strive for nothing less than an award winning design! 

 

Phase 3: Template Development, CMS Integration 

First, the Revize development team will transform the approved designs from mere 

pictures into fully-functioning HTML/CSS and Revize Smart Tag enabled web page 

templates using the Revize Dreamweaver Extension. The Revize Smart Tags are fully 

customizable and allow customers to expand functionality as needed. To maximize 

this extensibility, the full Revize Java API is provided to clients with our Advanced 

Training Program.  

 

Phase 4: CMS Modules Setup 

In this phase, all of the features and modules the client has requested will be set up, 

e.g. calendar, document center, picture galleries, alert center, e-Notify, etc. are all 

brought to life and made functional while also being tested in the Revize CMS. Revize 

enhances current modules and adds new modules continuously, and you will receive 

all future updates to modules at no additional cost. 

 

  



  

 
  

Phase 5: Custom Functionality Development & QA Testing 

In this phase and according to your specifications, custom functionality of existing 

CMS modules, database scripting and programming, as well as any custom 

application development will be executed. The Revize development team will be 

interfacing directly with your technical staff to obtain information and test 

information exchange and application functionality.  

 

This phase may overlap phases 2 – 4.  

 

In our testing phase, we ensure that your website meets functionality, performance 

and security standards. Our QA team uses mock data to test navigation and 

interfaces of the templates, along with any custom developed applications or 

modules. Additionally, through a series of tests, we perform input validation to 

ensure that security mechanisms cannot be bypassed if anybody tampers with data 

he or she sends to the application, including HTTP requests, headers, query strings, 

cookies, and form fields. We also ensure that when errors do occur, they are 

processed in a secure manner to reduce or eliminate exposure of sensitive 

implementation information.  



  

 
  

Phase 6: Content Development / Content Migration 

Revize will develop all of the pages for your site to make the initial content available 

upon site deployment. Our content development and migration experts use the 

latest standard formatting practices to develop the navigation and create the most 

effective content possible for your website. This includes spelling and style 

corrections into the new website. 

There are no limits to the number of pages you can 
create after you have gone through training. 

Revize will implement an effective website architecture with the latest technology 

and usability trends so your website visitors can find information in an instant. We 

will also assess your current website content and incorporate what you currently 

have with additional content to maximize interest and excitement for your readers. 

Our content experts are educated in proper writing and terminology, and will use 

correct grammar, spelling and punctuation. 

 

Our web designers use creative typography which makes the website more visually 

appealing and also plays a role in defining the hierarchy of content to be placed on 

the web page. Variations in size and color are used, as well as strategic placement on 

the page to highlight certain site areas so the visitors can easily navigate the site. 

Effective typography also ensures that your website will look good on desktop, 

laptop, mobile and tablet devices. 

 

Phase 7: Training Your Staff (in-person or web based training) 

Once your website is ready for you to begin editing, you will be able to easily revise 

your content as often as needed. Revize will train you on how to operate the 

Administrative and Content Editor functions so you can manage your website. We 

typically provide this training on-site; however, we can also provide on-line training 

for your staff if you prefer. For your convenience, training materials can be 

downloaded from the Revize website. After training, our friendly and responsive 

support staff is always here to answer questions and provide training refreshers as 

needed.  



  

 
  

 

Standard Training Agendas 

Basic Administrator Training (How to) 

• Sign-in 

• Create users  

• Assign roles 

• Set page level permissions 

• Set section level permissions 

• Configure and set up workflow approval process 

 

Content Editor Training (How to) 

• Sign-in  

• Edit page content 

• Copy/paste content or add new 

• Create a file link 

• Create a link to another web page or external web site 

• Create a new page and link to it 

• Insert/update a picture 

• Insert/update a table 

• Spell check 

• Save and Save as Draft 

• History of the page content (content archive) 

• Create a survey form or any other type of online web form 

• Create navigation pages (top/left menus) 

• Create new calendar and create/edit calendar events 

• Edit metadata 

 

Advanced Administrator Training (How to) 

• Run back-end reports 

• Run Google Analytics reports 

 

Training on use of specific Modules included, such as 

• Emergency Notification Center 

• Public Service Request App 

• Web Calendar 

• E-Notify 

• Quick Links 

• Document Center 

• Form Center 

• News Center 



  

 
  

• Frequently Asked Questions 

• Request Center 

• Bid Posting Center 

• Job Posting Application 

• RSS 

• And more…. 

 

Revize Maintenance Covers 

• 4 CMS upgrades per year 

• Software and modules upgrades (Automatic Install) 

• Server Hardware & OS upgrades 

• Immediate bug fixes/patches 

• Round the clock server monitoring 

• Data Center network upgrades 

• Security and antivirus software upgrades 

• Firewall and router upgrades 

• Bandwidth and network infrastructure upgrades 

• Remote backup of all website assets 

• Tape backup of all website assets 

• Quarterly newsletters on major feature updates 

• Regular Webinars on CMS features and usage 

 

 

Did you know? 

Revize has launched hundreds of municipal and county websites large and small! 

 
 



  

 
  

Phase 8: Final Phase: You Go Live! 

At last, your website content is complete and your staff is sufficiently trained! The 

final phase in the process is to redirect your website domain name from your old site 

to your beautiful new one. Once this is completed, Revize will closely monitor the 

transfer for the first 24 hours to ensure that everything is working properly. Any 

issues that arise will be immediately resolved. 

 

Marketing & Ongoing Consultation 

Revize seizes on every effort to make our clients’ sites highly visible. We draft press 

releases for posting on our website and for distribution locally, and will continuously 

monitor your site after it goes live so that you can take advantage of all marketing 

opportunities. We also look to submit your site for different awards and recognition 

competitions to further maximize your site’s exposure. 

 

Search Engine Registration and Marketing 

Revize will input all the targeted keywords to make your web pages search engine 

friendly, thus enabling users to find targeted information when they do a Google, 

Yahoo or any other search on your site. 

 

 

  



Revize Cloud Hosting, Disaster Recovery, & Security

Resilient Hosting: 

Revize uses Amazon Web Services (AWS) Hosting Infrastructure that is offered in 

multiple Regions in the United States and around the World. Each Region is a 

separate geographic area completely isolated one from another. AWS Regions are 

connected to multiple Internet Service Providers (ISPs) and to a private global 

network backbone to offer lower cost and more consistent cross-region network 

latency when compared with the public internet 

A region has multiple, isolated locations known as Availability Zones (AZ). 

Availability Zones are inter-connected through low-latency links. A Virtual Private 

Center (VPC) spans across multiple availability zones. 

Revize Web Sites are hosted on a Virtual Machine running Windows Server operating 

system with Internet Information Service (IIS) as a Web Server. Virtual Machine is an 

EC2 instance in AWS terms is hosted inside a VPC in an availability zone of a pre-



selected region. A number of EC2 are provisioned in multiple locations across the 

United States inside a Virtual Private Center isolated from the Internet and the rest of 

Amazon Web Services infrastructure to offer faster access to the end-users and to 

minimize the impact of an outage, whether of a specific EC2 instance, an availability 

zone or an entire AWS region.  

Disaster Recovery: 

Windows Web Server virtual disk or EC2 Elastic Block Storage (EBS) is backed up on 

evry night at 10 PM EST. Additionally, the snapshots or virtual disk backups are 

subsequently automatically copied between regions to enable cross-region recovery 

capabilities. 

Should a Web Site hosted by Revize and monitored in automated fashion become 

unavailable, another EC2 instance can be restarted. When that proves insufficient 

EC2 instance will be reprovisioned in the same availability zone, a different 

availability zone, or, in a different region using the latest snapshot in the matter of a 

couple of minutes. 

The incoming request, from the Internet traffic, is bound to a static IP address or 

Elastic IP in AWS terms that leverages NAT to forward traffic to a running EC2 

instance private IP address. In the case of an EC2 instance re-provisioned in the same 

region, whether in the same or a different availability zone, Elastic IP is re-assigned to 

the new EC2 instance. 

Elastic IP is represented to the public internet using CName or A-Host domain name 

services entry. In case of an EC2 instance or an availability zone failure, no 

adjustment to domain name service is required. In the case of a regional, wide-spread 

AWS outage, an EC2 instance is reprovisioned in a different region, re-using the 

latest snapshot preserving the content as of the last automated backup. However, an 

Elastic IP is specific to the region and, therefore a change to CName or A-Host 

configuration is required to point to the disaster recovery regional Elastic IP. 



  

 
  

 
 

Revize Disaster Recovery Infrastructure Diagram. AZ stands for Availability Zones 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  



  

 
  

Security 
 

Revize takes website security very seriously and we provide our clients with the very 

best website protection protocols. Our data centers are located on secure premises 

equipped with card-reader access, security cameras and guards on duty 24/7 to 

ensure the physical protection from unauthorized entry.  

 

Revize/AWS complies with SOC 1/ISAE 3402, SOC 2, SOC 3, FISMA, DIACAP, and 

FedRAMP, PCI DSS Level 1, ISO 9001, ISO 27001, ISO 27017, ISO 27018 and other 

programs. Revize is responsible for securing the content, access to the content on 

the web server, to snapshots, configurations and infrastructure as a whole. 

 

Our web and network administrators monitor network activity 24-hours-a-day to 

ensure system integrity and protection against threats such as Denial of Service 

(DoS) attacks that could corrupt your website or block user access. Maintaining the 

secure configuration of our web servers is managed through application of 

appropriate patches and upgrades, security testing, vulnerability scans, monitoring of 

logs, and backups of data and OS. 

  



  

 
  

Security Controls, SSL, and Active Directory (LDAP) 

• Anti-malware software such as antivirus software, anti-spyware software, and 

rootkit detectors 

• Shield Plus Security Bundle to prevent DDoS attacks 

• Intrusion detection and prevention software (such as file integrity checking 

software) 

• Host-based firewalls to protect CMS servers from unauthorized access 

• Patch management software  

• Security and Authentication Gateways 

• Content filters, which can monitor traffic to and from the web server for 

potentially sensitive or inappropriate data and take action as necessary  

• HTTPS (Hypertext Transfer Protocol over SSL), which provides encryption and 

decryption for user page requests that require more secure online transactions  

• SSL (Secure Socket Layer) provides an encrypted end-to-end data path 

between a client and a server regardless of platform or OS  

• If you have an existing SSL Certificate we can transfer it to the new website. 

Otherwise, if included, we will install a new SSL Certificate upon go live.  

• Active Directory (LDAP) is compatable with the Revize CMS. It can be set up 

in a variety of configurations. As part of the process we will work with you to 

determine which configuration will best meet your needs.  

 

Application Security Authentication 

• Role-Based Security: Role-based authentication to add individual user 

accounts and assign them system roles like Editor, Developer, Administrator, 

Workflow Approvers, etc., or department roles and empower the department 

to assign specific roles to users.  

• Permission-Based Security: Ability to set up Content Owners/Editors and 

restrict which site pages they are authorized to update 

▪ Global & Department Workflow Management: 

Create workflow management and approval 

processes where authorized department 

personnel become approvers 

 

  

Did you know? 

Revize will host your website and CMS in 

at least two completely separate 

geographic locations!  

 

 

 

 



  

 
  

Maximum Response Times 

• 1 hour for crisis issues 

• 4-6 hours for critical issues    

• 24 hours for normal issues 

 

Revize Support 

• 8 a.m. – 8 p.m. EST Phone Support (Monday thru Friday) 

• 24X7X365 Portal & Email Support 

• Dedicated support staff to provide assistance and answer all questions 

• New and existing user training 

• Training refreshers 

• Video tutorials and online training manual 

• Automatic integration of enhancements 

• E-Newsletter module support  

• Automatic upgrades of CMS Modules such as Calendar, Document Center, 

etc… 

 

Software Maintenance 

Revize rolls out two new versions of the Revize CMS, and six to eight product 

updates every year. The Revize CMS is continuously enhanced to keep pace with 

cutting edge technologies and industry trends. When a software update or new 

version is rolled out, Revize will automatically update all servers used by our 

subscription service clients.  

 

“As a Revize client, you will receive full 
access to all enhancements to the core 
components and modules in the 
Revize CMS at no additional 
charge.” 

 



  

 
  

Revize Website Analytics 
 

Revize has Custom APIs for Google Web Analytics that is integrated in each of our 

client’s websites. Analytics makes it easy to understand how your site and app users 

are engaging with your content, so you know what’s working and what’s not. Revize 

CMS dashboard for Analytics provides an overall picture of how residents are 

interacting with your site, which pages/documents are being viewed most, how 

much traffic you are getting in your site across different geographic regions etc. You 

can filter and download all sorts of analytics reports for your IT Team and 

Management to analyze the data and effectiveness of your website content and 

services offered.  Below is a graphical view of our analytics dashboard interface, the 

data shown is for our own website but this will be replaced by your site data when 

it’s integrated. 

 

  



  

 
  

Revize Technology Architecture 
 

The Revize Government CMS is a standards-based, open architecture software 

product without any proprietary restrictions. Revize uses leading technologies to 

avoid integration problems with existing systems and comes complete with its own 

Integrated Publishing Engine, Embedded Relational DB, JSP/Servlet Engine, and 

Application Server. 

 

Revize Intelligent Publishing WCM 

 

 

“Security, Performance, 
Redundancy”  



  

 
  

Revize Government CMS User Interface 

1. Revize CMS User Interface Home Page 

 

2. Users simply browse to a page that they want to edit, select the Login button, 

and then insert their Login Name and Password into a login screen as shown below. 



3. Edit buttons appear on the page after the Login executes. Based on users

roles/permissions, the appropriate buttons are displayed.  

4. The input form appears as shown below. Content Editors can change banner, page

heading and the content displayed in the center of the page. Notice the content is 

changed using a “Word Like” editor.  

After the page is “saved”, the page can be sent to an approver for review or 

immediately published to the web site. 



  

 
  

Design and Key Specifications 
The Revize Web Application Developers are not only responsible for the look, 

functionality, and performance of your website. They are also responsible for the 

security of the web content and web-based applications they create. They ensure 

that the code supports secure authentication and authorization, and provides access 

control mechanisms as required. 

 

Good design principles are always based on readability, taking into consideration 

appropriate font type and size for headlines and text area, as well as line height – 

ensuring all page elements are balanced. Our designers also pay meticulous attention 

to their use of shadows and gradients. To the layman’s eye there may not appear to 

be a shadow, however on the website the font will appear sharper (or maybe softer 

depending on the amount of shadow used).  

 

Of course color cannot be overlooked. Our designers first take the client’s 

preferences, official logo colors, and pictures into consideration to create a color 

scheme consisting of no more than three colors. We then use variants and hues to 

create visual appeal, contrast, eye-catching allure and invoke the overall feeling that 

the client desires. 

 

Last but not least is effective use of page elements such as call to action buttons, 

social sharing icons, email newsletter sign-up, and promotion areas. The ultimate goal 

is to provide an easy to navigate webpage that is informative without being 

overwhelming. Therefore, it is the designer’s job to guide the client in making 

appropriate placement choices for needed items.  



  

 
  

Revize Design Trends 

There are some exciting new design trends, and Revize is always on the cutting edge, 

implementing the best of these innovations in our websites. We are especially 

pleased at how effectively they are proving to be in increasing engagement in 

government websites.  

 

#1 Responsive Web Design – The most important development in website design in 

years, Responsive Web Design (RWD) automatically conforms and optimizes 

websites for any screen size. With the substantial increase in smartphone and tablet 

users today, people are going online using a vast number of devices with wildly 

different screen sizes. Our websites offer this very important feature of easily and 

cleanly conforming to computer, tablet and mobile device screens. 

 

#2 Liquified Content – This is another important trend that address the fact that 

information is no longer static or concrete. Instead, content is specifically customized 

for each unique user. Liquidity of content enhances the immediacy and flexibility of 

content. The more liquid your community’s content, the easier it is for residents and 

businesses to access this information in ways and via the channels of their choice: 

fixed or mobile, interactive and live. Revize is able to effectively make your content 

liquid.  This will make it adaptable to various situations and, therefore, easy to reuse 

in different contexts distributed for a variety of display formats and communication 

channels. 

 

#3 Image Tiles – This is a trend that enables developers to display content in a pin 

board style of display. Revize now offers this feature, which creates a very visually 

appealing display of content, such as pictures or social streams. Image tiles also help 

promote engagement by encouraging site visitors to comment or reply to items from 

directly within the image tile. This is an especially useful option for web pages 

promoting tourism. 

 

#4 Parallax Scrolling – This is a highly advanced, innovative design technique for 

sophisticated websites. Parallax Scrolling allows Revize to build websites in multiple 

layers, with content that moves across the screen at different speeds as visitors 

scroll. This unique design technique is very visually engaging and can help improve 

time-on-site metrics.  



  

 
  

#5 Innovative Typography – This plays a very important role in website design, 

image and branding, and is especially important for maximizing the look and feel of 

the website when accessing it from mobile devices. Our designers are experts in 

effective typography and take many factors into consideration when selecting the 

type of fonts, font sizes, and colors to be used for a website. 

 

#6 Social Feeds – With the proven ability to strengthen and deepen interpersonal 

connections, social networks present a wonderful opportunity for government 

organizations to increase community engagement and make governments more 

accessible to the people they serve. One method already mentioned for improving 

social activity is using pin boards; another is creating a social area or social wall that 

combines activity from multiple social networks, like Facebook, LinkedIn, YouTube 

and Pinterest. Revize offers a comprehensive line of popular social media 

applications and networking. 

 

“Over the past 20 years, Revize 
has mastered the art of designing 

government websites.” 
 

 

Key Phase Objectives & Deliverables: 

The following steps are followed while designing new sites 

• Establish Needs and Creative Direction: Understand your objectives and 

requirements, and provide recommendations for effective online branding 

pertinent to your requirements, existing branding and your web audience’s 

needs. The Revize designer will also conduct his own research in order to capture 

the character and “feel” of your area, which will inspire ideas for the overall 



  

 
  

design direction of the website.  

 

• Main Menu Navigation & Home Page Wireframes: Work with you to establish 

a main-level navigational architecture and identify key items accessible from 

your home page. This establishes a baseline for the navigational structure, as 

well as the preferred content structure (wireframe*) for the home page.  

 

• Page Layout and module placement: We will follow all the best practices to 

layout the different features and modules so that they can be easily accessed 

by your residents. For example, on the home page there will be sliding picture 

gallery and quick link buttons for Notify Me, Report a Concern, Document 

Center, FAQs etc. Also the news and announcements module and events 

calendar would be integrated into the website, along with the Social Media 

Center. 

 

 
 
 

Did you know? 

Revize will provide a 100% from scratch design with a satisfaction guarantee! 

 
 

Please Note: The home page “wireframe” will simply serve as a realistic 
guideline in terms of content placement, but will not include the final text 
nor final imagery for this phase.  Please see a sample wireframe to concept 
development snapshot in the next page. 



  

 
  

 

• Design Deliverable: The design 

concepts for this phase will be 

based on one or possibly two home 

page layouts. The client will review 

and provide design feedback to 

the designer for changes. Revize 

asks that clients have no more 

than three iterations of changes 

up to the point that the final 

concept is approved. 

 

• Final Home Page Sign Off: 

When all changes have been 

made, Revize will present your 

final home page design and 

layout for approval. Customer 

approval is required to proceed 

to the next phase, the inner 

pages of the website, and the 

process repeats itself before the 

actual HTML & CSS is written. 

 

• Final Inner Page Sign Off: When 

all changes have been made, 

Revize will present your final inner 

page designs and layouts for 

approval. Customer approval is 

required to proceed to the next 

phase, when the actual HTML & 

CSS is written.   



  

 
  

Project Timeline 

Phase Duration 

 
 

Did you know? 

The project planning process is designed 

to fit your needs. We will adapt our 

timeline if your schedule requires.  

 

 

 

 



  

 
  

Appendix A: Cost Estimate 

  



  

 
  

Project Cost Breakdown 

One concept, three rounds of changes, home page template and inner 

page design and layout, includes Responsive Web Design for great 

viewing on any size handheld internet viewing device complete with 

pictures and no need to zoom in on the text! 

  

Set-up all CMS modules listed on the following page with linking to any 

additional 3rd party web application. You also receive all updates to all 

CMS modules for the life of your Revize relationship. And you own the 

technology, design and content! 

Best practices migration according to new sitemap including spell 

checking and style corrections – up to 1,000 webpages and documents 

Annual tech support, CMS software updates (unlimited users), and website health 

checks. website hosting included (Unlimited storage space): 

 



  

 
  

Payment Options 

 

 
 
 
 

 

The Revize Client First Plan offers local governments an alternative payment plan 

that makes it easier to purchase a new website on your budget and spreads the one-

time project design and development costs over a longer period of time.  

 

Through a minimum three-year contract, The Revize Client First Plan dramatically 

lowers the one-time project development and start-up costs of launching a new 

website.  What Revize does is combine the one-time and recurring fees and 

spreading them over the life of the contract. And because we value our continuing 

relationships with our customers, those who extend their contract beyond the three-

year minimum will receive a redesign at the end of their fourth year with Revize Free 

of Charge. 

1/3rd of project costs + Annual Hosting, Support, Maintenance 

1/3rd of project costs + Annual Hosting, Support, Maintenance

1/3rd of project costs + Annual Hosting, Support, Maintenance

Annual Hosting, Support, Maintenance (Optional)  

Includes Free Redesign

Revize provides a free website redesign during year four of service! 



  

 
  

Included Features 

 
The Following Applications & Features will be integrated into Your Website:  

In addition to the Government Content Management System that enables non-

technical staff to easily and quickly create/update content in the new web site, 

Revize provides a suite of applications and features specifically designed for 

municipalities. All of those apps and features are fully described in the following 

section. The applications and features are grouped into five categories: 

 

• Citizen’s Communication Center Apps 

• Citizen’s Engagement Center Apps 

• Staff Productivity Apps 

• Site Administration and Security Features 

• Mobile Device and Accessibility Features 

 

Citizen’s Communication Center Apps 

• Notification Center with Text/Email Alerts 

• Bid Posting 

• Document Center 

• Email Notify 

• FAQs 

• Job Posting 

• Multi-use Business Directory 

• News Center with Facebook/Twitter Integration 

• Online Forms 

• Photo Gallery 

• Quick Link Buttons 

• Revize Web Calendar 

• “Share This” Social Media Flyout App  

• Sliding Feature Bar 

• Language Translator 

 

Citizen’s Engagement Center Apps 

• Citizen Request Center with Captcha 

• Public Service Request 

• Online Interactive Forms (Public Records Request App) 

• Online Bill Pay  

• RSS Feed 

 

 



  

 
  

Staff Productivity Apps 

• Agenda Posting Center 

• Job Posting App 

• Image Manager 

• iCal Integration 

• Intranet 

• Link Checker 

• Menu Manager 

• Online Form Builder 

• Staff Directory 

• Website Content Archiving 

• Website Content Scheduling 

 

Site Administration and Security Features 

• Audit Trail 

• Auto Site Map Generator 

• History Log 

• URL Redirect Setup 

• Roles and Permission-based Security Mode 

• Secure Site Gateway 

• Unique Login/Password for each Content Editor 

• Web Statistics and Analytics 

• Workflows by Department 
 

 

Mobile Device and Accessibility Features 

• Font Size Adjustment 

• Alt-Tags 

• Responsive Website Design (RWD)  

  



  

 
  

Previous Work 
 

The City of Arcadia, California 

www.arcadiaca.gov 

Horizon Interactive Award Winner 

Details:  
The City of Arcadia, California chose Revize because they wanted a website that 

stood out from all of the others in Los Angeles County. In this site, we built unique 

designs for the city, recreation department, and library. Each one has its own unique 

look and feel while maintaining the brand. This site also includes our proprietary 

“curated search” feature. This feature puts you in control of the search results on the 

site. You get to decide which results display based on the search criteria your users 

input into the search. This allows them to find the results they are looking for 

instantly! 

http://www.arcadiaca.gov/


  

 
  

The City of New Bern, North Carolina 

www.newbernnc.gov 

 

Details:  
 
New Bern, North Carolina wanted a design unlike any City out there. With this design 

we pushed the limit of what people think when they see a City website. We 

integrated a drone video that plays on the full width homepage. In addition, this site 

features more scrolling than you may notice on more traditional websites. That is a 

good thing! Users are now, more than ever, viewing websites on their hand-held 

devices. Some estimates say this is as high as 60% of all internet usage! With more 

scrolling we are able to give the user a lot of information, without having to squeeze 

it into such a small space. We use images, icons, and interactive features to create an 

experience for the user. This type of design also allows us to extend the City’s brand 

in a way that is unmatched in the industry! 

http://www.newbernnc.gov/


  

 
  

The City of Olympia, Washington 

www.olympiawa.gov  

 

Details:  
The City of Olympia, the Capitol City of Washington, presented a unique opportunity 

for Revize and the City’s web team. This website features an extremely innovative 

homepage. As users scroll from one section to the next, they can explore different 

trending topics, services, news, events, and much more in an extremely modern 

fashion. We built this website to be one of the most visually inspiring, but also most 

functional websites in the United States. With the unique design coupled with 

features such as a curated “smart search” feature and online interactive forms, this 

website makes a strong case for that title!  

http://www.olympiawa.gov/


  

 
  

Tipton County, Tennessee 

www.tiptonco.com  

 

Details:  
 
Tipton County is located on the Mississippi River north of Memphis and is one of the 

fastest growing counties in the state. Because of this fact, the website needed to 

refocus its attention. In addition to resident services, this website has a focus on 

economic development. To achieve this, we started off by integrating a drone video.   

That video instantly showcases the growth in industry that Tipton is experiencing. As 

you scroll down the website, this business-friendly atmosphere is intertwined with 

resident engagement features. Each department has their own icon that is used to 

identify them uniquely. The interior pages have distinctive features that make them 

stand out as if they were stand-alone websites. With its service for residents and its 

appeal to the business community, this is the next generation of government 

websites.  

http://www.tiptonco.com/


  

 
  

The Village of Glencoe, Ilinois 

www.villageofglenceo.org 

 

 
Details:  
 
The Village of Glencoe is beautiful community on the shores of Lake Michigan just 

north of Chicago. This website brings together an amazing design with a full suite of 

web apps to engage Village residents. Smooth transitions from the home page to 

interior pages of this website allow users to find exactly what they are looking for 

easily. The Revize Public Service Request App, Village Manager’s Blog, fillable online 

form database, and a high traffic featured news and headlines area round out this 

website! 

 

 

http://www.villageofglenceo.org/


  

 
  

The City of St. Petersburg, Florida 

www.stpete.org 

 

 

 

Details:  
 

As Florida’s 5th largest, St. Petersburg is an iconic City with something to offer 

everyone. Because St. Pete is a longtime Revize client, their team worked very 

closely with ours and actually provided their own design concepts. We did the 

integration/pre-launch work and their staff was with us every step of the way. Inner 

pages are flexible to allow departments to have dedicated pages with a cohesive feel 

across all pages. Social media feeds from Instagram, Flickr, Facebook, Twitter, and 

YouTube all on the homepage! St. Petersburg also users the Revize API to develop 

their own templates. This website is an elite representation of the power and beauty 

of the Revize process.  

 

http://www.stpete.org/


  

 
  

City of Des Moines, Iowa 

www.dsm.city  

 

Details:  
 

The City of Des Moines, Iowa came to Revize for a website that was completely 

different. Coming from an internally developed site, they wanted to work with a 

vendor that could lead them to a new way of interacting with their users. Page 

layouts were created to allow unique interaction with the City. This included board 

listings, Q&As, interactive park directories, plain language, and a resident focused 

navigation. We also incorporated some of their internal databases and features that 

had been built internally. This site improves the online experience for residents, 

business owners, and visitors!

  

http://www.dsm.city/


  

 
  

  

City of Largo, Florida 

www.largo.com  

Details:  
 

Largo, Florida wanted a website like no other. Through a collaboration between the 

city marketing team and Revize, we were able to create this award winning website. 

Each page in this website was designed to uniquely fit the needs of the community. 

We also built unique designs for the city parks, library, and theater. The navigation 

within this site is built based on services rather than department silos. Overall this 

website brings together an amazing mix of design expertise and functional clarity to 

create a great user experience!

  

http://www.largo.com/


  

 
  

The City of Troy, Michigan 

www.troymi.gov 

 

 

Details: 
 
The City of Troy wanted a website to increase ease of communication to all of their 

audiences. In addition, the city has been experiencing an economic resurgence 

particularly in the technology sector. In fact, Revize headquarters are in the City of 

Troy! This project included custom designs for The City, Library, and Recreation 

Department. Integration with the City’s existing 3rd party software was a major 

linchpin of this project. Included is a live-searchable “How Do I” section that narrows 

down results as the user is typing. This allows any user to easily find what they are 

looking for regardless of which department it exists under.  

 

http://www.troymi.gov/


  

 
  

Government Account References 
 
 

Craig Kelly, Public Information Officer 

Office: (972) 516-6016 

Email: craig.kelly@wylietexas.gov  

Website: www.ci.wylie.tx.us  

 

Joshua Linn, Website Administrator 

Office: (360) 570-3782 

Email: JLinn@ci.olympia.wa.us  

Website: www.olympiawa.gov  

 

Michael Bruckner, Assistant to the City Manager 

Office: (626) 574-5433 

Email: mbruckner@ArcadiaCA.gov  

Website: www.arcadiaca.gov  

 

Shawn Anderson, GISP Director 

Phone: (901) 476-0234 

Email: sanderson@tiptonco.com 

Website: www.tiptonco.com 

 

  

mailto:craig.kelly@wylietexas.gov
http://www.ci.wylie.tx.us/
mailto:JLinn@ci.olympia.wa.us
http://www.olympiawa.gov/
mailto:mbruckner@ArcadiaCA.gov
http://www.arcadiaca.gov/
http://www.tiptonco.com/


  

 
  

Revize Support Includes 
 

• 8 AM – 8PM EST Phone Support (Monday thru Friday) 

• 24X7X365 Portal and Email Support 

• Staff provides assistance and answers all questions  

• Dedicated support staff 

• New/existing user training 

• Free Training Refreshers 

• Video tutorials and online training manual 

• Automatic integration of enhancements 

• E-Newsletter Module support  

• Automatic upgrade of CMS modules, such as 

Calendar, Document Center, etc. 

• Four major CMS upgrades per year 

• Software and modules upgrades (automatic 

install) 

• Server hardware and OS upgrades 

• Immediate bug fixes/patches 

• Round the clock server monitoring 

• Data Center Network upgrades 

• Security and antivirus software upgrades 

• Firewall and router upgrades 

• Bandwidth and network infrastructure upgrades 

• Remote backup of all website assets 

• Tape backup of all website assets 

• Quarterly Newsletters on major feature updates 

• Regular webinars on CMS features and usage 

 

Did you know? 

Revize updates your Content Management System an average of 4 times per year! 

 
 



  

 
  

Citizen’s Communication Center 

Apps 
 

DOCUMENT CENTER APP 

Revize helps clients save thousands of dollars each year in employee time and 

resources with our Document Management Center. Using this module you can create 

and archive the documents your site 

visitors need: applications, 

brochures, manuals, policy and data 

sheets, research papers, meeting 

minutes, and more. By providing all 

of your documents online, your site 

visitors can access them 24/7 – 

usually within two clicks -- and you 

won’t incur any printing or postage 

costs.  

 

 

FAQ 

FAQ’s make it easy for site visitors to find answers to common questions and will 

greatly decrease the number of calls 

coming into your switchboard each 

day. In fact, within six weeks of a 

Revize website launch, our clients 

typically experience a significant 

decrease in the number of daily 

phone calls… some by as much as 

23%! 

  



  

 
  

 

 

 

E-NOTIFY 

Many of our municipal clients include an email/text notification option on their 

Meeting Minutes and Meeting 

Agendas pages so that interested 

citizens can sign up for automatic 

updates anytime there is a new 

posting.  

 

 

 

 

 

JOB POSTING 

Revize’s job postings app allows your site visitors to view and apply for open 

positions online.  Postings are removed automatically based on the job expiration 

date input by your HR personnel.  You can provide as much detail as you like and link 

to or upload any number of files that 

fully describe the job position. Best 

of all, with the form fill interface, new 

openings can be posted in minutes 

by non-technical staff.  

  



  

 
  

 

INTERACTIVE MAP 

Not only does the Revize CMS ensure that your site is easy for visitors to navigate, 

we’ve made it even easier for them navigate the real world surrounding your 

location.  Specific buildings, parks, bike paths, mass transit stations, nearby 

businesses, tourist attractions, 

parking lots, voter polling locations, 

and more are incredibly easy to 

identify with the familiar Google 

Maps highlighted with Pins.  

 

 

 

 

 

CALENDAR APP 

The Master/Sub Calendar provides an easy-to-use tool to enhance usability and 

encourage the communication of events both internally and externally. It provides 

visibility and transparency into 

activities, meetings, and events with 

a visually appealing display and easy 

to find event contact information. 

The ability to insert recurring events 

saves time by allowing you to create 

the event once then repeat 

automatically; great for Board and 

City Council meetings.  

  



  

 
  

 

 

NOTIFICATION CENTER 

You can’t fool or control Mother Nature. But you can protect members of your 

community from her wrath. Posting e 

mergency notifications on your home page, any other page, or throughout your site, 

this module allows your content editor to accurately explain the situation and 

instruct members of your community on the next steps to take. 

 

BID POSTING 

The Bid Postings App provides a simple and easy-to-use method for organizing and 

presenting bids, RFPs and RFQs online for vendors or local contractors interested in 

providing products and services to your community. 

 

BUSINESS DIRECTORY 

Ideal for municipalities, chambers of commerce or any membership organization, this 

module allows you to easily create and maintain a searchable directory for either 

members or businesses within the website. Listings can be added, removed and 

categorized by non-technical staff in a simple table interface. 

 

NEWS CENTER WITH FACEBOOK INTEGRATION 

Many of our municipal clients include an email/text notification option on their 

Meeting Minutes and Meeting Agendas pages so that interested citizens can sign up 

for automatic updates anytime there is a new posting. 

 

ONLINE FORMS 

Using this module, you can create -- from scratch -- an unlimited number of online 

forms on any page of your site using various field options such as long answers, radio 

buttons, drop-down lists, multiple choice, etc. Having online web forms provides a 

quick and easy alternative for users to communicate with you and provide important 

feedback, opinions or complete tasks online. These forms can be used to have web 

visitors contact you with questions, comments and requests, give feedback, 

volunteer, or to sign-up for various events, activities or programs. 

  



  

 
  

QUICK LINKS 

The Quick Links module allows site visitors to navigate to their areas of interest, 

much like FAQs. Examples for users: Where do I… Get Registered for Summer Camp 

Where do I… Get a Marriage License. 

 

SHARING APP 

Provides a one click drop down to multi-social media and utility 

buttons. A common widget used on the web, it is intuitive and 

easy to use. 

 

SLIDING FEATURE BAR 

This feature is a mainly for visual appeal. It helps to break 

up pages with an interesting slide bar that can be populated 

with any subjects or areas that you want to draw attention to. 

For example, you may want to feature Parks & Rec, Landmarks 

and Tourist Attractions. 

 

TRANSLATOR 

Revize integrates the Google Translator into your website 

templates and translates from English to over 40 other 

international languages. Provides users a large visual display at 

the top of the web page to choose any language to convert 

the text into.   



  

 
  

Citizen’s Engagement Center 

Apps 
 

PUBLIC SERVICE REQUEST APP 

This app allows residents to submit requests based on a map view. Each time an 

issue is submitted, a staff member will receive an email notification. From there they 

are able to respond directly to the requests. Photo submission, automatic esclation, 

mobile app integration, and archived reporting make this one of our most powerful 

features! 

 

CITIZEN REQUEST CENTER 

This app allows customers, residents, participants, students, or any website visitor to 

post requests online. By the use of a drop down menu, individuals can forward the 

request, idea, or comment to the party of interest.  That item is then forwarded via 

email to the proper recipient.  You can add or delete department names as well as 

individuals in the drop down menu at any time. Captcha is integrated to ensure each 

request is genuine and not a spam. 

 

PUBLIC RECORDS REQUEST TRACKER 

This app allows public to order copies of the public records maintained by a 

municipality.  The request is routed to the record custodian within a department and 

automated response is generated with a unique tracking number. The system allows 

the full tracking, correspondence and online handling of all types of public record 

request. The record request form is very flexible and customizable for every 

municipality. 

 

CITIZEN CONNECT 

This app helps open up the lines of communication between administrators and their 

constiuents, increasing transparency and contiuent interaction. It is a blog that 

features the option to allow constiuent comments for feedback (comments can be 

moderated before being published to the website).  



  

 
  

PARKS RESERVATION  

This app allows the display of parks shelters and their amenities and to 

manage their availability to the public. A website visitor can search 

for facilities by type available, review the amenities for each 

facility and easily reserve the facility including the 

option to pay for its use.  

 

ONLINE BILL PAY 

Allows clients to set-up secure on-line payment 

processing for credit card transactions. Can 

be used for utility and tax payments; 

Purchasing items on-line; or making donations 

to non-profit organizations.  

 

RSS FEED 

Site visitors will be eating out of the palm of your 

hand with our RSS feeds module. Revize’s CMS allows 

customers to generate RSS (Real Simple 

Syndication) feeds for any genre of news or 

events. RSS feeds are a trusted way to 

communicate important information to site 

visitors while ensuring that they remain 

engaged with your organization and 

regularly return to your site.   



  

 
  

Staff Productivity Apps 
 

AGENDA POSTING CENTER 

Using this app, you can upload agendas, meeting packets, meeting minutes, 

proposals for review, and more, all into one area on your website for easy access and 

review before, during, or after each meeting.  Old meeting agendas and information 

are archived per meeting for quick access at any time. 

 

JOB POSTING APP 

This app allows you to post a job and receive resume submissions online. Candidates 

can fill in all the fields and submit the job application online.  Once the job application 

is submitted, a link to the filled in application form will be emailed to the responsible 

HR person which they can view, print and file for their records. 

 

IMAGE MANAGER 

Allows approved staff to upload images from their computer or network folders. This 

very simple interface allows you to upload new pictures and stores uploaded pictures 

for reuse. Each department can create their own image folders and organize image 

libraries by department. Also, obsolete images can be deleted from the image library. 

 

INTRANET 

Provides a Dynamic CMS-enabled area with secure login to build out an entire 

Intranet for employee specific information only. It benefits your employees to have 

an internal organization landing page that can be updated with news, events, alerts 

and many of the same modules used on the extranet. 

 

LINK CHECKER 

When a new link is created, the Revize system checks if the URL (link) is valid or not. 

If not, an error message will be displayed. This benefits the Content Editor by double 

checking bad links before they are saved on your website.  



  

 
  

MENU MANAGER 

Allows approved content editors to add or edit site-wide top navigation, department 

or section specific links (e.g. left or right navigation). This feature gives you control 

to change and update the Navigation menus of your website for continuous 

improvement. 

 

NEWS LETTER APP 

The system allows non-technical staff to build attractive, informative newsletters and 

disseminate them with one click to everyone on your distribution list. Activity metrics 

include emails sent successfully to help you validate email addresses. The application 

provides the ability to import contact lists, upload images, add groups, assign 

contact lists to groups, as well as export lists.  

 

ONLINE FORM BUILDER 

Having online web forms provides a quick and easy alternative for users to 

communicate with you and provide important feedback, or complete tasks online. 

These forms can be used to have web visitors contact you with questions, comments 

and requests, give feedback, volunteer, or to sign-up for various events, activities or 

programs. 

 

WEB CONTENT ARCHIVE 

Your site history will never be a mystery because all content edits for your site are 

archived on the Revize CMS database.  Your content editors can click on the History 

button to view previous versions of a particular page or content block from your site. 

 

WEB CONTENT SCHEDULE 

This feature eliminates the possibility of having dated or past events being promoted 

on your site AFTER the event has passed, thus potentially undermining the perceived 

accuracy and currency of the site’s content in the minds of your audience. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 
  

 

AUDIT TRAIL 

This is a powerful administrative tracking tool that provides reports on the content 

change activities of any webpage within the system. The administrator can gauge 

how often the site is updated, which departments are most active; and also use the 

audit trail for recovery of data if necessary. 

 

AUTO SITEMAP TOOL 

Revize CMS provides this tool to automatically generate a sitemap. Anytime a new 

page is added or deleted from the system, the sitemap will republish to show the 

change. An up-to-date sitemap is very critical to boost the ranking of your website in 

different search engines. 

 

HISTORY LOG 

Administrators can view all the archived versions of any web page and restore any 

old/archived page. It is a very useful feature for referring to any archived legal 

documents or press releases. 

 

ROLES/PERMISSION SETUP 

Our CMS uses a role based authentication system where you can add individual user 

accounts and assign them system roles like Editor, Developer, Administrator, 

Workflow Approvers etc., or you can add roles for each department and assign 

department-specific roles to each user. 

 

SECURE SITE GATEWAY 

Provides a secure login area for either users of an intranet or users to access 

information not available to the general public. Once users are set-up with a secure 

login ID, they can manage their own password changes as necessary. 

 

WEBSITE STATISTICS 

Revize integrates Google’s Web Analytics tool to track number of site visits, website 

traffic sources, etc. Your website administrator can run various reports to collect 

important data on the usage of your website.  

 



  

 
  

WORKFLOWS BY DEPARTMENT 

Provides a method for Supervisory Oversight of content updates.  The process allows 

an authorized “approver” to compare the current page with the proposed new page 

content (side-by-side) for easy review and comparison.   

 

 

 

“Our innovative solutions are 
custom-tailored to meet the needs 

of each individual client.” 
 

 

  

Did you know? 

Revize installs new features into your content management system on a rolling basis! 

 
 



  

 
  

Mobile Device and Accessibility 

Apps 
 

ALT-TAGS 

Use of alt tags for images, a required part of the Revize CMS 

image manager feature, allows vision impaired 

individuals to understand the content of the 

image. 

 

FONT SIZE ADJUSTMENT 

Provides the ability for users to change 

font size by clicking button to reach their 

desired size. Helps those with low vision to 

easily read information on your website. 

 

RESPONSIVE WEB DESIGN 

Revize uses pixel rendering Responsive Web 

Design to accommodate better viewing of text 

and graphics for any size screen, i.e., smart 

phones, tablets, iPads and iPhones. 



  

 
  

 

 
 

Thank you 
For Considering Revize 

 
 
 

Prepared by Thomas J. Jean  

150 Kirts Blvd. Troy, MI 48084 

Ph: 248-269-9263 x8035 Fax: 866-346-8880  

www.revize.com  

 

 

http://www.revize.com/


 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



Memorandum 

To:  Selectboard 

Fr:  Laurie Smith, Town Manager and Chris Simeoni, Public Works Director 

Re: Solid Waste and Recycling Collection bid 

Dt:  September 7, 2023 

As the Town of Kennebunkport has no transfer station or landfill, it undertakes the 
collection of solid waste and recycling through an outside contractor.  For years, the 
Town contracted a manual collection system with Oceanside Waste Collection.  A few 
years ago, Casella purchased Oceanside and took over their contract under the same 
conditions.  Our current contract runs from September 2019 through August 2024.  In 
preparation for the expiration of the contract, the Town advertised for bids a year in 
advance to allow for the transition to an automated collection system, and to account for 
the 12-18month delivery window for new equipment.  

Casella and Waste Management System, the two largest vendors in our region, notified 
the Town that they would not bid on a new contract if the Town continued to collect trash 
manually.  Collection/processing companies are increasingly moving towards automated 
trash pickup for two primary reasons: 

1. Efficiency and Cost Savings: Automated trash pickup systems are often more
efficient than traditional manual collection methods. Automated trucks equipped
with robotic arms can pick up and empty bins quickly and with fewer personnel.
This efficiency allows vendors to perform the work with fewer workers.

2. Safety: Automated systems reduce the physical strain and potential injury risks
associated with manual trash collection for sanitation workers. These systems
help improve worker safety by minimizing the need for heavy lifting and exposure
to traffic hazards.

The bids were advertised on July 20, 2023, and submitted on August 23, the Town 
received two responses. The first was from Waste Management System informing the 
Town they would not bid on the contract but wished to be considered for future 
contracts. The second bid was from Casella Waste, who bid on waste collection and 
recycling but not the supply of carts.   

Below are the bid results: 

Option 1: Automated collection & weekly recycling:   $543,713 

Option 2: Automated collection & every other week recycling:  $533,015 

Item 11



Currently, the Town pays $314,649 annually for manual collection on a weekly basis and 
every other week recycling.  

After receiving only one bid from Casella, staff met with representatives to better 
understand the pricing structure and ways to perhaps mitigate the costs. Casella 
explained that our current contract has only allowed a 3% annual cost increase during 
some of the highest labor and equipment increases in recent history.  Because of this 
financial ceiling, the company is currently operating at a loss while serving 
Kennebunkport.  The new costs are reflective of the cost of equipment, large labor 
increases, and the cost of operation.  Staff requested other options for the Board’s 
consideration.  

Automated collection & weekly recycling: 
Alternate Option 1A:     $506,713 

    Moving GRB to Friday or Monday 
(savings of $37,000) 

Alternate Option 1B:     $483,331 
   Moving GRB to Friday or Monday and no 
weekend collection of beach or town barrels. 
(savings of $60,382)  

Automated collection & every other week recycling: 
Alternate Option 2A:     $499,715 

   Moving GRB to Friday or Monday 
(savings of $33,300) 

Alternate Option 2B:     $478,671 
Moving GRB to Friday or Monday and no  
weekend collection of beach or town barrels 
(savings of $54,344) 

The above options will supply some cost savings but would dramatically change the 
service at Goose Rocks Beach and downtown. The Town has 30 days from August 23 
to accept this bid.   















RECYCLING • SOLUTIONS • ORGANICS • COLLECTION • ENERGY • LANDFILLS casella.com 

Town of Kennebunkport: Revised Price Proposal 

Option 1: Automated Collection of MSW/Recycling Weekly 
Pricing based on no service to Goose Rocks on Saturdays. Goose Rocks would be serviced on Friday or 
is changed to Monday collection.  

Solid Waste Collection: $405,370 
Recycling Collection: $101,343 

Total: $506,713 
Contract dollars in words for first year: Five hundred six thousand seven hundred thirteen dollars 

Option 1a: Automated Collection of MSW/Recycling Weekly 
Pricing based on no service to Goose Rocks on Saturday Goose Rocks and no collection of beach barrels on 
Saturday or Sunday. Goose Rocks would be serviced on Friday or is changed to Monday collection.  

Solid Waste Collection: $386,664.40 
Recycling Collection: $96,666.60 

Total: $483,331 
Contract dollars in words for first year: Four hundred eighty-three thousand three hundred thirty-one 
dollars. 

Option 2: Automated Collection of MSW/Recycling Every Other Week 
Pricing based on no service to Goose Rocks on Saturdays. Goose Rocks would be serviced on Friday or 
is changed to Monday collection.  

Solid Waste Collection: $405,370 
Recycling Collection: $94,345 

    Total: $499,715 
Contract dollars in words for first year: Four hundred ninety-nine thousand seven hundred fifteen dollars 

Option 2a: Automated Collection of MSW/Recycling Every Other Week 
Pricing based on no service to Goose Rocks on Saturdays and no collection of beach barrels on Saturdays or 
Sundays. Goose Rocks would be serviced on Friday or is changed to Monday collection, every other week. 

Solid Waste Collection: $386,664.40 
Recycling Collection: $92,006.80 

Total: $478,671.20 
Contract dollars in words for first year: four hundred seventy-eight thousand six hundred seventy-one 
dollars and twenty cents.  

*All other line items provided in the original price proposal remain the same.



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



MEMORANDUM 

To: Laurie Smith 
Fr: Eric J. Labelle, P.E., Dep. Public Works Director/Town Engineer 
Re: Award bid for Pier Road Construction 
Dt: September 6th, 2023 

On August 31, 2023, bids were opened for the Pier Road Reconstruction project.  W 

On August 10th, 2023, Invitations to Bids were advertised for the reconstruction of the 
Pier Road.   A non-mandatory Prebid meeting was on August 17th, 2023, to answer 
any questions interested contractors may have. Formal responses were provided via 
Addenda. 

Bids were open on August 31, 2023.   Bid results are attached on the following page. 

All the responsive bidders are known earth excavators with years of experience of 
work experience in Maine.   We were pleased to receive bids within our budget of 
$2,585,000 for Construction Engineering and Construction of the causeway. 
Bids were reviewed by Woodard and Curran and were found all to be responsive.   

Therefore, we recommend the project be awarded to the low and responsive bidder, 
Sargent Corporation, for the cost of $1,947,000. 

Supporting information from Woodard and Curran has been attached. 

Item 12



41 Hutchins Drive 

Portland, Maine 04102 

www.woodardcurran.com 

T 800.426.4262 

T 207.774.2112 

F 207.774.6635 

September 6, 2023 

Eric Labelle, PE 

Deputy Public Works Director/Town Engineer 

Town of Kennebunkport 

6 Elm Street 

Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 

Re: Pier Road Reconstruction Project – Bid Review and Award Recommendation 

Dear Eric: 

Woodard & Curran has reviewed the bid results for the Pier Road Reconstruction Project. Bids 

were opened from four different contractors on August 31, 2023, and a summary of the bid 

results is provided on the attached bid tabulation sheet. The apparent low bidder was Sargent 

Corporation (Sargent) with a total bid price of $1,947,000. A copy of their bid form is enclosed 

with this a letter.  

Woodard & Curran connected with two of the references Sargent included in their bid. The 

reference contacts were the program manager on a roadway reconstruction project in Bar 

Harbor, and the resident engineer on an intersection improvement project in Gray. The 

references indicated they were satisfied with Sargent’s scheduling, responsiveness, quality of 

work, and overall project performance and would recommend them for future work. A summary 

of Sargent’s reference check is enclosed. 

Based on the review of Sargent’s bid, Woodard & Curran did not discover any information that 

would preclude the Town from selecting Sargent as the qualified and responsive low bidder, 

and therefore, we recommend the Town award the contract to Sargent.  

If you have any additional questions, please do not hesitate to contact me at (207) 558-3785 or 

mmcdevitt@woodardcurran.com.   

Sincerely, 

WOODARD & CURRAN, INC. 

Megan McDevitt, PE 

Senior Project Manager 

Enclosures  Pier Road Reconstruction Project Bid Tabulation 

Sargent Corporation Bid Form 

Sargent Corporation Reference Check 

mailto:mmcdevitt@woodardcurran.com


CLIENT Town of Kennebunkport, Maine

PROJECT TITLE Pier Road Reconstruction

DESCRIPTION
Installation of segmented concrete retaining wall, sidewalk, curbing, guardrail, bridge rail, 

replacement force main and sewer manhole, and restoration of adjacent areas

BID OPENING DATE August 31, 2023

Bid Item No. Description Unit
Estimated 

Quantity
Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost Unit Price Total Cost

1 Mobilization/Demobilization LS 1 $16,100.00 $16,100.00 $200,000.00 $200,000.00 $309,445.00 $309,445.00 $125,000.00 $125,000.00

2 Pier Road Reconstruction LS 1 $2,968,499.15 $2,968,499.15 $1,806,000.00 $1,806,000.00 $1,749,037.00 $1,749,037.00 $1,750,000.00 $1,750,000.00

3 Unsuitable Materials CY 200 $95.00 $19,000.00 $75.00 $15,000.00 $70.00 $14,000.00 $100.00 $20,000.00

4 Drilling and Blasting of Solid Rock Subgrade CY 30 $450.00 $13,500.00 $299.00 $8,970.00 $300.00 $9,000.00 $300.00 $9,000.00

5 Owner’s Contingency Allowance for Materials Escalation Price Adjustment ALLOW 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

6 Granite Boulders and Riprap CY 300 $60.50 $18,150.00 $81.00 $24,300.00 $200.00 $60,000.00 $110.00 $33,000.00

*All bids were reviewed for math errors. A math error was found on the GSG Bid Form that changed the Total Base Bid from $2,995,204.65 to $3,045,249.15. This did not

change the standing of the bids.

BID TABULATION

BID BOND RECEIVED (Y/N) Y

ADDENDA ACKNOWLEDGED (Y/N) Y

BID SIGNATURE RECEIVED (Y/N) Y

ENGINEER'S PROJECT NO

CITY/TOWN

STATE

PROJECT MANAGER

0203806.38

Kennebunkport

Maine

Megan McDevitt

$3,045,249.15*

Y

Y

Wyman & Simpson, Inc.

$2,064,270.00 

Richmond, Maine

BIDDERS

TOTAL BID PRICE (Base)

Gorham Sand & Gravel (GSG)

TOTAL BASE BID

BASE BID Buxton, Maine

$2,064,270.00 $3,045,249.15*

Y

Shaw Brothers

Gorham, Maine

$2,151,482.00 

Sargent Corp

Orono, Maine

$1,947,000.00 

$2,151,482.00 $1,947,000.00 

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

Y

0203806.38

Pier Road Reconstruction

Woodard Curran, Inc.

Spetember 1, 2023

















41 Hutchins Drive CLIENT: TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, ME

Portland, Maine 04102 PROJECT: PIER ROAD RECONSTRUCTION

Tel: 800-426-4262 Fax: 207-774-6635

Contact Bradford Foley, MaineDOT

Project Bar Harbor Route 3 Reconstruction

City Bar Harbor, ME

1. What was your role on the project?
Program Manager, responsible for design and construction 

aspects of project. 

2. How was the quality of the work? Very good quality.

3. Did the Contractor stay on

Schedule? If not, why?

Yes, the Contractor stayed on schedule. The project was tough 

given it being Bar Harbor in the Summertime. 

4. Did you find the Contractor to be

responsive?
Yes very much.

5. Did the Contractor attend all

scheduled meetings?

Yes the Contractor attended all scheduled meetings and also 

attended public meetings.

6. How well did the Contractor

coordinate with their subcontractors?

Assuming it went well, wasn't as involved with this, but never 

heard anything bad about their coordination with 

subcontractors.

7. Was the Supervisor easy to work

with?
Yes very much so.

8. How many Change Orders, and

how were they in dealing with them?

Not sure how many, but they had a partnering attitude in dealing 

with them.

9. Would you recommend the

Contractor for Similar Work or hire 

them again?

Yes

10. Were there any bonds invoked or

legal efforts initiated by any parties?
N/A

11. Do you have any other

comments?

They have done some of our biggest dirt projects to date and 

they always produce high quality work.

SARGENT CORPORATION Reference Check

Town of Kennebunkport, ME (0203806.38)

Pier Road Reconstruction - Reference Check

September 2023

Woodard & Curran



41 Hutchins Drive CLIENT: TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, ME

Portland, Maine 04102 PROJECT: PIER ROAD RECONSTRUCTION

Tel: 800-426-4262 Fax: 207-774-6635

Contact Charles Guy, MaineDOT

Project MaineDOT Intersection Improvements

City Gray, ME

1. What was your role on the project?
Resident Engineer for MaineDOT, oversaw work contractors were 

doing to ensure it complied with plans and specs. 

2. How was the quality of the work? Very good quality.

3. Did the Contractor stay on

Schedule? If not, why?

As much as they could during Covid, any delays were Covid 

related.

4. Did you find the Contractor to be

responsive?

In many ways yes, and when it came to the subcontractors not so 

much. 

5. Did the Contractor attend all

scheduled meetings?
Yes

6. How well did the Contractor

coordinate with their subcontractors?

They coordinated very well, made sure subs were there when 

they were expected to be there, and made sure in most cases 

that the sub knew the scope of work, the exception being the 

paving subcontractor who took liberties that were out of 

Sargent's control.

7. Was the Supervisor easy to work

with?

The first supervisor was very easy to work with, he left halfway 

through the project. The second supervisor was different, but 

overall they did everything that was asked of him even though 

the second Supervisor wasn't used to DOT work. 

8. How many Change Orders, and

how were they in dealing with them?

There were roughly 7 or 8 change orders, some were very big. 

They built according to plans, but when things had to change 

they were very responsive and open in the changes.

9. Would you recommend the

Contractor for Similar Work or hire 

them again?

Absolutely. Much better than many contractors that are out 

there. Not the best, but very good. 

10. Were there any bonds invoked or

legal efforts initiated by any parties?
--

11. Do you have any other

comments?

The one negative that is that they're sometimes so focused on 

production, safety might go by the wayside, until its brought to 

attention. This was in reference to a situation where he noticed 

Sargent was not using correct signage for the work that was 

being done. Said it was easily remedied by a Resident Engineer 

on site. 

SARGENT CORPORATION Reference Check

Town of Kennebunkport, ME (0203806.38)

Pier Road Reconstruction - Reference Check

September 2023

Woodard & Curran



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



T O W N  O F  K E N N E B U N K P O R T, M A I N E 

25 R School Street, P.O. Box 1038, Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 
Tel: (207) 967-2245 Fax: (207) 967-5372 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Laurie Smith 
Fr: Eric J. Labelle, P.E., Dep. Public Works Director/Town Engineer 
Re: Pier Road Construction Administration Support 
Dt: September 6th, 2023 

We have requested Woodard and Curran to provide us pricing for administrative and 
technical support during the construction process through to project closeout.   

On August 31, 2023, bids were open for the Pier Road Reconstruction project.  

While we await our final Army Corps of Engineers permit, all indications are that it will 
be finalized soon. Construction work is anticipated to begin soon after October 2, 2023, 
and be substantially completed by May 31, 2024. The final pavement should be 
completed by May 31, 2025. All in-water work is to occur between November 8th and 
April 9th. 

On August 10, 2023, Invitations to Bids were advertised for the reconstruction of the 
Pier Road.   A non-mandatory Prebid meeting was on August 17th, 2023, to answer 
any questions interested contractors may have. Formal responses were provided in 
the form of Addenda. 

The support would include the following: 

• Pre-construction and Project Meeting
• Review and adjustments to payment requisitions
• Submittal reviews and working drawings
• Responses to requests for information and interpretation
• Site visits by the design engineers
• Substantial and final completion certification and notification
• Project close to include final payments and closeout certifications with the DEP

and ACOE.
• Abutter Coordination

Woodard and Curran have proposed a fee not to exceed $70,000. 

The fee proposed not to exceed fee is approximately 3.5 percent of the project cost, 
which is reasonable. I plan to be the onsite owner representative. 

I would recommend we award the Construction Administration to Woodard and Curran 
for a not exceed fee of $70,000. 

Item 13



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



T O W N  O F  K E N N E B U N K P O R T, M A I N E 

25 R School Street, P.O. Box 1038, Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 
Tel: (207) 967-2245 Fax: (207) 967-5372 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Laurie Smith 
Fr: Chris Simeoni, Director of Public Works 
Re: Proposal for Preliminary Design for Resiliency/Reconstruction Ocean Avenue 
Dt: September 6th, 2023 

The Town has seen an increase in flooding events over the past several years, 
necessitating emergency response and subsequent restoration and clean-up on the 
roughly 1,000-foot stretch of Ocean Avenue between Sandy Cove Road and 
Wandby Beach. The Town has experienced flooding in two low-lying areas that sit at 
roughly elevation 9 and elevation 10 (NAVD88), respectively. That flooding has 
resulted in the repeated washout and subsequent repair of the existing corrugated 
metal pipe culvert near the driveway to Walker’s Point and erosion of the Wandby 
Beach parking area, displacing stone across the roadway and into the adjacent 
wetland. 

A proposal was sought from Woodard & Curran to bring this proposed project 
through the Preliminary Design Phase: 

Task 1 – Field Work Phase Survey $16,700.00 
Wetland  $6,200.00  
Geotechnical  $20,100.00 
Task 2 – Preliminary Design  $54,300.00 

Total Fee $97,300.00 

We are looking to sole source this work based on our current relationship with the 
town. Woodard & Curran is currently handling our pump station, plant dewatering, and 
Pier Road Causeway Reconstruction projects. During this period, they have been very 
responsive to our needs and responding to the concerns of our residents. Based on 
this, we recommend awarding the contract for the fieldwork phase survey and 
preliminary design for the Ocean Avenue Resiliency Reconstruction to Woodard & 
Curran in the amount of $97,300.00. We have budgeted $100,000 in FY24 for 
engineering design.   

Item 14



41 Hutchins Drive 

Portland, Maine 04102 

www.woodardcurran.com 

T 800.426.4262 

T 207.774.2112 

F 207.774.6635 

Via Electronic Mail 

August 2, 2023 

Eric Labelle, P.E. 

Deputy Public Works Director/Town Engineer 

Town of Kennebunkport 

6 Elm St 

Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 

Re: Proposal for Preliminary Design for Resiliency/Reconstruction 

Ocean Avenue, Kennebunkport ME 

Dear Eric: 

BACKGROUND 

Woodard & Curran understands the Town has seen an increase in flooding events over the past 

several years, necessitating emergency response and subsequent restoration and clean-up. We 

appreciate the fact that the Town is systematically addressing low-lying infrastructure to reduce 

the frequency and impact of these occurrences, protecting the Town and its residents. We are 

confident the work we’ve done together to align the goals of the Board of Selectmen, residents, 

and Town staff during the recent design of the Pier Road Reconstruction project will enable us 

to be successful on Ocean Avenue. 

On the roughly 1,000-foot stretch of Ocean Avenue between Sandy Cove Road and Wanby 

Beach, the Town has experienced flooding in two low-lying areas that sit at roughly elevation 

9 and elevation 10 (NAVD88), respectively. That flooding has resulted in the repeated washout 

and subsequent repair of the existing corrugated metal pipe culvert near the driveway to 

Walker’s Point and erosion of the Wanby Beach parking area displacing stone across the 

roadway and into the adjacent wetland. The adopted FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) 

Panel 6 of 8, Community-Panel Number 230170 0006C of 1988 has the existing culvert and 

much of the Wanby Beach parking area within a Velocity Hazard Zone, and the low-lying 

segments of Ocean Avenue within the 100-year Flood Zone. The revised preliminary FEMA FIRM 

Panel 0602 of 0837 dated March 28, 2018 has the existing culvert and Wanby Beach parking 

area within a Velocity Hazard Zone, and low-lying segments of Ocean Avenue within the 100-

year Flood Zone. 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Task 1 – Field Work Phase 

Under this phase, Woodard & Curran will provide the field investigation services required to 

support subsequent design and permitting efforts. The services included are divided into the 

following three tasks: 

1. Survey – We will coordinate with Attar Engineering, Inc for survey services. Attar survey

efforts include performing a boundary survey of the Ocean Avenue right-of-way as well as

partial boundary survey of the Town-parcel with the culvert and Wanby Beach parking area.



Town of Kennebunkport (P203806.41) 2 Woodard & Curran, Inc. 

2023.08.02 KBPT Ocean Ave Prelim Design Proposal August 2, 2023 

Survey will also include an existing conditions survey of topographic and planimetric 

features; visible evidence of surface features, changes in materials, evidence of utilities, and 

delineated wetlands.   

2. Wetland – We will coordinate with FB Environmental for wetland delineation, coastal

characterization, and functional assessment information for inclusion in permit

applications. FB Environmental services will include delineating wetland features identified

within the project area and developing a wetland delineation report incorporating

photographs and maps to describe existing conditions. Services also include preparing an

assessment of the wetland to be altered based on the functions it serves and how the

wetland values will be affected by the proposed alteration.

3. Geotechnical – We will coordinate with S.W.Cole Engineering, Inc to implement a

subsurface exploration program to support the proposed design. Based on available soils

maps and previous experience in the area, it is anticipated the site soils profile generally

consists of roadway fills, overlying glaciomarine deposits of sand, silt, and clay, overlying

glacial till and relatively shallow bedrock with depth. Buried organics may also be present

adjacent to the existing marsh. Groundwater is anticipated to be within 10 feet of the

ground surface.

S.W.Cole will conduct 1 to 2 test borings for the proposed culvert replacement to depths

of about 15 to 20 feet or refusal, if shallower; 1 to 2 test borings for the proposed Wanby

Beach parking area improvements to depths of about 10 feet or refusal, if shallower; and

about 10 borings spaced at 100-foot intervals along the roadway to depths of about 10 to

20 feet or refusal, if shallower and deeper borings if soft compressible silty clay or organics

are encountered. The soils in the test borings will be sampled at 2 to 5-foot intervals using

a split-spoon sampler and Standard Penetration Test (SPT) methods. If soft clay soils are

encountered, Shelby Tube sampling will be attempted with in-situ vane shear testing and

rod-probing. Traffic control will be provided by flaggers or a police detail. S.W.Cole will

pre-mark the explorations and contact DigSafe and OKTODIG to mark-out member and

non-member utilities prior to drilling. Explorations will be backfilled with soil cutting or

gravel and cold-patch asphalt or gravel to match existing.

Soil samples obtained from the test borings will be submitted to the laboratory for further

classification and testing. Laboratory testing will include soil moisture content tests and

grain size analyses and may also include Atterberg Limits and one-dimensional

consolidation testing if soft clay soils are encountered.

The subsurface findings relative to earthwork and pavement associated with the proposed

construction will be evaluated and findings will be presented in a written report including:

• Summary of Subsurface Conditions (soil, bedrock, and groundwater)

• Recommendations for Site and Subgrade Preparation

• Post-Construction Settlement Considerations

• Earthwork and Grading Considerations

• Geotechnical Parameters for Culvert Headwall Foundations

• Recommendations for Fill, Backfill and Compaction

• Suitability for Re-Use of Site Soils

• Recommended Pavement Section



Town of Kennebunkport (P203806.41) 3 Woodard & Curran, Inc. 

2023.08.02 KBPT Ocean Ave Prelim Design Proposal August 2, 2023 

Task 2 – Preliminary Design 

Under this phase, Woodard & Curran will develop preliminary design plans and report for the 

raising of Ocean Avenue. We will conduct the necessary evaluation and partner with the Town 

to identify the appropriate elevations for mitigating risk; and support communications with the 

Board of Selectmen and property owners along the segment of roadway. To accommodate the 

raising of roadway grades, there will be disturbance and likely impacts upon driveways, fencing 

and landscape features, all of which will be restored. The services included are divided into the 

following three tasks: 

1. Project Meetings – We anticipate attending up to three (3) project meetings or site walks

during the preliminary design phase. These meetings include a progress meeting with Town

staff, and two (2) public informational meetings to present the results of our alternatives

evaluation and preliminary design to the Board of Selectmen.

2. Alternatives Evaluation – Utilizing the information gathered during the field investigation

work, we will evaluate up to three alternative elevations for improving the resilience of the

low-lying areas of Ocean Avenue. The alternatives evaluation will consider:

a. Flood resilience including wave action, storm surge and hydraulic conditions;

b. Availability of Town owned property and impacts to abutting private

properties;

c. Impacts to natural resources and permitting considerations;

d. Aesthetic;

e. Utility considerations; and

f. Cost considerations.

3. Preliminary Design Report – We will prepare a Preliminary Design Report (PDR) that

outlines the results of the field investigation work and alternatives evaluation, the proposed

alternative for improving the resilience of Ocean Avenue and preliminary design drawings

outlining the proposed construction method, impacts, including existing utilities and

permitting requirements. The PDR will also include a 30% Opinion of Probable Construction

Cost (OPCC). Woodard & Curran will provide the Town with the DRAFT PDR in PDF format

for review and comment; we anticipate incorporating one set of Town comments on the

DRAFT PDR prior to issuing a final PDR.

SCHEDULE 

We propose to complete Task 1 within 8 weeks of Notice to Proceed, and Task 2 within 8 weeks 

of the completion of Task 1, for a total project duration of 16 weeks.    

BUDGET 

We propose to perform the work described herein for the lump sum fee amount of $97,300. 

For informational purposes, the fee is broken down as follows: 



Town of Kennebunkport (P203806.41) 4 Woodard & Curran, Inc. 

2023.08.02 KBPT Ocean Ave Prelim Design Proposal August 2, 2023 

Description of Work 

Task 1 – Field Work Phase 

Survey $16,700.00 

Wetland $6,200.00 

Geotechnical $20,100.00 

Task 2 – Preliminary Design $54,300.00 

Total Fee $97,300.00 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

The Scope of Services will be completed in accordance with the terms of the Standard Terms 

& Conditions between Woodard & Curran, Inc. and Town of Kennebunkport, ME, dated January 

4, 2021. 

ASSUMPTIONS AND UNDERSTANDINGS 

The following assumptions and understandings apply to the scope of work, schedule, and 

budget described herein. 

• Scope of Service associated with Permitting and Final Design; Bidding; and Construction

Administration Services are not included in this proposal.

• Town shall complete a video (CCTV) inspection of the existing catch basin outfall and

provide to Woodard & Curran.

• Town shall coordinate access to Wanby Beach parking lot.

• Town shall provide plans identifying the type and location of underground utilities and/or

other manmade objects along the project.

CLOSING 

We greatly appreciate this opportunity to offer our professional services. If you accept this 

proposal and wish to proceed with the Scope of Services, please sign in the space indicated 

below and return a copy for our files. Please feel free to call the undersigned at 207.558.3667 if 

you have any questions regarding this proposal or require any further information. 

Sincerely, 

WOODARD & CURRAN, INC. 

Barry Sheff, PE Megan McDevitt, PE 

Vice President Senior Project Manager 

BS 

PN:  0230806.41 



Town of Kennebunkport (P203806.41) 5 Woodard & Curran, Inc. 

2023.08.02 KBPT Ocean Ave Prelim Design Proposal August 2, 2023 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement by their duly 

authorized agents as of the date indicated below.  

AUTHORIZATION BY: 

WOODARD & CURRAN, INC. TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT 

8.02.2023 

Signature Date Signature Date 

Barry Sheff 

Name (printed) Name (printed) 

Vice President 

Title Title 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



MEMORANDUM 

To: Laurie Smith, Town Manager 
Kennebunkport Board of Selectmen 

Fr: John Everett, Kennebunkport Fire Chief 
Re: Update on the New Radio System 
Dt: August 31, 23 

Back in early 2019, the Public Safety Committee, consisting of Chief Everett, Chief 
Sanford, Mike Claus, and Chris Simeoni, started meeting to discuss shortcomings with 
the present town-wide radio system. The issues we had were the same across the 
board: poor transmitting, poor receiving, and aging 20-plus-year-old equipment that the 
manufacturer no longer supported. We consulted with 2-Way Communications in 
Portsmouth, N.H., who have maintained our existing system for many years. They were 
shown our entire radio system, and we asked them to identify the best solutions for the 
Town.  

After an in-depth review of our current radio system, it was decided the best direction for 
the Town would be to replace our existing radio system with a more robust radio 
system. After studying all the options, the one that made the most sense for the entire 
Town is a radio system that will increase our radio range, both in transmitting and 
receiving, upgrade all radios and infrastructure, and be expandable. The best way to 
increase our radio range was to add 2 receive and transmit sites for a total of three sites 
in town.  

We kept the receive and transmit site at PD and added sites at the Wastewater Plant 
and the Goose Rocks Beach fire station. Both sites required the installation of a free-
standing 120-foot tower and radio equipment installed in the buildings to operate the 
new system. The new equipment gives us the ability to talk on different bands, VHF, 
UHF, and Digital. The new system uses all three of these bands. PD is on a digital VHF 
frequency, Highway and Wastewater are on a UHF frequency, and the FD and 
Kennebunkport EMS stayed on VHF in analog. FD and EMS stayed on analog because 
you cannot page on digital. Both Fire and EMS use an over-the-radio paging feature to 
alert their respective members when there is an emergency call. 

The way this is accomplished is each site consists of an antenna for each frequency 
and a microwave receiver and transmitter that links all three tower sites together. Here 
is an example of how this works: an employee working near the Biddeford town line on 
Route 9 keys the microphone on their portable radio and sends a message to someone 
else working in Dock Square. The radio signal they send would most likely enter the 
radio system via the antenna at Goose Rock Beach Fire Station. It would then be 
transmitted via a microwave link to the water tower on Crow Hill, where it would be 
microwaved to Dispatch and the other receive and transmit site at the Wastewater 

Item 15



Treatment Plant. The receiving employee gets the message via the Wastewater 
antenna. The receiving employee’s message would return to the original sender in 
reverse order through the radio system. This sounds like it would take noticeable time, 
meaning a delay in the intended recipient getting the message. All transmissions 
happen in milliseconds.     

In early July, we switched to using the entire radio system as designed. The change 
was very dramatic. Areas in town where radio coverage was not accessible by portable 
radio in the past could be heard by Dispatch. All employees who rely on the radio for the 
performance of their job are now safer, with a continuous link to Dispatch. Previously, 
many places in town, Dock Square, Cape Arundel area, Smith Preserve, and New 
Biddeford Rd., to name a few, had no communication via a portable radio back to 
Dispatch. With the new system online, all areas are now radio accessible, even via 
portable radios. A portable radio operates on 4-5 watts of power, which limits its radio 
range. A mobile radio, one mounted in a vehicle, operates on 50 watts of power. 

A built-in safety feature is an automatic radio identifier. Whenever a microphone on the 
system is keyed, the Dispatcher can see what radio was keyed. This information comes 
up on the screen in the console the Dispatcher uses to communicate with anyone on 
our radio system. The radio ID will appear even if the employee who keyed the 
microphone does not say anything. This would assist us with sending help to an 
employee based on their last-known location.    

The entire system today is 97% complete. PD and Dispatch are using all their 
equipment associated with the upgrade. FD is waiting for our new portable radios and 
chargers to be delivered and installed in the FD vehicles. Also, all mobile radios need to 
be re-programmed. The Highway Department has two radios to be tested and an 
installation into a newly acquired pickup truck. 2-Way is working through an issue with 
the programming of the Wastewater mobile radios. Currently, all these items are 
scheduled to be addressed the week of September 18, 2023.



Old System Radio Signal Coverage 

Brighter Colors = Better Signal 



NEW SYSTEM TALK IN COVERAGE 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



MEMORANDUM 

To: Laurie Smith, Town Manager, and Kennebunkport Select Board 

Fr: John Everett, Kennebunkport Fire Chief 

Re: Public Safety Study 

Dt: September 7, 2023  

I am writing to request the Board of Selectmen's approval for awarding the bid for the 
Public Safety Study to Municipal Resources Inc. (MRI) at a cost of $28,485.00. This 
recommendation follows a thorough evaluation process conducted by a committee 
formed to oversee the request for proposal (RFP) and select the most qualified 
consulting firm for this critical project. 

Background: 

In the Fiscal Year 2024 capital budget, $30,000 was allocated to complete a 
comprehensive public safety study with a specific emphasis on fire and emergency 
medical services. The committee responsible for this endeavor comprised the Town 
Manager, Fire Chief, KEMS Chief Joe Carroll, and the KEMS Board Chair Jim 
Stockman. 

The primary objective of this study is to analyze how emergency medical services and 
fire protection are currently delivered to the citizens and visitors of Kennebunkport. The 
Town seeks to develop a roadmap that outlines the optimal delivery model, including 
considering maintaining the separate status of the two entities or integrating them. This 
study aims to identify and address the challenges faced by both the Kennebunkport Fire 
Department (KPFD) and Kennebunkport Emergency Medical Services (KEMS) in the 
present and the future. 

Additionally, the study will provide best practices for both KPFD and KEMS individually 
and collectively. It will assess the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats 
(SWOT analysis) for both organizations and examine current staffing while forecasting 
potential staffing models for the future. 

Evaluation Process: 

1. Request for Proposal (RFP): In July, the RFP was issued to multiple consulting
firms with relevant experience. It was also posted on our website and shared on
social media platforms. All proposals were due back to the Town by August 16,
2023.

Item 16



2. Proposal Review: The committee reviewed all five proposals received, and each
member received copies of all submissions.

3. Interviews: Following the RFP review, the committee selected two firms for
interviews: Municipal Resources Inc. (MRI) and Public Consulting Group, LLC
(PCG). Interviews took place on August 25, 2023, via the Zoom platform.
Questions were formulated for both proposal-specific and general inquiries.

4. Evaluation: After the interviews, the committee deliberated on their impressions
of each firm's performance. MRI stood out due to their willingness and capacity to
meet in person with most stakeholders, along with being the only firm that offered
a proposal under budget.

Bid Results: 

Below are the bid results from all firms that responded to the RFP: 

1. Municipal Resources Inc - $28,485.00

2. Public Consulting Group - $33,525.00

3. Mission CIT, LLC - $42,470.00

4. Center for Public Safety Management* - $59,452.00 (*Note: Additional travel
costs may increase the CPSM bid by $10,000.00)

5. Berry Dunn - $109,750.00

Recommendation: 

Based on the committee's evaluation, which considered the proposals, interviews, and 
budget constraints, we strongly recommend awarding the bid for the Public Safety 
Study to Municipal Resources Inc. at a cost of $28,485.00. 

This decision is rooted in MRI's demonstrated capability, desire to engage in in-person 
stakeholder meetings, and their proposal being within the allocated budget. MRI has the 
experience and expertise required to successfully execute this important study, 
providing valuable insights for the future of public safety services in Kennebunkport. 

We kindly request that the Board of Selectmen approve this recommendation to ensure 
the timely commencement of this vital project. The study's findings and 
recommendations will significantly impact the delivery of emergency services in our 
community, and we are confident that MRI is the right partner to undertake this 
endeavor. 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



6 ELM ST, KENNEBUNKPORT, ME 04046 
T (207) 967-1604 |E WGILLIAM@KENNEBUNKPORTME.GOV 

TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, MAINE

-INCORPORATED 1653-

To: Kennebunkport Selectboard 

Fr: Werner Gilliam Director of Planning and Development 

Dt: August 1st, 2023 

Re: Cliff Mix Dyke Rd Beach Access Agreement 

Background 

As part of a ROW Discovery Grant the town commissioned a survey of Dyke Road 

ROW (Exhibit A), and also known as the Old Seaweed Road (and the New 

Adams Road), which public right-of-way provides public access from the Kings 

Highway southerly down to the sea at Goose Rocks Beach. That survey discovered 

existing improvements located within the bounds of the Old Seaweed Road right-

of-way on the western portion of the Mix Property, including a concrete post and 

wood rail fence, a stone wall and a granite boulder sea wall, as depicted on the 

Dow & Coulombe Plan, which collectively run more or less parallel with the 

easterly edge of the right-of-way. It has been documented and verified that some 

or all of the existing fencing, stone wall and seawall features shown on the Dow & 

Coulombe Plan may have extended continuously into the public right-of-way, for 

a period in excess of forty (40) years. 

The Town and the Mixes share a mutual interest and desire to maintain the Old 

Seaweed Road public right-of-way, to remove invasive vegetation species from 

the area, and to replant native species that will help maintain the integrity and 

conservation of the sand dune.  

Mix also wishes to: 

(a) construct and maintain certain improvements within the bounds of the Old

Seaweed Road public right-of-way,

(b) improve and maintain the features presently existing within the right-of-way,

which improvements are shown on a plan prepared by Lower Village Survey

dated November 22, 2022 (as revised July 8, 2023) Exhibit B

Item 17



2 

Proposed Agreement 

The Town Attorney has reviewed all of the associated history and information 

and is recommending that we memorialize the current status of the Old Seaweed 

Road. This will ensure public access as is currently known and will prevent future 

encroachments. 

In that spirit both parties wish to memorialize the terms of an agreement that 

addresses the contemplated vegetation removal and replanting project, formally 

recognize the existing improvements that currently exist in the area and 

authorizes new improvements that are anticipated to be undertaken in 

connection with the project.  

As part of the agreement Mix acknowledges and admits to the Board of 

Selectmen, in accordance with 23 M.R.S. § 2952, that the extension of fencing 

and/or stone wall to the north in the area labeled on Exhibit B as Area #1 are 

improvements that encroach within and wrongfully occupy the true bounds and 

limits of the public right-of-way. 

Except as otherwise provided herein, this Agreement does not address, delineate, 

diminish, or alter the Parties’ respective property rights in relation to Old 

Seaweed Road; the width of Old Seaweed Road or the public right of way; the 

existence or legal effect of the existence of existing improvements located in or 

around Old Seaweed Road; or the boundary lines between property owned by 

Mix and the Town, if any.   





OWER   ILLAGE    URVEY C.O



PROJECT TITLE

LOCATION MAP

SCALE

PATHWAY SCREENING
GARDEN

797 KINGS HIGHWAY

KENNEBUNKPORT ME

PROJECT LOCATION

REVISION LIST

DATE UPDATE

DRAWING NAME

NOTES

DRAWING NUMBER

LANDSCAPE PLAN

l-100.2

SCALE

1” = 20’-0”
DRAWN BY

AT

DATE 

08/16/2023
CHECKED BY

MW

08/17/2023 UPDATED PLANTING PLAN

PAGE

1 of 1

CLIENT NAME

CLIFF MIX

0 20 40 60

www.terrapinlandscapes.com

REMOVE EXISTING FENCE.
REPLACE W/ GRANITE POST/

CEDAR SPLIT RAIL FENCE

REMOVE EXISTING INVASIVE
PLANT MATERIAL ALONG

EXISTING FENCE LINE,
SHIFTING BOULDERS AS NEEDED

HARDSCAPE

SOFTSCAPE

GRANITE POST + CEDAR SPLIT SINGLE-RAIL FENCE

NORTHERN 
BAYBERRY

CREATE NEW PLANT BED
TO SCREEN PATHWAY VIEW, 

LEAVING ROOM FOR MOWER

KINGS HIGHWAY

GARAGE

HOUSE

TENNIS COURT

SA
N

D
 P

AT
H

W
AY

SAND BEACH

ROCK WALL

1:20

MAINTAIN CURVE TO RIGHT-OF-WAY

09/06/2023 UPDATED PLAN



1 

AGREEMENT  

The Margaret P. Mix Real Estate Trust, Clifton P. Mix, Sarah C. Dorfmeister, and 
Douglas P. Mix (“Mix”), the owners of property at 797 Kings Highway in Kennebunkport, York 
County, Maine (the “Property”), and the Town of Kennebunkport (the “Town”) (referred to 
collectively as “the Parties”) hereby enter this agreement regarding vegetation and improvements 
located in and around a sand path known as Old Seaweed Road (also known as Dyke Road and 
New Adams Road). 

WHEREAS, Mix is the owner of a certain lot or parcel of land, with the building and 
improvements thereon, located off of Kings Highway, in the Town of Kennebunkport, County of 
York and State of Maine, on Kennebunkport Tax Map 34, Block 1, Lot 13, and as more 
particularly described in a deed from Margaret P. Mix to Margaret P. Mix and Clifton P. Mix, 
Co-Trustees of the Margaret P. Mix Real Estate Trust u/a October 30, 2019 dated December 11, 
2019 and recorded in the York County Registry of Deeds in Book 18130, Page 709 (the “Mix 
Property”); and 

WHEREAS, there exists a Town right-of-way to the west of the Mix Property commonly 
referred to as the Dyke Road ROW, and also known as the Old Seaweed Road (and the New 
Adams Road), which public right-of-way provides public access from the Kings Highway 
southerly down to the sea at Goose Rocks Beach (hereafter referred to as the Old Seaweed 
Road); and 

WHEREAS, the boundaries of the Old Seaweed Road have been laid out by a boundary 
survey and depicted on a plan prepared by Dow & Coulombe, Inc., dated July 2, 2013, which 
plan is attached as Exhibit A, showing a three-rod road (approximately 49.5 feet wide), which 
road was laid out by the York County Commissioners as a town road in 1827; and  

WHEREAS, there are now existing improvements (“Existing Improvements”) located 
within the bounds of the Old Seaweed Road right-of-way on the western portion of the Mix 
Property, including a concrete post and wood rail fence, a stone wall and a granite boulder sea 
wall, as depicted on the Dow & Coulombe Plan, which collectively run more or less parallel with 
the easterly edge of the right-of-way; and  

WHEREAS, some or all of the existing fencing, stone wall and seawall features shown 
on the Dow & Coulombe Plan may have extended continuously into the public right-of-way, for 
a period in excess of  forty (40) years; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties share a mutual interest and desire to maintain the Old Seaweed 
Road public right-of-way, to remove invasive vegetation species from the area, and to replant 
native species that will help maintain the integrity and conservation of the sand dune; and 

WHEREAS, Mix now wishes to (a) construct and maintain certain improvements within 
the bounds of the Old Seaweed Road public right-of-way, (b) improve and maintain the features 
presently existing within the right-of-way, which improvements described in (a) and (b) are 
shown on a plan prepared by Lower Village Survey dated November 22, 2022 (as revised July 8, 
2023) and have been approved by the Board of Selectmen at its meeting on ____________ and 



2 

attached hereto as Exhibit B, and (c) remove invasive vegetation species and replant and 
maintain native vegetation species in order to maintain the integrity and conservation of the sand 
dune; and  

WHEREAS, the Parties wish to memorialize the terms of an agreement that addresses the 
contemplated vegetation removal and replanting project, the Existing Improvements that 
currently exist in the area, new improvements that are anticipated to be undertaken in connection 
with the project, and the rights of the parties with respect to the proposed work to be conducted 
and new improvements to be constructed and maintained within the public right-of-way of Old 
Seaweed Road. 

NOW THEREFORE, the Parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. The Parties enter this Agreement for other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy
of which the Parties expressly acknowledge.

2. Mix will undertake, at its sole expense and liability, restoration and maintenance of the
Existing Improvements, as well as construction of the improvements (“New
Improvements”) depicted on the Plan attached hereto as Exhibit B and approved by the
Board of Selectmen at its meeting on ____________. The New Improvements include:
(a) the replacement of the existing board fence with a similar open-type fence (labeled on
Exhibit B as Area #2); (b) an extension of that fence northerly to Webster’s stone wall
and southerly to a stone wall to be repaired and/or restored (labeled on Exhibit B as Area
#1); (c) planting and maintenance of native vegetation species and removal of invasive
species in accordance with a Vegetation Plan authorized by the Town; and (d) the
restoration and maintenance of a granite boulder sea wall (labeled on Exhibit B as Area
#3) (collectively, the “Improvements”).  Mix agrees that the restoration and maintenance
of the granite boulder sea wall shall not result in further narrowing or encroachment into
the public right-of-way. Mix agrees that there will be no material change(s) to the
proposed plantings, alterations, and improvements depicted on Exhibit B and the
Vegetation Plan without the prior written approval of the Board of Selectmen.

3. Mix expressly acknowledges and covenants that said Improvements will be undertaken in
compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, including the requirement, if
any, to obtain any governmental permit, license, or approval.  This includes but is not
limited to a Natural Resources Protection Act permit from the Maine Department of
Environmental Protection.

4. Mix acknowledges, covenants, and assumes responsibility for the maintenance and
upkeep of the Improvements contemplated herein and that the Town has no responsibility
for any such maintenance and upkeep.  Mix further understands that the Town may
damage some of the Improvements in the process of winter snowplowing or other road
maintenance and Mix agrees that the Town will have no responsibility or liability
whatsoever for the repair of any such damage.  Mix further acknowledges and
understands that the Improvements may need to be disturbed to enable access for public
safety purposes (police, fire, ambulance, and the like) and Mix releases the Town for
damage for the same.



3 

5. Mix acknowledges and admits to the Board of Selectmen, in accordance with 23 M.R.S.
§ 2952, that the extension of fencing and/or stone wall to the north in the area labeled on
Exhibit B as Area #1 are improvements that encroach within and wrongfully occupy the
true bounds and limits of the public right-of-way which boundaries are as depicted on the
Dow & Coulombe Plan (Exhibit A).  Except as otherwise provided herein, this
Agreement does not address, delineate, diminish, or alter the Parties’ respective property
rights in relation to Old Seaweed Road; the width of Old Seaweed Road or the public
right of way; the existence or legal effect of the existence of existing improvements
located in or around Old Seaweed Road; or the boundary lines between property owned
by Mix and the Town, if any.  Except as otherwise provided herein, the Parties mutually
agree and covenant that neither Party has acquired any additional rights by virtue of this
Agreement, other than the express contractual rights set forth herein as adopted by the
Board of Selectmen; that neither Party is waiving, releasing, or otherwise losing any
right, claim, argument, defense, theory, remedy, or other legal position by virtue of this
Agreement; and that both Parties expressly reserve all rights and claims that they had,
currently have, or will have from the beginning of time to the present day regarding the
subject matter herein.

6. Mix shall maintain general liability in amounts sufficient to protect itself against risks
associated with undertaking the Improvements contemplated by this Agreement.  Mix
shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Town from any and all claims arising from
Mix’s performance under this Agreement, which obligation shall survive the termination
of this Agreement. Nothing herein is intended to shift responsibility from the Town to
Mix for any other liability or to waive governmental immunity protections that the Town
may enjoy by law related to the use or maintenance of Old Seaweed Road by members of
the public, including but not limited to the Maine Tort Claims Act, 14 M.R.S. § 8103.

7. This Agreement shall be recorded by Mix in the York County Registry of Deeds, with
reference to the Deed of the Property to Mix dated July 30, 2019, and recorded in the
York County Registry of Deeds at Book 18021, Page 90.  Further reference shall be made
to a Deed from Margaret P. Mix to the Margaret P. Mix Real Estate Trust, u/a October
30, 2019, and recorded in the York County Registry of Deeds at Book 18130, Page 709.

8. The terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties’ successors
and assigns, unless the Parties, or their successors and assigns, mutually agree in writing
to amend or release the terms herein.



4 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Mix has caused this instrument to be executed by Clifton 
Mix, thereunto duly authorized co-owner and representative, this _____ day of __________, 
2023.  

WITNESS: 

_______________________________ By: _______________________________ 
Clifton Mix 
On behalf of the owners of 797 Kings 
Highway, Kennebunkport, Maine 

STATE OF MAINE 
YORK, ss.  __________, 2023 

Then personally appeared the above-named Clifton Mix, and acknowledged the 
foregoing instrument to be his free act and deed in his said capacity.  

Before me, 

______________________________ 
Notary Public/ Maine Attorney-at-Law 
Printed Name: ______________________ 
My Commission expires: _____________ 



5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, acting by and through 
its Board of Selectmen has hereby executed this Agreement this _____ day of __________, 
2023.  

WITNESS: TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT 

______________________________ By:______________________________ 
Witness  Donald Michael Weston, Board Member  

and Chair 

______________________________ By:______________________________ 
Witness  Allen A. Daggett, Board Member  

and Vice Chair 

______________________________ By:______________________________ 
Witness  Sheila W. Matthews - Bull, Board Member 

______________________________ By:______________________________ 
Witness  Jon D. Dykstra, Board Member 

______________________________ By:______________________________ 
Witness  Marybeth Gilbert, Board Member 

STATE OF MAINE 
YORK, ss.  __________, 2023 

Then personally appeared the above-named Donald Michael Weston, Board Member and 
Chair of the Board of Selectmen of the TOWN OF KENNEBUNKPORT, and acknowledged the 
foregoing to be his free act and deed in his said capacity and the free act and deed of said TOWN 
OF KENNEBUNKPORT.  

Before me, 

______________________________ 
Notary Public/ Maine Attorney-at-Law 
Printed Name: ______________________ 
My Commission expires: _____________ 



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



T O W N  O F  K E N N E B U N K P O R T, M A I N E 
– INCORPORATED 1653 –

6 Elm Street, P.O. Box 566, Kennebunkport, Maine 04046 
Tel: (207) 967-4243 Fax: (207) 967-8470 

Memorandum

To: Board of Selectmen and Laurie Smith 
Fr: Yanina Nickless, Director of Support Services 
Re: Tablets for the Select Board 
Dt: September 5, 2023 

In our ongoing efforts to transition to electronic packets, reduce paper usage, and 
enhance efficiency, we’ve engaged in a conversation about the potential purchase of 
tablets for the Select Board. Many municipalities across the United States have 
already made the shift to tablet-based solutions, and we have a few reasons to explore 
this idea further:  

• Cost saving: Currently, each member of the Select Board consumes an
average of 500 sheets of color-printed paper annually. This incurs significant
expense, especially considering the usage of the town’s equipment, paper, and
ink.

• Environmental responsibility: While we responsibly recycle all paper packets,
printing information on paper is not eco-friendly and leaves a substantial
environmental footprint. Reducing paper usage aligns with our commitment to
environmental sustainability by saving energy and minimizing waste.

• Efficiency and accessibility: Tablets offer a strong platform for document
management. Information can be easily updated, and Select Board members
gain the flexibility to access materials remotely even if they cannot attend.

• Reduced storage needs: One packet takes up a significant amount of space.
Keeping the packets on the tablet will eliminate the need for physical storage,
reduce the clutter, and improve the organization of a workflow.

• Enhanced communication: Tablets open doors to multiple apps such as
Outlook, Word, Google Workspace, and more. This diversity improves
communication, enabling Board members to manage emails more efficiently
and separate town responsibilities from personal life.

Moreover, it’s worth noting that when we hire a new employee, we provide them with 
all the necessary tools, including computers, printers, and other office equipment). 
Similarly, we believe it is fair to provide the same tools to the Select Board members 
so they can carry out their responsibilities effectively. 

When considering the purchase of tablets, several factors come into play: purpose, 
pricing, size/weight consideration, storage capacities, etc. Given the rapid 
advancements in technology, the choice ultimately depends on individual preferences 
and specific cases. We offer a few options for consideration to purchase from the 
Selectmen contingency fund: 
Microsoft Surface Go 3 $400.00 + $130 keyboard 

+ $100 pen
Laptop-like, supports 
Windows 

Apple iPad 10th gen $449.00 + $250 keyboard 
+ $100 pen

Laptop-like, iPad OS 16 

Item 18



 
 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
 

AGENDA ITEM DIVIDER 
 

__________________________________ 



Item 19






